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          1  COMMITTEES ON PUBLIC SAFETY AND CIVIL RIGHTS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Good morning.

          3  My name is Larry Seabrook, and I chair the Civil

          4  Rights Committee.

          5                 I would like to welcome you all to

          6  today's hearing. As you know, today we will be

          7  conducting an oversight hearing on undercover and

          8  specialized training operations in New York City

          9  Police Department.

         10                 As has been mentioned previously,

         11  this has been the first of a series of joint

         12  hearings that will focus on police practices. This

         13  hearing is very important for many reasons. In the

         14  wake of recent highly publicized tragedies of Sean

         15  Bell and the deaths of police officers in Staten

         16  Island, the Civil Rights Committee is extremely

         17  concerned about the training cadets and officers

         18  receive to prepare them for the crucial work of

         19  policing, how special units are deployed and used is

         20  another example of the issues that we will need

         21  sober and thorough discussions today.

         22                 Our goal of this hearing will be to

         23  identify the training policies that may have

         24  contributed to or could help avoid these types of

         25  catastrophes we are experiencing.
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          2                 Policing has changed a great deal

          3  over the years, and as a result, training systems

          4  must change to keep pace. Training models should be

          5  flexible enough that trainers can adapt them to

          6  their local conditions, and reliable enough to

          7  guarantee the civil rights of every citizen in this

          8  state.

          9                 Hopefully these hearings will allow

         10  us to identify patterns and practices and develop

         11  credible, workable solutions to any problems that

         12  are found to exist.

         13                 So, welcome to these hearings, and

         14  now I will turn it over to the Public Safety

         15  Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         17  Council Member Seabrook. Again, welcome to today's

         18  hearing, the joint hearing of the Public Safety

         19  Committee and the Civil Rights Committee.

         20                 First, I'd like to applaud the

         21  Speaker and her staff for her focus on public

         22  safety. You'll be hearing from the Speaker next and

         23  the Speaker takes a back seat to no one when it

         24  comes to public safety in the City, and I've been

         25  honored to be Public Safety Chair under the Speaker.
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          2                 I'd also like to acknowledge my

          3  colleague, Co-Chair Council Member Seabrook, for his

          4  dedication to protecting the civil rights of all of

          5  us here in New York City.

          6                 And finally, I will recognize some of

          7  my colleagues who have joined us, Letitia James,

          8  Helen Foster. I just saw Melinda Katz. There she is

          9  waving. Council Member Mark-Viverito, Council Member

         10  Oddo, Council Member Barron.

         11                 As you just heard from Council Member

         12  Seabrook, today we're going to focus on undercover

         13  training.

         14                 There is a lot of emotion surrounding

         15  some of the recent events that have occurred.

         16  Obviously, the Sean Bell shooting, and right now

         17  we're in the sentencing phase of our two detectives

         18  who were killed heroically in Staten Island. We know

         19  there is a lot of emotion surrounding all of those

         20  events.

         21                 Today our goal is to, as much as

         22  possible, get beyond that emotion, beyond the

         23  fingerpointing and blame and make some real progress

         24  towards improving the quality and safety of policing

         25  here in New York City.
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          2                 Out of every tragedy we learn and we

          3  improve, so we're not here to vilify anyone today

          4  but to fulfill our Charter mandated responsibility

          5  of oversight.

          6                 We have that responsibility to do

          7  oversight and that's what we're doing today, to

          8  ensure both the safety of the public and of our

          9  undercovers.

         10                 And, again, when I say improve,

         11  that's what I mean. I don't mean overhaul. I mean

         12  improve. Because let us not forget the big picture

         13  here, our undercovers in our Police Department,

         14  today we're talking about, focusing on undercovers,

         15  perhaps, or not perhaps, they do more operations

         16  here in New York City than anywhere in the country,

         17  anywhere in the world. They've taken down major drug

         18  cartels with a minimum of violence. We all owe them

         19  a debt of gratitude.

         20                 In fact, in 1995, there were 435

         21  police shootings. Last year, 34. So, we've made, the

         22  NYPD and the City as a whole has come so far, has

         23  made remarkable progress.

         24                 Today our goal is to build upon that

         25  progress.
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          2                 Just to take care of a little

          3  business, today's actual topics, this is what we'll

          4  be taking testimony from, from the panel, from the

          5  members of the public, and this is what the Council

          6  members will be expected to question on:

          7                 - the specialized training of

          8  undercover officers and the members of the special

          9  operations;

         10                 - the sufficiency and extent of this

         11  training;

         12                 - how this training integrates issues

         13  specific to boroughs and individual communities; and

         14                 - how training programs have changed

         15  in response to past recommendations.

         16                 Again, our panelists and our Council

         17  members will be asked to speak on those topics

         18  alone. We have at least three other hearings on

         19  additional subjects right here at City Hall that

         20  will be joint between our Committees. We have at

         21  least nine speakouts that are going on throughout

         22  the City that the Speaker has convened. There will

         23  be ample opportunity to anyone who wishes to testify

         24  on other topics to be heard at one of those. Today

         25  is not the day for that.
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          2                 That being said, I'd like to now

          3  introduce, again, the person who we are all honored

          4  to have with us here today, who takes a back seat to

          5  no one when it comes to public safety, our Speaker,

          6  Christine Quinn.

          7                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you.

          8                 First, I want to thank Chairpersons

          9  Vallone and Seabrook for their work preparing for

         10  today's oversight hearing and the other oversight

         11  hearings that they have mentioned and also for their

         12  work on many Town Hall meetings that we have been

         13  having.

         14                 I want to also thank Chief Ziegler

         15  and the other members of the New York Police

         16  Department who have been participating with us in

         17  all the Town Hall meetings. The Chief can now say he

         18  stayed from beginning to end at both. I left a

         19  little bit before the second one ended last night,

         20  but we very much appreciate their attentiveness and

         21  participation.

         22                 I also want to thank the staff to

         23  both the Public Safety Committee and the Civil

         24  Rights Committee, and the staff in the Speaker's

         25  Office who have been working on these Town Hall
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          2  meetings and on these oversight hearings.

          3                 You know, as both of the Chairpeople

          4  have said, we in the Council obviously have an

          5  enormously responsibility as it relates to oversight

          6  of City agencies. So, we are charged on a daily

          7  basis with trying to make sure that government

          8  agencies do the best job they possibly can.

          9                 And even when government agencies are

         10  doing a very good job, none of us think they are

         11  doing a perfect job. And our goal here is to try to

         12  get to as close to perfect in the delivery of our

         13  service to taxpayers as we possibly can.

         14                 You know, as both of the Chairpeople

         15  have said, there have been recent tragic losses of

         16  life in our City, some of who were New York City

         17  detectives, one who was a civilian, and we feel it

         18  is our responsibility to have this oversight hearing

         19  on training and other matters relevant to particular

         20  units of the Police Department to figure out how we,

         21  in the City Council, can support the Police

         22  Department and help them do their job better.

         23                 There have been some who have tried

         24  to characterize these oversight hearings or these

         25  discussions as an attempt on the part of the City
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          2  Council to vilify the Police Department, and I want

          3  to very much put that belief to rest today.

          4                 I, as the Speaker of the City

          5  Council, have the utmost faith in Ray Kelly as the

          6  Police Commissioner of the City of New York. I think

          7  he has done an outstanding job, and I believe he

          8  will continue over the next three years of the

          9  Bloomberg Administration to lead the Police

         10  Department forward, even stronger and even better,

         11  closer to all of our goal of being perfect.

         12                 We are not perfect, though, so we

         13  have questions to look at and challenges and ideas

         14  to discuss and debate.

         15                 But our goal here today is to do a

         16  couple of things: One, to support our police

         17  officers so they can do their job better.

         18                 Two, to hear from experts in the

         19  field of law enforcement who can help us come up

         20  with ideas on how policing can be done more

         21  effectively in the City of New York, both to protect

         22  police officers, to deliver better service to New

         23  Yorkers and to better protect New Yorkers.

         24                 We also have an obligation, though,

         25  to recognize that there are still, it is less than
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          2  it used to be, there are still some New Yorkers who

          3  feel that they are not treated the same way by

          4  police officers as other New Yorkers. Whether it is

          5  reality or perception, it is out there in the City

          6  of New York, and all of us in government, as we have

          7  been doing, both in the Police Department and in

          8  this City Council, must recognize that reality and

          9  take it as it is and move forward with further ideas

         10  of how to overcome that.

         11                 So, I want to, again, thank the

         12  Police Department for being here today, again

         13  reiterate my support for the Department, and for

         14  Commissioner Kelly. You know, the second time around

         15  I think he has done it even better, and I look

         16  forward to three more years of working with him, and

         17  three more years of dialogue and discussion with New

         18  Yorkers, and I hope that at the end of our term in

         19  the City Council we'll be able to look back and say

         20  we supported our police, we helped them do their job

         21  better and we addressed the real concerns of many

         22  New Yorkers, that they may not be treated the same

         23  way as other New Yorkers by our City agencies.

         24                 If we can have done all of those

         25  things and made some progress and a closer move
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          2  toward perfection, we will all have done our job

          3  well.

          4                 Thank you all very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, Madam

          6  Speaker. We've been joined by Council Members

          7  Dickens, Garodnick, Comrie, Jackson and I'm sure

          8  more will be arriving.

          9                 Commissioner, as you know, I concur

         10  with what the Speaker just said, and I'm sure as

         11  does Chair Seabrook. We are thankful that you've

         12  cleared time from your busy schedule to be here

         13  today and we look forward to your testimony.

         14                 You can begin when ready.

         15                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you,

         16  Mr. Chairman.

         17                 I am accompanied by the Chief of

         18  Department, Joe Esposito; Deputy Commissioner of

         19  Training, Charles DiRienzo, and Commanding Officer

         20  of the Police Academy Diana Pizzuti, and in our

         21  first row here we have the First Deputy Commissioner

         22  George Grasso, our Deputy Commissioner of Strategic

         23  Initiatives Mike Farrell, our Chief of Organized

         24  Crime Control Anthony Izzo, our Commanding Officer

         25  of Firearms Training, Deputy Inspector Hurley, we
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          2  have our Chief of Patrol Nicholas Estivillo, Chief

          3  of Personnel Rafael Pinero, the Chief of Community

          4  Affairs Doug Ziegler. In the second row we have our

          5  Chief of Detectives George Brown, and we have other

          6  executives here. They're here to answer any

          7  questions that you might have.

          8                 Thank you for the opportunity to be

          9  here to discuss the NYPD's comprehensive and in many

         10  ways unparalleled training efforts. We're aware that

         11  the Council's interest in this topic is inspired by

         12  the tragic shooting of Sean Bell, which occurred on

         13  November 25th of last year.

         14                 I would also like to take this

         15  opportunity to again express my sincere condolences

         16  to Mr. Bell's family on their loss.

         17                 As the District Attorney and the

         18  Grand Jury continue to do their work, we'll have

         19  more information about what transpired and what we

         20  could learn from the events of that fateful night.

         21                 But there are some points that should

         22  be considered as our discussion proceeds. In 2006,

         23  there was 67 intentional shooting incidents

         24  involving officers resulting in 13 fatalities. Note

         25  that during the 1990s there was an average of 25
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          2  fatal police shootings per year. Since 2002, the

          3  average has been 12.

          4                 When compared to other large

          5  metropolitan police agencies, the NYPD has had the

          6  lowest ratio of fatal shootings per 1,000 officers

          7  for nine over the last 12 years. Restraint in the

          8  use of deadly physical force is a hallmark of our

          9  training and is reinforced at every level, including

         10  through the work of the firearms Discharge Review

         11  Board, which we will discuss in more detail.

         12                 The NYPD's guidelines for the use of

         13  force are much more stringent than the Penal Law

         14  requires. For example, Penal Law Article 35 allows

         15  police officers to use deadly force when they

         16  reasonably believe it to be necessary to prevent or

         17  terminate a burglary or an attempted burglary of a

         18  home or an occupied building.

         19                 Deadly force may be used upon

         20  reasonable belief that it is necessary to prevent or

         21  terminate the commission or attempted commission of

         22  arson.

         23                 The Penal Law also allows the use of

         24  deadly force where the officer reasonably believes

         25  that an offender is using or about to use physical
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          2  force, and not necessarily deadly physical force,

          3  against someone, in the course of committing

          4  specified crimes, specifically kidnapping, forcible

          5  rape or robbery.

          6                 Our Patrol Guide provides that

          7  officers are not to use deadly physical force unless

          8  they have probable cause to believe that they must

          9  protect themselves or another person from imminent

         10  death or serious physical injury, a much higher

         11  standard.

         12                 Officers are prohibited from firing

         13  warning shots, from firing in defense of property,

         14  from firing at a moving vehicle, unless deadly

         15  physical force is being used against the officer or

         16  another person, by means other than the vehicle

         17  itself.

         18                 Firing the weapon in any of these

         19  situations might, depending on the circumstances, be

         20  permitted by the Penal Law, but it is our policy not

         21  to do so, in the interest of ensuring that deadly

         22  physical force is only used when absolutely

         23  necessary.

         24                 Increasing diversity and City

         25  residency among our officers is another key goal of
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          2  the Department.

          3                 The New York City Police Department

          4  is now the most diverse in its history.

          5                 Overall, the current demographic

          6  breakdown of the uniformed members is approximately

          7  56 percent white, 17 percent black, 24 percent

          8  Hispanic, four percent Asian, 17 percent female, and

          9  54 percent City residents. Contrast that with the

         10  demographic breakdown at the end of 2001: 65 percent

         11  white, 14 percent black, 19 percent Hispanic, two

         12  percent Asian, 16 percent female, and 52 percent

         13  City residents. Of the officers hired since 2002, 53

         14  percent are minorities, 19 percent are female, and

         15  62 percent are City residents. We will continue our

         16  recruitment efforts to make even more progress in

         17  attracting candidates who reflect our City's

         18  population and bring a wide variety of viewpoints

         19  and skills to the job.

         20                 Despite the pressing demands of our

         21  counter-terrorist initiatives and a general increase

         22  in crime nationwide, New York City continues to be

         23  the safest large city in America, with a 21 percent

         24  drop in major crime since 2001, the fifth straight

         25  year of crime reduction since September 11th. These
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          2  results come at a time when the number of officers

          3  in our Department has decreased by more than 4,000

          4  over the past six years. The hard work, creativity

          5  and dedication of our members has yielded countless

          6  lives saved, rapes, robberies and burglaries

          7  prevented, and quality of life conditions corrected,

          8  and the success of our crime reduction efforts is

          9  due in no small part to the training our officers

         10  receive.

         11                 The training of our police officers

         12  invariably presents a challenge, since police

         13  agencies must accomplish the crucial training

         14  mission while at the same time ensuring that

         15  operational needs are not compromised.

         16                 Training must remain flexible, so

         17  that officers are well prepared to handle emerging

         18  issues, with the prime example of course being

         19  terrorism.

         20                 Our Department faces an even greater

         21  challenge due to the hiring patterns of the last two

         22  decades, which presents us with a large number of

         23  officers now retiring at the end of their 20-year

         24  careers, whose positions must be filled. We have

         25  hired and trained over 14,000 recruits in the last
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          2  five years, nearly 40 percent of the Department.

          3  Added to that is the continuing need for in-service

          4  training, especially as new members are promoted or

          5  assigned to specialized units, and it is apparent

          6  that training properly demands a significant amount

          7  of Department resources.

          8                 Training must also be done well. To

          9  that end, you may remember that I asked Dr. James

         10  Fyfe to join the Department as Deputy Commissioner

         11  for Training in 2002, to essentially recreate the

         12  Department's training programs. He was a nationally

         13  reknowned criminologist and expert on police use of

         14  force, who began his career as a police officer with

         15  the NYPD, left as a lieutenant to pursue an academic

         16  career, and became a leading expert in the field. He

         17  was on the faculty of American and Temple

         18  Universities, served on the editorial boards of

         19  numerous police and criminal justice journals, and

         20  published seven books and over 80 articles on police

         21  and criminal justice matters.

         22                 Before he rejoined the NYPD, he

         23  testified as an expert in many civil actions against

         24  municipalities and Police Departments, appearing for

         25  plaintiffs in some cases and for defendants in
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          2  others, depending on his assessment of the facts. It

          3  is interesting to note that he testified on behalf

          4  of plaintiffs rather than defendants at a two-to-one

          5  ratio.

          6                 Under Dr. Fyfe's leadership and close

          7  direction, the Police Academy's recruit curriculum

          8  was completely redesigned to provide a more

          9  integrated, hands-on learning experience for our

         10  recruits. His special expertise in training on the

         11  use of force was invaluable to us, and it has shaped

         12  not only our training but our policies and tactics

         13  regarding the use of force.

         14                 As a result of Jim Fyfe's work, and

         15  the work of Commissioner Charles DeRienzo, Chief

         16  Pizzuti and their staff, the NYPD's Training Bureau

         17  was recently honored by receiving the Public Safety

         18  Training Academy Accreditation by the

         19  internationally recognized law enforcement group

         20  known as CALEA, the Commission on Accreditation for

         21  Law Enforcement Agencies.

         22                 CALEA was created in 1979 and serves

         23  as a credentialing authority through the combined

         24  efforts of law enforcement's foremost executive

         25  associations: the International Association of
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          2  Chiefs of Police; the National Organization of Black

          3  Law Enforcement Executives; the National Sheriffs'

          4  Association, and the Police Executive Research

          5  Forum. The purpose of CALEA's accreditation program

          6  is to improve public safety services through the

          7  application of rigorous standards, and to recognize

          8  training excellence in the field of law enforcement.

          9                 After an effort encompassing four

         10  years and hundreds of thousands of hours, the Police

         11  Department's Training Bureau earned CALEA

         12  accreditation, achieving only the ninth Public

         13  Safety Training Academy accreditation issued to law

         14  enforcement agencies and becoming the only big City

         15  Police Department  to receive this recognition.

         16                 The CALEA assessment team was all the

         17  more impressed with the quality of training

         18  considering the fact that it was completed

         19  successfully in an outdated facility where, CALEA

         20  said, "lack of space is the most pressing issue."

         21  Mayor Bloomberg addressed this need in the State of

         22  the City address, identifying a new Police Academy

         23  as one of his priorities.

         24                 We are also proud of the recognition

         25  we have received from the National Program on
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          2  Non-Collegiate Sponsored Instruction. Housed within

          3  the New York State Department of Education, the

          4  National Program is an educational advisory service

          5  that assigns college credit recommendations for

          6  non-traditional educational venues.

          7                 The National Program evaluates

          8  learning experiences for non-collegiate

          9  organizations throughout the United States and

         10  overseas, and makes the results available to

         11  colleges to use as a guide in awarding credit for

         12  non-college course work.

         13                 The National Program has recommended

         14  college credits for three of the NYPD's civilian

         15  training courses and 20 of our in-service training

         16  courses, and has recommended the awarding of 33

         17  credits for the entire entry-level recruit training

         18  program.

         19                 The breadth of the Police

         20  Department's in-service training program is

         21  demonstrated by this recommendation for acceptance

         22  of so many courses for college credit. Within the

         23  Department itself, the Training Assessment Unit

         24  assesses all Department training on a regular basis.

         25                 We will now focus on the training
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          2  areas in which you have expressed particular

          3  interest.

          4                 With respect to the training of

          5  undercover officers and officers in specialized

          6  units, the Department employs a variety of courses

          7  tailored to the work involved. For example, police

          8  officers and supervisors who will work in

          9  plainclothes but not in an undercover capacity, say

         10  in precinct anti-crime units, attend the three-day

         11  "Basic Plainclothes Court" at the Police Academy.

         12  Officers receive refresher training in the use of

         13  force, legal issues, and operational tactics, and

         14  participate in realistic training scenarios. They

         15  must pass an exam and demonstrate competence in each

         16  of the skills taught in order to pass the course.

         17                 For undercover officers, selection

         18  and monitoring is especially important, to ensure

         19  that these officers are temperamentally suited to do

         20  what is very difficult work.

         21                 The large majority of our undercover

         22  officers work in the Organized Crime Control Bureau,

         23  or OCCB, led by Chief Anthony Izzo, primarily in the

         24  Narcotics Division, the Vice Enforcement Division,

         25  and the Firearms Suppression Division.
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          2                 OCCB recruits potential undercover

          3  officers from throughout the Department, and sends

          4  teams of former undercover officers to address

          5  uniformed personnel, describing candidly what the

          6  job entails.

          7                 They outline the requirements to

          8  apply for undercover assignments: a minimum of two

          9  years of service, a favorable performance and

         10  attendance record and above average arrest record,

         11  and a high recommendation from their commanding

         12  officers.

         13                 Applicants are interviewed by a

         14  three-member board of experienced OCCB supervisors

         15  and participate in a role-playing scenario, so that

         16  their reactions may be assessed. Applicants are

         17  rated on qualities such as judgment, integrity,

         18  interpersonal skills, initiative, and

         19  professionalism, and if successful, they are

         20  selected and assigned for training.

         21                 OCCB has a dedicated training unit,

         22  headed by a Captain with a staff of 15. Their

         23  mission is to provide quality, practical and

         24  up-to-date introductory, in-service and specialized

         25  training" to the members of OCCB. The staff has
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          2  extensive field experience, as well as specialized

          3  training in the tactics and equipment they will

          4  teach the officers to employ. They use both

          5  classroom settings and realistic tactical settings

          6  for their courses, which include the Entry Level

          7  Investigator Course, the Investigation Course for

          8  Undercover Officers, the Entry Level Supervisor

          9  Courts, In-Service or In-Tac training, which is an

         10  annual two-day tactical course, and advanced

         11  Narcotics training, under the auspices of the High

         12  Intensity Drug Trafficking Area, or HIDTA Program.

         13                 The goal of the training is to

         14  prepare the officers for their new assignments or

         15  refresh and update the knowledge of veteran

         16  officers. The courses familiarize the officers with

         17  methods employed in investigations, and with the

         18  equipment and other resources available and

         19  necessary to conduct investigations.

         20                 Officers are exposed to the different

         21  scenarios they may encounter and trained in the

         22  tactics to handle them appropriately.

         23                 For example, they are trained to

         24  conduct prisoner debriefings, execute search

         25  warrants, and conduct so-called "buy and bust"
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          2  operations and other types of undercover operations.

          3                 Teaching techniques include classroom

          4  instruction, scenario-based training, and

          5  simunitions training, which uses firearms converted

          6  to fire a non-lethal paintball-type projectile,

          7  allowing safe weapon skills development and a

          8  realistic training experience. Officers are trained

          9  to develop tactical plans before every undercover

         10  operation, and to evaluate the operation and share

         11  relevant information on a routine basis.

         12                 Note that the HIDTA Advanced

         13  Narcotics Investigation Course has been recommended

         14  for college credit by the National Program on

         15  Non-Collegiate Sponsored Instruction.

         16                 Once newly-assigned undercovered

         17  officers complete their formal course of entry-level

         18  training, they are temporarily assigned for field

         19  training, working closely with experienced

         20  undercover officers on actual field operations.

         21                 They are then assigned to their

         22  permanent commands, each of which has "mentor"

         23  undercovers for the newly-assigned officers, who

         24  help to ease their transition into their new roles.

         25                 The new officers are closely
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          2  supervised, and are assessed on a daily basis, to

          3  ensure that they are appropriately assigned.

          4                 If they are not successfully

          5  adjusting to the duties of undercover officer,

          6  efforts are made to assist them, such as moving them

          7  to a different command, or providing additional

          8  training or counseling. If necessary, the officer

          9  may be transferred to a different assignment or back

         10  to his or her former command.

         11                 With respect to training in the use

         12  of firearms, there are approximately 140 members of

         13  the Department whose mission is to provide firearms

         14  training, primarily through the Department's

         15  Firearms and Tactics Section, headed by Deputy

         16  Inspector Hurley.

         17                 The process begins in the Policy

         18  Academy's Recruit Training Section, with recruits

         19  receiving classroom instruction in the laws and

         20  Police Department guidelines pertaining to the use

         21  of force, including deadly physical force. All

         22  recruits are tested on this aspect of their

         23  training, and must achieve a perfect score before

         24  receiving firearms instruction.

         25                 The next phase of recruit training in
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          2  the use of firearms takes place at the Department's

          3  Outdoor Range at our Rodman's Neck facility.

          4  Recruits receive five days of Basic Firearms

          5  Training and five days of Tactical Firearms

          6  Training, for a total of ten days, or double the

          7  five-day national standard for recruit firearms

          8  instruction.

          9                 For many recruits, this phase of

         10  their training represents the first time they have

         11  ever handled a gun. We teach them the fundamentals

         12  of shooting, with special focus on handling the

         13  weapons safely.

         14                 They learn about the weapon itself:

         15  nomenclature and operation; cleaning; disassembly

         16  and reassembly; potential malfunctions; ammunition;

         17  holsters; and safety devices.

         18                 They are instructed in shooting

         19  accuracy, with repeated target range shooting

         20  exercises.

         21                 In conjunction with the Department's

         22  mandate to use the minimum amount of force necessary

         23  to accomplish the goal, recruits learn about the

         24  scale of escalating force, reinforcing the fact that

         25  use of deadly force is a last resort.
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          2                 They learn to analyze targets and are

          3  given the opportunity to respond to a variety of

          4  scenarios which drill them in identifying threats

          5  and exercising appropriate discretion.

          6                 They learn about the tactics they

          7  will employ in protecting themselves, such as cover

          8  and concealment, and about the conditions

          9  potentially associated with a shooting incident,

         10  such as multiple targets, mass reflexive response,

         11  accidental discharges, and identification of members

         12  of the service in plain clothes.

         13                 They practice their skills through

         14  simunitions training, through the use of the

         15  firearms Tactics Simulator, or "FATS," and they

         16  ultimately experience realistic training scenarios

         17  in our Tactics House and our Tactical Village.

         18  Recruits who do not pass the course receive tutorial

         19  and remedial instruction and are allowed to

         20  requalify.

         21                 For veteran officers, every uniformed

         22  member of the service is required to attend a

         23  one-day In-Service Firearms Training session twice a

         24  year. Note that New York State's firearms

         25  qualification standards require attendance at one
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          2  cycle per year. The training session includes

          3  classroom lectures, a tactical course of fire, and

          4  qualifying courses for both service weapons and

          5  off-duty weapons.

          6                 Training is routinely updated to

          7  reflect changing situations and needs, often

          8  identified through the Department's Firearms

          9  Discharge Review Board process. Officers must pass

         10  the qualification cycle with a minimum score of 78.

         11  Those who fail to qualify have their firearms

         12  removed and receive tutorial and remedial

         13  instruction so that they may requalify. The State's

         14  minimum passing score is 70.

         15                 Last summer, we instituted an intense

         16  two-day Advanced Tactical Firearms Training Course

         17  for officers in plainclothes assignments, who are

         18  more likely to encounter perpetrators.

         19                 The officers enhance their firearms

         20  and tactical proficiency and participate in

         21  realistic scenarios, including simunitions

         22  exercises.

         23                 This is one of the many specialized

         24  firearms tactics courses developed and utilized by

         25  the Department to address particular needs.
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          2                 Other advanced firearms training is

          3  required for the use of weapons other than the

          4  standard .38 caliber revolver or 9 millimeter

          5  semi-automatic pistol, for example, for our

          6  Emergency Services Unit personnel.

          7                 Finally, a one-day Tactical Review

          8  Course has been developed for all officers who fire

          9  their weapons, for any reason. After every firearm

         10  discharge except at an approved firing range or

         11  while lawfully hunting, whether intentional or

         12  accidental, on duty or off duty, officers receive

         13  training which reinforces the existing firearms

         14  training, with a special emphasis on the safe

         15  handling of firearms and proper tactics.

         16                 The Department's commitment to

         17  enhancing both proficiency and restraint in the use

         18  of firearms is demonstrated by the fact that the

         19  Firearms and Tactics Section provided almost 102,000

         20  days of training with over 78,000 officers and

         21  recruits cycling through in 2006. Note that we have

         22  also requested funding to improve our "FATS"

         23  training and hope to acquire additional "FATS"

         24  machines including updated scenarios in the coming

         25  fiscal year.
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          2                 Part of ensuring the highest level of

          3  firearms proficiency and restraint within a police

          4  agency is a thorough investigation and review when

          5  police officers fire their weapons. Our Firearms

          6  Discharge Review Board process provides such a

          7  mechanism.

          8                 Whenever a uniformed member of the

          9  service fires a weapon, the Department's

         10  comprehensive investigation and review process is

         11  completed to determine whether the firearms'

         12  discharge fell within Department guidelines.

         13                 Immediate notifications are made to

         14  the appropriate Department supervisory personnel and

         15  to the local District Attorney's Office. If there is

         16  an injury, the Internal Affairs Bureau is also

         17  immediately notified, and the member of the service

         18  involved is automatically assigned to the local

         19  Patrol Borough office on a temporary basis, pending

         20  an evaluation of his or her fitness and ability to

         21  perform operational duty.

         22                 Each Patrol Borough has a designated

         23  Shooting Team, which is responsible for

         24  investigating all firearms discharges. The team is

         25  generally led by a specially trained supervisor in
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          2  the rank of captain or above, and every

          3  newly-promoted captain receives training in the

          4  investigation of a shooting and the preparation of

          5  the necessary reports. This training is supported by

          6  a comprehensive Firearms Discharge Investigation

          7  Manual, a detailed 70-page guide that lists the

          8  duties and responsibilities of the Shooting team and

          9  the necessary steps it must take.

         10                 The Shooting Team leader prepares an

         11  initial investigative report, according to a

         12  standardized format outlined in the Firearms

         13  Discharge Investigation Manual. Note that the

         14  Shooting Team leader is required to confer with the

         15  District Attorney's office before interviewing

         16  members of the service, to ensure that a possible

         17  criminal investigation is not compromised by

         18  requiring statements to be made to the officers

         19  involved.

         20                 However, the member involved is

         21  required to prepare a "Firearms Discharge/Assault

         22  Report" which describes the incident. Copies of the

         23  Shooting Team's initial investigative report and the

         24  Firearms Discharge/Assault Report are forwarded to

         25  several Department commands for informational
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          2  purposes, including to the Deputy Commissioner for

          3  Training, so that even at the early stage any

          4  relevant training issues may be identified and

          5  addressed.

          6                 The Borough Investigations unit then

          7  conducts a follow-up investigation of the incident.

          8  Note also that if there is a possibility of a

          9  criminal charge against an officer, the Internal

         10  Affairs Bureau takes the lead in the investigation,

         11  with the Borough Investigation Unit in a supporting

         12  role.

         13                 As the investigation progresses, the

         14  Commanding Officer of the Borough Investigations

         15  Unit prepares a final report, containing the

         16  information which was not available at the time of

         17  the initial report, such as the statement of the

         18  police officers, the report of the medical examiner,

         19  ballistics reports, any recommendations of the

         20  District Attorney, and any findings of the grand

         21  jury or the Internal Affairs Bureau. The Commanding

         22  Officer of the Borough Investigations Unit will

         23  provide a recommendation regarding whether the

         24  shooting was within or outside Department

         25  guidelines. He or she may also recommend a penalty
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          2  or additional training for the officer.

          3                 The Borough Investigations Unit's

          4  final report is then submitted to a Borough Firearms

          5  Discharge Advisory Board, led by the local Patrol

          6  Borough Commander and made up of high-ranking

          7  representatives of all of the operational bureaus in

          8  the Borough, and also including an officer of

          9  equivalent rank in a similar assignment of the

         10  officer involved.

         11                 The Borough Firearms Discharge

         12  Advisory Board reviews the case and in turn makes a

         13  recommendation to the Firearms Discharge Review

         14  Board, led by the Chief of the Department. The

         15  Firearms Discharge Review Board is composed of the

         16  Deputy Commissioner for Training, Deputy

         17  Commissioner for Legal Matters, Chief of Personnel,

         18  the Commanding Officer of the firearms and Tactics

         19  Section, and an operational Bureau Chief selected on

         20  a rotating basis.

         21                 The firearms Discharge Review Board

         22  makes a final determination regarding the incident,

         23  which may be a finding that no violation of the

         24  Department guidelines occurred and no corrective

         25  action is necessary, or may be a finding that a
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          2  violation occurred which requires the initiation of

          3  disciplinary action and/or additional training,

          4  beyond the required tactical refresher that all

          5  officers receive after discharging their weapons.

          6                 In addition to the Police

          7  Department's investigation and review of the use of

          8  firearms by our officers, other agencies, such as

          9  Civilian Complaint Review Board, the local District

         10  Attorneys, the local U.S. Attorneys, and the

         11  Department of Justice may also conduct

         12  investigations into the circumstances of police

         13  shootings, and the Police Department cooperates

         14  fully with such investigations.

         15                 We strongly support Mayor Bloomberg's

         16  plan to expand the resources and staffing of the

         17  Civilian Complaint Review Board, and will continue

         18  to work with the Board to address allegations of

         19  police misconduct, swiftly, thoroughly and

         20  impartially.

         21                 With regard to potential allegations

         22  of misconduct relating to the shooting of Sean Bell,

         23  public discussion in many quarters has focused on an

         24  allegation that the shooting was racially motivated.

         25                 As you know, it would be
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          2  inappropriate to discuss the event in detail due to

          3  the ongoing criminal investigation. However, it

          4  should be noted that the first officer who fired his

          5  weapon that night is black, that of the five

          6  officers who fired their weapons, three are black

          7  and two are white, and that six of the nine members

          8  of the enforcement team working at the local that

          9  night are black. Therefore, I would emphasize that

         10  the shooting was not motivated by racial bias.

         11                 Notwithstanding the racial

         12  composition of the members of the enforcement team

         13  involved, allegations of racial profiling within the

         14  Police Department have persisted, in this incident

         15  and in general.

         16                 In support of this assertion, some

         17  cite the demographics of individuals stopped and

         18  questioned by police officers, upon reasonable

         19  suspicion that they have committed a crime.

         20                 In 2006, 86 percent of those stopped

         21  and questioned were black or Hispanic. However, that

         22  percentage is exceeded by the percentage of

         23  offenders who were described by their victims as the

         24  perpetrators of violent crime, 92 percent. Note also

         25  that the vast majority of crime victims in the City
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          2  are minorities.

          3                 So, we strongly contest any assertion

          4  that the Department engages in racial profiling.

          5  Rather, officers are stopping those they reasonably

          6  suspect of committing a crime, based on descriptions

          7  and circumstances, and not on personal bias.

          8                 In sum, we believe that our training

          9  efforts are among the best and most comprehensive in

         10  the nation. However, because we are always

         11  reassessing our efforts and seeking to improve, we

         12  have asked the RAND Corporation to take a fresh look

         13  at our firearms training. They will conduct an

         14  objective assessment of both our training and our

         15  firearms discharge review process, focusing on five

         16  areas: firearms training for recruits; in-service

         17  firearms training and annual qualification; tactical

         18  firearms training and specialized courses; the

         19  Firearms Discharge Review Board function and

         20  process; and the phenomenon of reflexive shooting.

         21                 We chose the RAND Corporation to

         22  conduct this study because RAND has been the world's

         23  premiere research center for 60 years, with the last

         24  30 devoted to the examination of policing issues at

         25  its Institute for Quality Policing, and because of
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          2  their reputation for quality and objectivity.

          3                 They will convene a panel of

          4  recognized firearms training experts who will

          5  identify best practices that Police Departments

          6  around the country use when dealing with firearms

          7  discharges, and will review all aspects of our

          8  firearms training, with a particular focus on

          9  preventing and controlling the phenomena of

         10  reflexive shooting and emotional contagious

         11  shooting, and examining related incident

         12  characteristics.

         13                 The study is expected to be completed

         14  by this summer, and we look forward to a set of

         15  recommendations that will benefit not only our

         16  Department but all police agencies, as they confront

         17  the risks inherent in the use of deadly physical

         18  force.

         19                 We have also decided to take a fresh

         20  look at the use of undercover officers and

         21  undercover operations, by establishing a committee

         22  to review the policies and procedures governing the

         23  activities of undercover officers throughout the

         24  Department.

         25                 The Committee is chaired by the Chief
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          2  of Internal Affairs and is comprised of several

          3  members of the Department's Executive staff,

          4  including the Deputy Commissioners of Training,

          5  Legal Matters, Strategic Initiatives, and

          6  Intelligence, and the Chiefs of Personnel, Community

          7  Affairs, and Organized Crime Control.

          8                 Also serving on the committee is

          9  Deputy Commissioner Cedric Alexander, of the New

         10  York State Division of Criminal Justice Services,

         11  Office of Public Safety, who formerly served as the

         12  Police Chief of Rochester, New York and whop

         13  provides a valuable perspective from the vantage

         14  point of both roles.

         15                 The committee will examine

         16  recruitment, selection, training and operations of

         17  units employing undercover officers and develop

         18  appropriate recommendations for improvement.

         19                 I will close with a reminder that

         20  there is no more dangerous, and potentially tragic

         21  circumstance than a police officer having to make

         22  the decision to use deadly physical force. Every

         23  day, our officers face the prospect of being injured

         24  or killed in the course of doing their job, and of

         25  having to use their firearms in defense of their
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          2  lives and the lives of others.

          3                 Our mission is to prepare them to

          4  face that possibility and to do their best to avoid

          5  a tragedy, with the most comprehensive training that

          6  we can provide.

          7                 Unfortunately, the public perception

          8  of police is strongly influenced by works of fiction

          9  portraying highly unrealistic scenarios, which

         10  mislead the general public and create unreasonable

         11  expectations of what police officers are trained to

         12  do.

         13                 We welcome the opportunity, through

         14  discussions such as this, to address the use of

         15  deadly force and the realities of police work,

         16  supplemented by the work of our Chief of Community

         17  Affairs, and all of our local operational commanders

         18  and their staffs in reaching out to members of the

         19  community.

         20                 I would also encourage the public to

         21  take advantage of a program the Department offers,

         22  called the Citizens Police Academy, which is based

         23  on the same core lessons taught to our recruits.

         24                 The Academy normally conducts two

         25  14-week sessions per year, consisting of one

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEES ON PUBLIC SAFETY AND CIVIL RIGHTS

          2  three-hour session per week. Veteran Policy Academy

          3  instructors use lecture, video presentations, and

          4  role plays to provide insight into police work, and

          5  participants are selected by the Commanding Officers

          6  of every Precinct, Transit District, and Housing

          7  Police Service Area. Participants have found the

          8  program to be highly worthwhile, and we would

          9  welcome your assistance in helping the public learn

         10  more about what we do.

         11                 Thank you, and we'll be pleased to

         12  answer any questions that you have.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         14  Commissioner.

         15                 Before we begin, I'd like to

         16  introduce other Council members who have joined us.

         17  Council Member John Liu, David Yassky, Darlene

         18  Mealy, David Weprin, Vincent Gentile, Carmen Arroyo.

         19  Inez I think we got last round, but again, Inez

         20  Dickens is here.

         21                 Before I turn to Chair Seabrook to

         22  begin questioning, I'd just like to again say,

         23  regarding questions from Council members, First

         24  Committee members will be given preference regarding

         25  questioning. Some leeway, of course, will be given,
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          2  but we expect your questions to be focused on the

          3  matter at hand, the testimony we just heard. Again,

          4  some leeway will be given, but please don't abuse

          5  that privilege. There are many, many Council members

          6  waiting to ask questions so each Council member will

          7  be given three and five minutes to ask questions.

          8                 Remember also that no specific

          9  questions on any incidents being investigated by

         10  grand jury should be asked, nor should they be

         11  answered. And also that questions may involve

         12  confidential material which might jeopardize the

         13  safety of undercovers and also be mindful of that.

         14                 So, with those ground rules, I'd like

         15  to turn to our Co-Chair Larry Seabrook.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         17  much, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 And thank you very much,

         19  Commissioner, for being here this morning.

         20                 Just a couple of questions, because I

         21  know that a number of my colleagues have questions

         22  to ask.

         23                 You raised the issue about a fresh

         24  new look for the use of undercover, the undercover

         25  operations, what are your thoughts about having an
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          2  independent entity in terms of doing an assessment

          3  investigation because basically you have an internal

          4  review body that you composed of people who are

          5  inside talking about, but just having an independent

          6  body taking a look at this operation that's outside

          7  of and making recommendations that would best be

          8  suitable and with a very objective perspective in

          9  terms of dealing with these issues than having it

         10  in-house and turf that people want to protect and

         11  other things, just having that, and then making the

         12  moves to deal with this issue.

         13                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I have no

         14  objection to using outside entities to examine our

         15  practices. We, obviously, asked the RAND Corporation

         16  to come in and take a look at our firearms training.

         17  But I think it's important to have people who have

         18  experience in the field.

         19                 We probably have, all total, about

         20  150 years experience in that panel put together.

         21  Again, we're using, or asked Mr. Cedric Alexander,

         22  the Deputy Commissioner of Criminal Justice Services

         23  in the State, the former Police Chief of Rochester,

         24  to help in that regard.

         25                 I think I'd like to see what the
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          2  product is from this Committee before I would say

          3  that outside examination of that is necessary.

          4                 I think this area takes a lot of

          5  knowledge, a lot of experience in law enforcement,

          6  but I wouldn't be opposed to that if, in fact, the

          7  product comes from this committee leaves something

          8  to be desired.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you. And

         10  the question of the NYPD training, how are the

         11  instructors actually trained to do the work in terms

         12  of providing that information or developing these

         13  officers? Who trained these instructors? Where did

         14  these instructors come from?

         15                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: The

         16  instructors are trained by the Police Academy staff

         17  or staff of appropriate trainers.  If it's outside

         18  the Police Academy, generally speaking, we don't

         19  depend on instructors outside the agency to be

         20  instructed. We have an awful lot of experience

         21  inside.

         22                 So, for instance, in the area of

         23  undercover operations, we have experienced

         24  undercover officers involved in the training. We

         25  have one of them here now, Detective First Grade
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          2  Daly, who is an undercover for a long time, and he

          3  is now not engaged in undercover operations, but he

          4  fully engaged in training undercover officers.

          5                 Maybe you can stand up just for a

          6  second. Detective Daly.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: In terms of

          8  this training, how does street feedback get the

          9  trainers and the training policy makers, in terms of

         10  the tactics that could be integrated into the

         11  classroom?

         12                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Oh, there

         13  is a Committee that is established. It's headed by

         14  the Executive Officer of the Organized Crime Control

         15  Bureau, who is a Deputy Chief, and each scenario is

         16  examined, scenario that they require adjustment, or

         17  somebody had question with the tactics, and

         18  recommendations are made from that committee to the

         19  Chief of Organized Crime Control, which is where the

         20  vast majority of our undercover officers are

         21  located.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And how are

         23  those officers selected or recruited to come into

         24  this undercover --

         25                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, I
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          2  talked about it in my undercover remarks. Basically

          3  people volunteer to become undercover officers. We

          4  go out, we recruit them. And as I said, there is a

          5  very direct discussion with them about the pluses

          6  and minuses of being undercover officers. It's not

          7  for everybody. And actually in the application

          8  process they go through roleplaying with the

          9  scenarios to see if they're suited for it. It is

         10  very difficult, demanding and dangerous work. We do

         11  have a, I think fairly sophisticated recruitment and

         12  training process.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And how are

         14  they recruited, or assigned to the specific

         15  operations that they're going to do? How is that

         16  assignment done?

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, the

         18  needs of a particular unit. Most undercovers are

         19  involved in the Narcotics Division. We have

         20  undercovers in Vice, we have undercovers in Firearm

         21  Suppression Division, that's where Detectives

         22  Nimeron and Andrews worked. We have undercovers in

         23  our Gang Division, we have undercovers in our

         24  Internal Affairs Bureau, but the majority of them

         25  are in the Narcotics Division.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And how are

          3  they --

          4                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

          5  they're assigned based on workload needs.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: What are the

          7  preparations of these undercover officers as they're

          8  trained to give them a familiarity with the

          9  community in which they're actually going to be

         10  doing the operation?

         11                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, they

         12  are geographically assigned for this most part. For

         13  instance, we have narcotic units in each of our

         14  boroughs, so officers that are going to work in

         15  Queens, for instance, are assigned to the Queens

         16  Unit, and they're familiar with area in general.

         17  Then before each operation, a tactical plan is

         18  developed that may include some sort of

         19  reconnaissance of the area, if necessary. But a

         20  tactical plan is developed for each operation.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And within the

         22  preparation and the training, what are the rules

         23  that the Police Department has that governs the

         24  responsibility of alcohol and its use for undercover

         25  --
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          2                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Officers

          3  are to consume a maximum of two drinks, and of

          4  course consume the minimum needed for, you know, to

          5  accomplish the mission. And they are supervised and

          6  supervisors are completely aware of that issue.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Is there a

          8  specific type of drink that they're limited to?

          9                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think it

         10  really is scenario-based, and depends on what the

         11  mission is. It depends on what the possible

         12  violation is that they're looking for. So, I think

         13  we can't say specifically what that should be. To

         14  the best of my knowledge we're not that far down

         15  into the weeds to tell them what drink to order.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And has there

         17  ever been a case where there have been excessive

         18  drinking by an officer that has allowed a response

         19  from the Police Department?

         20                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Oh,

         21  certainly. I can't think of any in an undercover

         22  role. We certainly have issues as far as officers

         23  perhaps driving while intoxicated. We have a very

         24  stringent policy against that. There were a couple

         25  of incidents in 2001, I believe, where officers were
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          2  involved. There was actually a hostage situation at

          3  one time, an officer was determined to be unfit for

          4  duty, was intoxicated.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: But as it

          6  relates to the undercovers, in the last five years,

          7  have there been any incidents where there are

          8  reprimands as it relates to exceeding the limited

          9  amount that's required, or considered drunk?

         10                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right. Not

         11  that I'm aware of.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 I'll come back, Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         16                 Commissioner, first let me commend

         17  you for your RAND Corporation study and for also

         18  establishing the Committee that you just established

         19  to review undercover operations.

         20                 When do we expect that Committee to

         21  come back with its recommendations?

         22                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I would

         23  hope, let's say March or April.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. You quoted

         25  statistics on page eight, and I personally happen to
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          2  agree with you in your statement regarding racial

          3  profiling by the Police Department. I know I don't

          4  speak for everyone up here, but you know I agree

          5  with you. And you quoted statistics to back up what

          6  you said. It was this Council that wrote the racial

          7  profiling law. In fact, it was myself and Phil Reed

          8  with your assistance that did write that

          9  groundbreaking law here in New York City. But I do

         10  need to point out to you that the statistics you

         11  quoted are unable to be verified by us, because we

         12  have not been given all of the stats that we are due

         13  under the Police Disclosure Law.

         14                 In fact, the last statistics that we

         15  have received here at City Hall were for the last

         16  quarter of 2003. I've been corresponding with you

         17  for the last few years about this, and in fact,

         18  wrote letters prior to the Bell incident. You have

         19  continually informed me that you are in the process

         20  of accumulating statistics. Well, the last time you

         21  gave them to us, they, of course, they confirmed

         22  again what you've been saying, but we'd like to

         23  actually take a look ourselves.

         24                 Is there any updates as to when we

         25  will receive them?
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          2                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right. You

          3  will be getting that hopefully within a week. We're

          4  working with a contractor. You know, you just can't

          5  wave a magic wand. This requirement that we forward

          6  this to the City Council was put in place in

          7  November of 2001. This in essence was a paper form,

          8  and it has to be manually put into a system.

          9                 We've done that. We had a police

         10  cadet, outside vendors to get us up to 2003 time

         11  frame, and we'll continue to do that. However, at

         12  the same time we're trying to automate the process.

         13  We have a new stop-n-frisk form that's been put in

         14  place, and we're able now, we have decentralized

         15  entry of that form. So, hopefully with the help of

         16  Motorola. I tried to have it. It was our goal to

         17  have it before this hearing. I hope to have it

         18  within a week or two weeks' time.

         19                 Again, it is not an easy process.

         20  It's a complicated process. We do have an

         21  obligation. What we're going to give you is the 2006

         22  information. We're going to still continue with the

         23  manual insertion of these forms for the rest of

         24  2003, 2004, 2005, that's what we're required to do,

         25  but in terms of the automated process, we hope to
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          2  give you the 2006 figures in very near term.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. When will

          4  we be receiving the 2004 and '05 figures?

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: As soon as

          6  we get it. Again, it is a process that is very labor

          7  intensive to put this information in.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I understand,

          9  but it's also a process we've been very patiently

         10  awaiting for years now, and we would, again, request

         11  that you give us that information for 2004 and '05

         12  also, as soon as humanely possible. Thank you.

         13                 Commissioner, the training you've

         14  discussed in detail in your testimony, how does that

         15  compare to other jurisdictions?

         16                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, to

         17  the best of my knowledge our training is among the

         18  best there is. Very few law enforcement entities

         19  train for as long as we do, six months. When I was

         20  in the federal government we had a customs training

         21  academy, then I was in charge of all the federal law

         22  enforcement training when I was under secretary,

         23  with the exception of the FBI and DEA. There were 72

         24  federal law enforcement agencies, we were training

         25  70 of them. Training in essence is half of what our
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          2  training.

          3                 Now, they don't do exactly the same

          4  job, but I know of no major Police Department that

          5  trains as long as we do.

          6                 So, I think our training will

          7  certainly stack up against anyone's. As far as

          8  firearms training, we're going to see that, where we

          9  do stand, as a result of the RAND Corporation study.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: When it comes to

         11  undercover training, and training in general, I've

         12  heard, and I don't know this to be a fact, that you

         13  actually train other jurisdictions, such as the FBI?

         14                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: We have

         15  trained other jurisdictions, yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Now, you

         17  mentioned in your testimony that OCCB, Organized

         18  Crime Control Bureau, is the unit responsible for

         19  undercover training. Now, do they do the training

         20  for every type of undercover narcotics vice auto

         21  crime, or are they different units and did they

         22  receive different type training?

         23                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, they

         24  do the training now, it's now centralized. As I

         25  said, there's a Captain and 15 staff people involved
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          2  with training a part of that, is involved, of

          3  course, with undercover training.

          4                 We train IAB undercovers. They do

          5  some of their own internal training, as well. Gand

          6  Division has undercovers. We train them for a

          7  portion of their training. So, basically undercover

          8  training is done for the most part in OCCB.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And then

         10  subsequent to that they receive additional training

         11  in the individualized units?

         12                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes. When

         13  they go out, there's mentor undercover officers in

         14  the units themselves.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And how long has

         16  the OCCB been training?

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It's three

         18  weeks.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And is there a

         20  training period after they leave the OCCB training?

         21                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, as I

         22  say there's a --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: But for how

         24  long? I'm sorry. How long would that last after

         25  OCCB?

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEES ON PUBLIC SAFETY AND CIVIL RIGHTS

          2                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: A week.

          3                 CHIEF IZZO: Good morning.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Identify

          5  yourself, please.

          6                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: This is

          7  Chief Izzo.

          8                 CHIEF IZZO: The process essentially

          9  consists of --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Please identify

         11  yourself for the record.

         12                 CHIEF IZZO: I'm Chief Anthony J.

         13  Izzo, the Commander of the Organized Crime Control

         14  Bureau. Our newly-assigned investigators and

         15  undercovers, all experience a two-week entry level

         16  investigators' course. The undercovers receive an

         17  additional week of specialized undercover training,

         18  and that consists of roleplaying and instruction

         19  that would be very quite specific to their

         20  assignment.

         21                 When they complete that training,

         22  they're assigned to the field with experienced

         23  undercovers who mentor them and move them around to

         24  each borough in the City so they get a feel of what

         25  it is they're going to be facing and have some
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          2  flexibility in terms of the assignment.

          3                 They're very closely monitored and

          4  evaluated in terms of their ability to do the job

          5  for us as safely and as effectively as humanly

          6  possible. We are very sensitive and closely monitor

          7  their judgmental abilities, as it applies to their

          8  undercover role. Those that are found to not meet

          9  the challenge in the undercover position, you know,

         10  clearly --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You can sit

         12  down, if you want.

         13                 CHIEF IZZO: Thank you. It's not easy

         14  being 6'2". Thank you.

         15                 Those that are deemed not suitable

         16  for the assignment are essentially sent back to the

         17  commands from whence they came.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: How often does

         19  that happen?

         20                 CHIEF IZZO: Well, quite often. In the

         21  last 23 months, for example, there were 271

         22  applicants to the undercover program, 110 those were

         23  disapproved. And a fair number actually withdrew on

         24  top of that 110, actually withdrew on their own

         25  volition when it was explained to them and they got
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          2  to get a taste of firsthand what the assignment

          3  really entailed.

          4                 We try to afford them every

          5  opportunity to have them understand what it is

          6  they're signing on to do.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: How many

          8  detectives are there in your Department? And how

          9  many of those are undercovers?

         10                 CHIEF IZZO: I'd rather not publicly

         11  state the number of undercovers.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.

         13                 Again, if we have something that

         14  might involve the safety of undercovers, feel free

         15  to let us know.

         16                 Commissioner, in 2003, after the

         17  tragic deaths of detectives Nimeran and Andrews, I

         18  wrote a letter on behalf of this Committee, Council

         19  Member Foster and others were heavily involved, in

         20  which we expressed concern for the safety of our

         21  undercovers. And you responded in a letter of May

         22  5th, 2003. You say you are responding to our recent

         23  letter expressing concern for the safety of

         24  undercovers, in respect to requesting specific

         25  information regarding steps that are taken to
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          2  protect them.

          3                 Our first concern was the fact that

          4  many of the undercovers were told apparently that

          5  they were going to be given a commitment of 36

          6  months and that was increased to 60 months, and the

          7  possibility of burnout existed. So, we asked that of

          8  you, and you said to us that, as a result of a

          9  survey that you conducted, 192 undercover

         10  detectives, and I don't want to go into how many

         11  that is, in relation to the whole amount, were being

         12  reassigned at their own request. And that therefore

         13  you were hiring, or putting many new undercovers in.

         14  This was back in 2003.

         15                 You also, again, making sure that

         16  they receive the best training and equipment. You

         17  had convened focus groups of undercovers. They made

         18  recommendations regarding improvements such as the

         19  mentors that you discussed. You discussed putting in

         20  a Sergeant who was going to be a liaison to mentors,

         21  you were revamping undercover detective training,

         22  and reviewing equipment needs.

         23                 Basically I'd like to get an update

         24  as to the improvements you made since 2003 and since

         25  that incident, and the effect of the transfer out of
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          2  the division of that many undercovers?

          3                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: We did

          4  make those transfers. It was an orderly transfer. We

          5  recruited new undercovers. I don't think it had any

          6  operational impact per se. We do all of the things

          7  you mentioned there. Focus group. We took a look at

          8  our equipment that was concerned, after the tragic

          9  deaths of Detectives Nimeran and Andrews, that

         10  perhaps it was a problem with equipment. We went all

         11  over, looked throughout the country, talked to many

         12  vendors about hidden devices, Kell-type devices.

         13  Kell is a one-way transmitter that's used. We felt

         14  that we had the best possible equipment, and made

         15  certain that it was well maintained. We put an

         16  equipment coordinator in each of the field units. We

         17  did put in a mentoring program, as I mentioned. We

         18  do have, I think, a well-developed training program

         19  for our undercovers.

         20                 So, the things that we said in the

         21  letter, we have done. I think it's operating well,

         22  given the fact, though, that it is very difficult

         23  demanding work, and as Chief Izzo just pointed out,

         24  people who initially volunteer for it opt out when

         25  they see what it takes to be an undercover officer.
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          2  So, it's no easy task for them, and it's no easy

          3  task for the Department, but it's absolutely

          4  necessary to have undercover officers. We simply

          5  cannot enforce the laws in certain areas, without

          6  undercover operations.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I completely

          8  understand that. Chair Seabrook and I have many more

          9  questions but we want to be fair to all of the

         10  Council members.

         11                 So, we will begin with the Committee

         12  members who have put their names on the list. We can

         13  go first to Council Member Yassky.

         14                 Council Member Yassky has graciously

         15  ceded, and we'll go first to Council Member Comrie.

         16  We'll go first to Council Member Comrie, who has

         17  been intimately involved in these issues for a long

         18  time now.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you,

         20  Council Member Comrie (sic) -- thank you, Council

         21  Member Yassky. Thank you, Mr. Chair, Madam Chair,

         22  Mr. Speaker.

         23                 Good morning, Commissioner. I didn't

         24  think I was going first, so now I have to regroup.

         25                 Let me go back. You made a few
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          2  statements in your presentation this morning. Of the

          3  new class that was just hired, how many of those

          4  members are City residents, and what's the breakdown

          5  of the class that just graduated last month, or

          6  earlier this month?

          7                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I'm going

          8  to say off the top of my head, about 62 percent of

          9  our City residents, generally speaking. The Academy

         10  classes have been higher in terms of City residency

         11  than the total Department as a whole. It's been in

         12  the sixties.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Do you have a

         14  breakdown on how many people remain City residents

         15  after their service, or do they have to give you an

         16  update on their address yearly?

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, they

         18  have to let us know where they live. You know, the

         19  Department as I said in my prepared remarks is about

         20  54 percent City residents. The classes as a whole in

         21  the Police Academy are generally higher.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. And you

         23  believe right now your force is about54 percent City

         24  residents?

         25                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, sir.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And you got

          3  into the fact that 40 percent of your Department now

          4  is within the last five years of, or have been hired

          5  over the last five years.

          6                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Almost 40

          7  percent.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And you talked

          9  about the particular training that's done for them,

         10  and that they have firearms training on a twice per

         11  year, correct?

         12                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, two

         13  things here. As far as recruits are concerned, they

         14  have ten days of firearms training. Twice a year

         15  toward the incumbents, they go to two cycles a year,

         16  yes. That's the goal.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And is there

         18  any other type of training that's done for police

         19  officers on the job, other than firearms training

         20  twice a year?

         21                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes,

         22  In-Tac training, in-service tactical training. It's

         23  a variety of subjects. It depends on what's topical,

         24  things we may learn. It may be counter-terrorism, it

         25  may be other issues that generally is about two days
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          2  of in-service training. That's not counting training

          3  as they get in their own commands. You know, roll

          4  call training, training in-house so-to-speak. The

          5  In-Tac training is done at a location, generally

          6  speaking, away from their parents.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: What are the

          8  categories for the In-Tac training?

          9                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, it

         10  is really, it is topical issues of the day. It

         11  changes. It can be tactics. It can be

         12  counter-terrorism issues. Again, I think that's the

         13  beauty of it. It is something that we think is going

         14  to help them doing their jobs in the short term.

         15                 So, it's determined by our Deputy

         16  Commissioner of Training and his staff.

         17                 Do you want to mention what that is,

         18  Joe?

         19                 CHIEF ESPOSITO: Surely. As the

         20  courses go twice a year, we update them with EEO. We

         21  are mandated to give EEO training to all our

         22  officers. So, that will be one of the subjects we'll

         23  give during the year.

         24                 And any of the topical issues coming

         25  up, strip searching, stop-n-frisk, anything that
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          2  they need to be refreshed on, or anything that is

          3  topical. As we see things changing in the job, we

          4  try to build courses for that and give that out to,

          5  first to the In-Tac training and into the command

          6  level training them. That's what we give every day

          7  at roll calls.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And is any of

          9  this training focused around the communities that

         10  they're in? Let me get to my point maybe, since I'm

         11  taking a long way to get there, but I was trying to

         12  give you an opportunity to at least demonstrate that

         13  there has been some kind of assessment, and given to

         14  the officers about the actual communities that they

         15  work in, if there has been some opportunity to train

         16  the officers in community relations or just an

         17  aspect and background of particular communities that

         18  they're working in. And is that part of any

         19  regimented training that's done by the PD?

         20                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, sir, it is.

         21  It's done on, usually on a borough basis when

         22  officers come out of the Police Academy. It's also

         23  done on a local basis, City Council members have

         24  been involved in some of that training. It depends

         25  on the nature of a particular community, members of
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          2  a community will come in.

          3                 Kind of the initial orientation is

          4  officers who leave the police academy, they go to an

          5  impact unit or may go to a particular command before

          6  they are assigned. A lot of community-specific

          7  training is done at the borough level, and then at

          8  the precinct level.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And that's

         10  done for officers on command within the precinct. Is

         11  any specific training done for the undercover

         12  operations or the special tactical operations about

         13  a community's specific tendencies, characteristics,

         14  or anything that's done for those particular units?

         15                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think

         16  only as it relates to a tactical plan.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And just to

         18  stay focused on the topic, because I could go back

         19  into that, I think we'll deal more with that on a

         20  different day. When that particular unit is handling

         21  a tactical scenario, do they contact the local

         22  borough commander, local precinct commander, about

         23  the conditions of the precinct, so that they can

         24  have an idea of the tactical location, or they do

         25  that all within their particular --
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          2                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: That type

          3  of communication liaison is going on all the time.

          4  Precinct commanders are the ones that are

          5  communicating with let's say the local Narcotics

          6  Commander about a particular condition.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Because you

          8  didn't describe it in your testimony, that's why I'm

          9  asking these questions. I don't really see anything

         10  in your testimony that has spoken to any type of

         11  communications on any level between the

         12  investigative units and the areas that they're

         13  moving into.

         14                 You also did not speak about whether

         15  or not these units are City-based or borough-based

         16  or precinct-based, and I think those are the

         17  questions that we need to find out, so at least we

         18  know how best these undercover operations are really

         19  understanding the communities that they're involved

         20  in, and so that they can handle themselves in the

         21  kind of manner that we can all be proud of.

         22                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, let

         23  me answer that question, if this is a question.

         24                 Yes, we have communication that goes

         25  between the commander, and the Narcotics Unit, for
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          2  instance, that's covering a particular location.

          3  Narcotics Units for the most part are covering

          4  specific precincts. They're not covering the borough

          5  as a whole.

          6                 Let's say your precinct, the 113

          7  Precinct, there is a Narcotics Unit that is focused

          8  on that precinct. I can assure you that the

          9  commanding officer has communication. In this case,

         10  the Deputy Inspector Crystal Johnson is speaking to

         11  Inspector Robert Napolitano. They have that sort of

         12  communication. Obviously we have to know where to

         13  run operations, what feedback is the Precinct

         14  Commander getting, as far as activities in the

         15  geographical area.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Napolitano

         17  used to be in the 113, so he knows the precinct

         18  well.

         19                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I rest my

         20  case.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right, okay.

         22                 But what I'm saying is that you're

         23  talking about this unit, or the Narcotics Unit which

         24  has to have levels of familiarity.

         25                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Wait a
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          2  second now, this new unit works for the Precinct

          3  Commander. It's different than the Narcotics Unit

          4  that works for the Narcotics Borough Commander.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right. And the

          6  Narcotics Borough Commander on a regular basis

          7  contacts the Precinct Commanders about his

          8  operations that are going on, correct?

          9                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And what other

         11  undercover units are we talking about, just for

         12  today's topic.

         13                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

         14  undercover is primarily a function of the Narcotics

         15  Division. We do have some Vice undercover

         16  operations. We have gang undercover operations. We

         17  may have some specific undercover operations, let's

         18  say in Auto Crime Division, Internal Affairs Bureau

         19  has undercover operations, but primarily most

         20  undercover operations are being conducted in a

         21  Narcotics Division.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And all of

         23  these units report to whom on a regular basis, or

         24  how do they do their investigations as to the

         25  specific communities that they're involved in? The
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          2  Vice -- well, I guess I can't ask that question. The

          3  Vice, the Gang, the Internal Affairs, they all have

          4  specific commanders that they speak to?

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And then those

          7  specific commanders talk to borough people, or how

          8  is that transmitted back to the unit about a

          9  particular condition in a particular area?

         10                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, the

         11  Narcotics Division has its own command structure,

         12  Vice has its own command structure, both of those

         13  organizations, auto larceny as well, are involved

         14  with some Auto Crime Division, some undercover

         15  operations. They all report to the Chief of

         16  Organized Crime Control, and these units have

         17  borough structures themselves, borough

         18  configuration. So, there are captains, there are

         19  lieutenants, there are sergeants, there are modules

         20  that look at particular precincts, particular

         21  commands, there is a lot of communication that goes

         22  up and down a chain.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         24                 And none of your units, according to

         25  your training procedures would go out and do an
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          2  operation without the communication being done, so

          3  that the Borough Commander or the Precinct Commander

          4  would know about the operation?

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Not

          6  necessarily.

          7                 They may do an operation without the

          8  Precinct Commander knowing it.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And under what

         10  circumstances would that happen?

         11                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Just a

         12  question of operational security perhaps.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And would that

         14  be under all of the categories you just named, as

         15  far as operations?

         16                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think

         17  there are both, the times when the Commanding Office

         18  knows about it, and the Commanding Office may not

         19  know about it.

         20                 We are primarily concerned about

         21  safety of officers. Sometimes we want to hold

         22  information very close, but it can be in both

         23  situations, as far as the precinct knowing about it

         24  or not knowing about it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.
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          2                 You spoke about the, on page five,

          3  your Committee that you're setting up to look at the

          4  use of undercover operations and being chaired by

          5  the Chief of Internal Affairs.

          6                 Will those meetings be open to the

          7  public that you're planning on having?

          8                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Be open to

          9  the public? No. It has to do with confidential

         10  operations in the Police Department. I don't think

         11  it would be appropriate to open to the public. Those

         12  meeting have been ongoing now, started last month.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And will you

         14  give that particular group, once you make the

         15  decision, will you offer it to the RAND Corporation

         16  or to any outside independent agency for review?

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I have no

         18  objection to doing that. I'd like to look at that,

         19  make certain that we're not disclosing things that

         20  may undermine our operations, or put a future

         21  undercover at risk. But in terms of their findings

         22  in general, I think it will be public information.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, you're

         24  willing to take a look at it and see how much of it

         25  can be transferred over?
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          2                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, sir.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: When is the

          4  RAND Corporation starting their review? Or has it

          5  started?

          6                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: They're

          7  starting it already, in terms of literature review,

          8  looking at what's out there. They haven't been

          9  engaged with our people as yet, but they're looking

         10  at literature, gathering information from other

         11  departments.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         13                 And I'm trying to keep it to the

         14  topic, and I see the two chairs are giving me the

         15  eye and the nod to wrap up. But I just wanted to

         16  express to Commissioner Kelly that I represent the

         17  areas that the Bell shooting occurred. I think that

         18  we have an opportunity as a City to make sure that

         19  the best Police Department in the world is the most

         20  transparent Police Department in the world also, and

         21  to do all of the things necessary to make the Police

         22  Department responsive, and protective of not only

         23  its offices but the public at large is a difficult

         24  mission, I know, but it's a mission that we all need

         25  to work together to make sure happens.
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          2                 I think that at the end of the day,

          3  if we focus on making sure that that happens with

          4  honest communication, honest discussion, we can get

          5  to the point where people are comfortable with

          6  whatever happens in the Police Department and

          7  whatever incidents.

          8                 I know it's not easy out there making

          9  decisions on an emotional basis, it's not easy. But

         10  we need to make sure the Police Department

         11  understands that we need to have a new level of

         12  cooperation and openness so that the public can feel

         13  comfortable.

         14                 I understand what you said earlier

         15  about perceptions and reality, but there is a

         16  perception of the fact that there is not a comfort

         17  level of openness on the Police Department, and that

         18  perception is still lasting within my community. I

         19  think that working with you and the Police

         20  Department we can deal with in a comprehensive and

         21  thoughtful way so that we can eliminate that as

         22  well. And that is part of what we need to do as a

         23  City, I think, so we can ensure that the best Police

         24  Department in the world can have the best reputation

         25  in the world.
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          2                 And I think that it requires a lot of

          3  other discussion. Not just here today. I'm not

          4  really looking for an answer from you today on that

          5  particular issue, Commissioner. But I think that

          6  together we can work to make sure that whatever

          7  perceptions out there are modified and dealt with in

          8  a clear and comprehensive way, and that our police

          9  officers who are protecting us can do so in a manner

         10  that they can feel proud, and that our community can

         11  feel proud to be represented.

         12                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         14                 Again, we have nine Council members

         15  at least left to go, so please, and many of you can

         16  ask questions on this for an hour and deservedly so,

         17  but if you have follow-up questions, we will send

         18  them to the Commissioner, and I'm sure he will

         19  answer them. So, please try to keep it in the time

         20  limit.

         21                 We go now to Council Member, we've

         22  been joined by Council Member Nelson, we're going to

         23  Council Member Yassky.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you,

         25  Chairs. I just really have a brief comment on your
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          2  testimony, Mr. Kelly.

          3                 I just want to begin by saying that I

          4  have enormous respect for you, as Commissioner for

          5  your Department, for the men and women that serve

          6  under you, for the accomplishments on crime

          7  reduction that you have outlined which are

          8  astonishing and have benefitted millions of New

          9  Yorkers. And I think that respect is shared by

         10  virtually everyone in this room, and virtually

         11  everyone in this City. So, I think that should be

         12  clear.

         13                 I respect the improvements in

         14  diversity that you discussed, the improvements in I

         15  think the figure that you talked about and reduction

         16  in number of fatal shootings I do think is

         17  indicative of improvement in use of excessive force,

         18  more generally than the specific fact you cited. So,

         19  I want to acknowledge that.

         20                 But I do also believe that there

         21  remains a problem with treatment of

         22  African-Americans in this City, and I think it's

         23  important to be clear about what the problem is, and

         24  what the way I would put it, is that there's many,

         25  and too many, and it's many too many really,
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          2  African-American New Yorkers feel that they are at

          3  risk, or their family members are at risk of

          4  mistreatment, in other words, being stopped or

          5  without justification, you know, or even being

          6  victimized by excessive force.

          7                 And I would emphasize to you that I

          8  find this is a feeling that is widespread, and not

          9  only -- I mean, that's a feeling that's widespread,

         10  even among many, many African-American New Yorkers

         11  who feel that their neighborhoods are much safer

         12  than they used to, who credit the Police Department

         13  for that reduction. Even among those New Yorkers, I

         14  find that there are many who, nonetheless are wary

         15  of the NYPD for themselves and their family.

         16                 And I met yesterday with the Pastor

         17  of one of the largest congregations in Brooklyn. His

         18  congregants, you know, they work hard, they go to

         19  church every Sunday, they, many of them live in

         20  exactly the neighborhoods who have benefitted the

         21  most from your achievements on crime reduction, and

         22  nonetheless they share this concern. And I would say

         23  also, and lastly, that I do think it is based not on

         24  fiction.

         25                 I understand your point about
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          2  portrayal in the media, both I mean on TV shows and

          3  movies, and even sensational media that is

          4  inaccurate. I understand that. But the feelings

          5  expressed to me by my constituents are based on the

          6  experiences and the experience of their brothers and

          7  sons, and, you know, I think that they're real and

          8  they have to be treated by the Department as real,

          9  not as a PR problem to be addressed but as a fact.

         10  It goes along with the other facts that you

         11  described in your testimony. And I have complete

         12  confidence. I want to say for the record, I

         13  personally have complete confidence in you, as

         14  Commissioner, and that you intend to address this. I

         15  have no doubt. And I do not believe, I also want to

         16  be clear, that individual officers, NYPD officers

         17  are biased, or, you know, no more so than the

         18  average New Yorker, I would say. I don't believe

         19  that at all. So, to me, the way to do it is in

         20  training. I heard your testimony, and I'm very

         21  impressed by what has been done, what is being done

         22  today, but I think the feeling that I described out

         23  there, tells us that we need to do more.

         24                 And I have confidence that you intend

         25  to do it and will do it, and that's simply the
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          2  statement that I want to make for the record.

          3                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Let me say

          4  that I go to a lot of community meetings, and you're

          5  right, there is a perception out there that somehow

          6  we're targeting African Americans

          7  disproportionately. We have done a lot to attempt to

          8  change that, change that perception. It is the

          9  perception that's been out there for awhile, and we

         10  have appointed a highest ranking member of the

         11  Department we've ever had as a Director of our

         12  Community Affairs operation. If you look at the

         13  diversity numbers, look at the change just in this

         14  Administration, look how much the Department, the

         15  make-up of the Department has changed in an effort

         16  to address that perception.

         17                 We are engaged in a lot of the

         18  community outreach. So, I agree with you, the

         19  perception is there. Perception for us is a reality.

         20  So, it's something that we have to continue to train

         21  for. And I think one of the issues is stop-n-frisk,

         22  frankly. We stop people. Nobody wants to be stopped.

         23  I don't want to be stopped. At the least, when you

         24  stop someone it's an inconvenience. Nobody is

         25  overjoyed about being stopped by a police officer,
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          2  and that's the difference between what we do in the

          3  policing function and what other City agencies do.

          4  You know, we are the bearer of bad news. That's why

          5  the job is so difficult. That's why it's bizarre to

          6  pay the entry level salary at $25,100 with the

          7  complexity that we require, for the danger that

          8  police officers have to experience.

          9                 But we attempt to train for this. We

         10  want our officers to operate with civility, with

         11  respect, when they stop someone. But it's

         12  understandable, people don't like to be stopped,

         13  particularly when they're doing nothing wrong. The

         14  stop, question and frisk is a legitimate law

         15  enforcement tool. It's in the penal law. We're

         16  allowed to do it, it's a question of how we do it.

         17  And we're training to address that constantly to do

         18  it more in a more or as possible as a civil

         19  respectful way.

         20                 But for the nature of policing, you

         21  know, we give summonses. Nobody wants to get a

         22  ticket. People don't want to get arrested. We arrest

         23  but we use force. We use deadly force sometimes. So,

         24  it's the type of job that people are going to

         25  universally embrace and love us.
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          2                 But having said that, the cops do a

          3  phenomenal job. The statistics I have in my prepared

          4  remarks, the ones you alluded to, underscore that.

          5                 So, it is one of those areas that we

          6  have to continue to address and we're attempting to

          7  do that through training, as much as we possibly

          8  can.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I know more

         10  people are coming, so I just would leave by saying I

         11  heard what you say, Commissioner. I do think that

         12  people, African-American and non-African-American

         13  New Yorkers do need to understand that the

         14  Department, while justifiably proud of its

         15  accomplishments, justifiably proud of the progress

         16  it has made toward treating all New Yorkers with

         17  respect, also understands that there is a need to do

         18  more and is committed. And I would just leave you

         19  with that. Thank you, Commissioner.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         21  Council member. So some people can plan, the next

         22  four or five Council members will be Oddo and

         23  Foster, who are members of the Committee, then

         24  Barron and James, that should cover the entire

         25  political spectrum. But after that will be Jackson,
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          2  Dickens and others.

          3                 But again, try to keep your comments

          4  limited to five minutes. Council Member Oddo.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I'm feeling

          6  mighty alone in that political spectrum, Mr.

          7  Chairman.

          8                 Commissioner, on page two of your

          9  testimony, in the middle, you said that the

         10  Department has hired and trained over 14,000 new

         11  recruits in the last five years, 40 percent of the

         12  Department. Has there ever been a time, has there

         13  ever been turnover to that degree prior in the

         14  history of the Department?

         15                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, not

         16  that I can recall turnover. Because what happens is,

         17  and the reason it's happening is, a historically

         18  consistent turnover is happening. Remember, there

         19  were layoffs in 1975, the Department didn't do

         20  significant hires until the mid-eighties. Now those

         21  people hired in the mid-eighties can retire, and you

         22  look at our statistics, the police officers, when

         23  they reach their 20th anniversary, about 80 percent

         24  of them retire. Sergeants, about 65 percent. So, we

         25  have large numbers of officers retired. In those
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          2  days by three separate agencies, now of course we

          3  have a merge of the Transit and Housing that took

          4  place in the mid-nineties. So, we're retiring

          5  approximately 3,000 people, 3,400 people a year.

          6  It's not inconsistent with our history. It's just

          7  that, as I say, when you reach that 20th year and

          8  you're a police officer, you retire. So, that's why

          9  we are hiring so many people. Even though our

         10  headcount is going down, we're still hiring a lot of

         11  people.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You anticipated

         13  the second part of my question, and that is the

         14  impact throughout the organizational chart. It's not

         15  just police officers on the beat, it's, to give an

         16  accurate nomenclature, it's management, so it's

         17  Sergeants, Lieutenants and Captains.

         18                 The point of my question is, other

         19  than the obvious challenges of that, obvious to the

         20  laymen, explain to us the Department challenges in

         21  that. I mean, clearly, and I think this ties into

         22  the whole training issue, does this mean that, to

         23  use some of the language you used later on, the

         24  mentors and the supervisors that are training the

         25  new officers are folks with less experience on the
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          2  job as well, than in years past?

          3                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: You can

          4  now make the promotable positions more quickly than

          5  in the previous time in our history, yes.

          6                 But I think it's a tremendous

          7  testament to our training that we're talking about

          8  now, our training capacity, and our Executive staff

          9  who are here, the quality work that they've done. We

         10  haven't had a significant turnover in the Executive

         11  staff, so we're able to bring in over 40 percent,

         12  almost 40 percent exchange or 40 percent of people,

         13  continue to have crime go down in this City to

         14  record lows, put in place an unparalleled

         15  counter-terrorism program. I credit the executive

         16  staff ability to do that, and the training that is

         17  going on in the Department.

         18                 No other City agency is sitting here

         19  telling you that they've exchanged 40 percent of

         20  their personnel in the last five years and continue

         21  with the productivity that we've had.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I wish some

         23  would, but that's for another hearing.

         24                 Commissioner, is it unfair or

         25  inaccurate to say then collectively that the agency
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          2  in this point in time, in the Department I should

          3  say in this point in time, is collectively less

          4  experienced than previous incarnations of this

          5  Department?

          6                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, when

          7  you say less experienced, obviously our base, you

          8  know, 40 percent of our people in the last five

          9  years, we could argue that have less experience, you

         10  make up for that with training. That's why I think

         11  our training is, people here have done a terrific

         12  job in training.

         13                 So, again, if you look at it, what's

         14  the bottom line? What is the product? The product is

         15  a 20 percent reduction in crime in the last five

         16  years with 4,000 fewer officers.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And relative to

         18  prior to this mass exodus, the training now you have

         19  adjusted accordingly and increased the level of

         20  training, understanding the dynamic of what's

         21  happening in terms of retirements?

         22                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: One last line of

         24  questioning. On the bottom of page three and the top

         25  of page four, you talk about the process for weeding
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          2  out, if you will, undercover officers, and you say

          3  that it's important to ensure that these officers

          4  are quote/unquote tempermentally suited to do what

          5  is very difficult work. Could you just define what

          6  you mean by tempermentally suited and elaborate on

          7  what you do to weed out those who we find aren't

          8  tempermentally suited?

          9                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: There are

         10  judgments made by supervisors, as Chief Izzo talked

         11  about. There is a period when examined by mentors,

         12  they're examined by experienced, undercover officers

         13  to see if they can do the job. And some people just

         14  self-select out, they don't want to do it. So, it's

         15  not a job for everybody, it's a very difficult job.

         16  There is certainly no stigma to say, hey, I don't

         17  want to do this anymore, or I'm not suited for this

         18  kind of work. Very few people are.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: But

         20  specifically, what trait or aspect of a personality

         21  of an officer is like a red flag or a signal that

         22  this person is not tempermentally suited for

         23  undercover work? Are there a list?

         24                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think

         25  you have to look at the totality. I can't give you
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          2  one trait. But we're relying on experienced

          3  undercover officers. You know, as I say, Detective

          4  Daly here, people like that who have done this for a

          5  long time. They sort of know who can do it and who

          6  can't do it. Rather than say there is one particular

          7  trait, I think it's better to say that based on our

          8  experience, the cadre of training, perhaps this

          9  person rather than another person, should be doing

         10  this sort of work.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Commissioner,

         12  I'll just close by saying I think the issues and

         13  concerns and problems are real. And I'm one of those

         14  who believe that you and these folks with you are

         15  part of the solution and not part of the problem,

         16  and when the phone rings on the opinion polls asking

         17  about you, I answer the same way I did eight months

         18  ago.

         19                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         21  Council member.

         22                 We've been joined by, I see Council

         23  Member Monserrate walking in, and Council Member

         24  Lappin and her baby, which does not get you an extra

         25  five minutes talking time, by the way. Two minutes,
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          2  okay.

          3                 Okay, Council Member Foster.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Good morning,

          5  Commissioner.

          6                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Good

          7  morning.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: And good

          9  morning, Chief Izzo. It's unfortunate that we're

         10  here under this circumstances. Because I do think

         11  that this hearing is reactive to what's gone on, and

         12  being the former Borough Commissioner in the Bronx,

         13  I know you and had a good relationship.

         14                 A couple of questions and then a

         15  comment, and I am going to respect time. With the

         16  undercover training, and this follows a little on

         17  what Council Member Comrie and Oddo asked, with the

         18  undercover training, is there a portion of it that

         19  is able to weed out or to address particular

         20  prejudice that one might be bringing to the position

         21  as an undercover? Or just some type of testing or a

         22  battery of tests to see if this person is stable to

         23  be an undercover officer in a specific area?

         24                 CHIEF IZZO: I think the stability of

         25  an undercover is measured each and every time the
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          2  undercover and his field team are deployed. And one

          3  that is not able, or as you put it, not stable to do

          4  that type of work is almost immediately expose

          5  themselves.

          6                 Undercovers are deployed based on

          7  intelligence. A lot of facts that we put together:

          8  complaints from the community, complaints from the

          9  9-1-1, the 3-1-1 system, through community council

         10  members, precinct and borough commanders. We compile

         11  all of that information, study it, and decide the

         12  best way to abate the problem at hand. That's how

         13  the undercover is essentially deployed.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: And I would

         15  assume you look for undercovers, or train

         16  undercovers to go in a specific area that would in

         17  fact be undercover and blend in as opposed to maybe

         18  do as an undercover in the hybrid section, you would

         19  stick out as a thumb; is it that type of training

         20  that goes on?

         21                 CHIEF IZZO: I think I would have a

         22  tough time buying heroin, myself, but yes. We try to

         23  best mirror what's happening in the street. How is

         24  it that we could best deploy our people effectively

         25  and remove the problem from the community.
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          2                 The goal is not simply to just arrest

          3  whoever it is that is dealing drugs on a street, but

          4  to eradicate the problem from the block, as we

          5  discussed back when I was up in the Bronx.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: There has to

          7  be, and this is where I'm going to get into my

          8  comment part, Commissioner, on page seven, and you

          9  brought it up so I'm going to take it a little

         10  further. A person's perception is their reality. So,

         11  to hear you or Council Member Vallone say that

         12  racial profiling doesn't exist, from where I'm

         13  sitting doesn't hold a lot of validity, because

         14  you're not the one being racially profiled.

         15                 And I have issue with this not being

         16  thought of as a racial shooting. And I will say the

         17  statement that I said before, where The Post took

         18  the hit and called me "moranic" and "a fool," and

         19  considering the source, I guess I should consider it

         20  a compliment, but there were black slave owners and

         21  black slave overseers, it does not mean that slavery

         22  was not racially motivated. And until we start

         23  dealing with the truth, my father is 82, a retired

         24  City Council member and a clergyman who gets pulled

         25  over because he fits a stereotype. Now, this is --
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          2  he looks great for 82, don't get me wrong, but this

          3  is not a man that fits a stereotype. I've gotten

          4  pulled over because a car that fits my description

          5  was involved in a buy and bust. And I said, well,

          6  what's the description of the car? They backed up to

          7  look at the car to then tell me what the description

          8  is. So, this is real.

          9                 So, when you say it's not racially

         10  motivated or when Council Member Vallone says racial

         11  profiling doesn't exist, it doesn't matter, because

         12  you're not the one being racially profiled. And

         13  there's concern. We have to start dealing with this.

         14                 I had a gentleman who went to visit

         15  his mother. Rang the doorbell, went in after getting

         16  off work at night, was arrested for trespassing,

         17  even though the mother told the police she's coming

         18  to visit me. And it's something called a round robin

         19  where -- and he spent the night in jail with an

         20  elderly man who could no longer hold his urine and

         21  was wetting himself, and they put him in jail

         22  overnight.

         23                 This does not happen in white

         24  communities. And until we start dealing with it

         25  honestly, we are going to continue to have incidents
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          2  like Sean Bell where we're being reactive and we

          3  need to be proactive.

          4                 There is no question that we have the

          5  best City and the best police force, but we've got

          6  to do what it takes to get better for everybody. And

          7  until we start having those honest dialogues, we're

          8  going to keep going tit for tat and it serves no

          9  purpose. And I just want to end where we have to

         10  look at the community and how it's served.

         11                 I was driving home last night and a

         12  police officer, a car was driving the other way, no

         13  lights, no nothing, honking at cars, telling them to

         14  move over. That would not happen on Park Avenue. It

         15  would not happen. There needs to be a respect in the

         16  community in which one serves. And, yes, crime is in

         17  minority communities, but I guaranty you, we are not

         18  the only ones buying drugs. We are not the only ones

         19  going to strip clubs. And it is real. I was in the

         20  car with my sister and police pulled up next to the

         21  car, and when I say I was afraid, like I have my

         22  sign, my shield, and I was afraid, because you don't

         23  have to be doing something, and it's real. And until

         24  we start, again, having real conversations, we can't

         25  say things are not racially motivated when it's not,
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          2  it's only black men and Latino men that are being

          3  shot at. We've got to start speaking the truth.

          4  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Normally I say

          6  thank you, Council member. I'm not sure that's quite

          7  appropriate right now, me thanking you for saying

          8  that about me. It's a joke.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: No, I just

         10  want to make sure, Peter. I want to make sure that

         11  our perceptions are different.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Absolutely.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: We're coming

         14  at this very different perspective, our realities in

         15  terms of this City and the country in which we live

         16  are very different.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You're entitled

         18  to that opinion. I will say, though, that most

         19  audience members aren't here, don't realize we don't

         20  allow audience participation. Council member staff

         21  should know that. But audience members, please, no

         22  shouting out or clapping or we will have to ask you

         23  to leave.

         24                 Again, please stay within the time

         25  limits. Council Member Barron.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, thank

          3  you very much. And I want to certainly commend

          4  Council Member Foster for her bravery and honesty

          5  and straightforwardness. Commissioner, I listened to

          6  the President's state of denial address last night

          7  and then I have to come here and listen to your

          8  state of denial of racial profiling.

          9                 You said that it's very, very tough

         10  being a police officer and a very difficult job. You

         11  can multiply that by a thousand, to find out how it

         12  is to be a black and Latino youth in the community

         13  that your police officers are terrorizing. They're

         14  terrorizing our community on a daily basis, and it's

         15  under your reign. I know you got mostly accolades

         16  from the Chair and the Speaker, but as you know, and

         17  I've said it publicly, you've allowed this terrorism

         18  of the Police Department to take place in our

         19  community. And I will continue, and I know everybody

         20  says it's not going to happen, to ask for your

         21  resignation, and ask that you do the graceful thing

         22  and resign. And I say that seriously, because just

         23  like they said, Rumsfeld would never go, you know,

         24  we kept pushing, he's gone. But I say that because

         25  you have allowed this to happen, and to come here
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          2  and be in denial of racial profiling, to come here

          3  and not even address the very seriousness. And when

          4  I say an explosion can happen in our community,

          5  that's real. There are some people in our community,

          6  you all can say what you want about me when I say

          7  things like we're not the only ones that can bleed,

          8  not the only ones that can go to funerals. You can

          9  think what you want about that, but there are

         10  elements in our community that are tired of

         11  marching, because we marched for Stansbury, we

         12  marched for Amadou Diallo, and every time we do the

         13  legitimate thing to express to you and others in

         14  power, and when you have an opportunity to do

         15  something about it, our dissatisfaction was being

         16  killed, cussed out every day, and stopping and

         17  frisking is not a police thing. You are violating a

         18  person's human rights to move about peacefully in

         19  their neighborhoods.

         20                 It is a constitutional violation, a

         21  civil rights violation, but most importantly, a

         22  human rights violation. And it's not supposed to

         23  happen, and you don't need to look in your stats,

         24  just get it from the attorney general, because they

         25  already did a study on it, one out of every four
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          2  black youth are stopped and frisked, and those are

          3  the ones that you fill out the forms.

          4                 So, I'm saying to you today, we need

          5  to know, when are you going to -- police are going

          6  to pay consequences for what they do? It's not about

          7  training and policies, we did this already. When are

          8  they going to pay consequences. Isn't it true that

          9  before they fire, when they come on a situation,

         10  they're supposed to take cover first, correct? Isn't

         11  that the first thing they're supposed to do in a

         12  situation --

         13                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Depends on

         14  the situation.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:-- For the most

         16  part?

         17                 What about the Amadou Diallo

         18  situation?

         19                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Please.

         20  You know, if you want to ask me a legitimate

         21  question --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That's a

         23  legitimate question.

         24                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I wasn't

         25  the Police Commissioner --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Not for this

          3  hearing it's not.

          4                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I don't

          5  have all the facts.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: All right.

          7                 Well, so when do they take cover?

          8  When and what situations do they take cover first

          9  before they fire?

         10                 And secondly, aren't they supposed to

         11  fire three times, stop, assess the situation, and

         12  then resume firing if it's necessary?

         13                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It's

         14  certainly a natural reaction to take cover if you're

         15  in danger. Officers do take cover. I'm not clear.

         16  What is your point?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: My point is

         18  that they don't take cover. They shoot first in a

         19  black community. They did not take cover. In many

         20  cases what they do, if you have a wallet, try to

         21  take out your wallet and get in your house, they

         22  shoot first. Even if they thought they were in

         23  danger, they take cover -- in the Bell case if they

         24  thought there was some danger, they don't take

         25  cover. They don't apply the policies in the Police
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          2  Department to the black community. They don't take

          3  cover first, and you're certainly not supposed to

          4  load up twice and shoot. You're supposed to shoot

          5  three times if you think you should be firing; isn't

          6  that correct? You shoot three times and then assess

          7  the situation?

          8                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: That's our

          9  training, yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That's your

         11  training.

         12                 So, when that training is violated,

         13  what happens to the officer?

         14                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I don't

         15  want to get into --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I'm not

         17  getting into --

         18                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: You're

         19  talking on periphery of this ongoing case.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I'm speaking

         21  generally. I'm not talking about the Bell case.

         22                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: We have a

         23  very robust --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: What happens

         25  --
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          2                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, let

          3  me answer the question. We have a robust internal

          4  investigative process that looks at that. I

          5  described it in my prepared remarks. The firearm

          6  discharge review process. And if there's discipline,

          7  that's called for, we certainly would enact that

          8  discipline. There is a process that also involves

          9  the District Attorney, which slows that process

         10  down. Sometimes it takes awhile for us to get a

         11  determination by a firearm discharge review board

         12  because a District Attorney is involved. But

         13  certainly we have disciplined --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: How many

         15  police officers have you disciplined for improperly

         16  firing, discharging their weapons?

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Certainly

         18  we do that. I don't have the number off the top of

         19  my head.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, I would

         21  like to see that number because we don't see a lot

         22  of that happening. How many are disciplined. And we

         23  could talk about the Stansbury case, can't we?

         24  That's gone.

         25                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: How do you

          3  testify, given Officer Neri 30-day suspension in the

          4  killing of Timothy Stansbury?

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It was an

          6  accident. We --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: It was not an

          8  accident.

          9                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It was

         10  what?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Accident?

         12                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: That's

         13  what the findings of our discharge review process

         14  determined.

         15                 In fact, the officer who was with him

         16  said it was an accident immediately.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Of course he's

         18  going to say it's an accident. You think opening up

         19  --

         20                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Our

         21  investigation determined that it was an accident.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You don't

         23  think it was at least reckless?

         24                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, the

         25  grand jury didn't find it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I'm talking

          3  about you.

          4                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, I'm

          5  talking about the process. This case went before a

          6  grand jury. The officer spoke in front of the grand

          7  jury himself. No charge --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That always

          9  happens to officers.

         10                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Wait a

         11  second now.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That's why we

         13  need special prosecutors.

         14                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: The whole

         15  array of charges that could have been brought by the

         16  grand jury, no charge was brought before a grand

         17  jury. A recommendation came up for discipline for

         18  this officer. I convened my own panel to take a look

         19  at the testimony, look through all the minutes of

         20  this case, and we determined that the penalty that

         21  was involved was appropriate.

         22                 Everything that could be done was

         23  done short of dismissal. At the end of the day this

         24  was an accident.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: It was not an
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          2  accident. It was a cold-blooded killing.

          3                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Oh, come

          4  on. Come on. How do you know that? How do you know

          5  that?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Because you --

          7                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: There were

          8  two people there. Two police officers.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: There were two

         10  people with Stansbury, too. They saw it.

         11                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: That's

         12  what I'm talking about.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And they saw

         14  it. The two people that were with Stansbury behind

         15  the door, he opened up the door, he had just come up

         16  to take some CDs and to go to a party. As soon as he

         17  opens up the door he get's shot in his chest by a

         18  police officer, and you're talking about it's an

         19  accident? How do you know? Because the police

         20  officer with him is just one witness. What about the

         21  two other men that was with Stansbury? It was not an

         22  accident. He shouldn't have had his gun pointed when

         23  there was no danger.

         24                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Council

         25  member, his case was brought to the Grand Jury --

                                                            105

          1  COMMITTEES ON PUBLIC SAFETY AND CIVIL RIGHTS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: We got that

          3  already. But I'm talking about your investigation.

          4                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: My

          5  investigation --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: What danger

          7  was that police --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Charles, let

          9  him answer.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Wait a minute.

         11  What danger was that police officer under threat

         12  from Stansbury?

         13                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It was

         14  determined to be an accident.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: No, what

         16  danger?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Commissioner,

         18  you don't need to answer these questions, if you

         19  don't wish to.

         20                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It was

         21  2:00 in the morning. He was opening the doors on the

         22  roof.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Right. Routine

         24  vertical patrol, right?

         25                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: That's
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          2  right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Are they

          4  allowed to take out their guns for that?

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Depending

          6  on the circumstances, yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: What should

          8  the circumstances be for him having a gun out on a

          9  routine vertical patrol?

         10                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It depends

         11  on the perception of the officer. What condition --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: This is a

         13  hearing about undercover training.

         14                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: What

         15  condition that he perceived. I don't see it unusual

         16  for someone that has a gun by their side at 2:00 in

         17  the morning.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Do you see it

         19  unusual for them to point the gun upward as soon as

         20  they open up the door and fire?

         21                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: That's why

         22  it was determined to be an accident.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: An accident?

         24  He accidently discharged his weapon?

         25                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, sir.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Why was he

          3  pointing it?

          4                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: We did an

          5  in-depth investigation, that was the determination.

          6  We invoked the highest penalty that we could, short

          7  of termination.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thirty days

          9  suspension for the taking of a black life. That's

         10  why people disrespect --

         11                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, it

         12  was more than that. It was more than that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That's why

         14  they disrespect and don't trust the police force and

         15  feel that you have no value for our life.

         16                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

         17  there is no doubt that you'll never trust the police

         18  force.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I'll tell you,

         20  if I'm walking in my neighborhood --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Keep it down.

         22  Keep it down.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: If I'm walking

         24  in my neighborhood in East New York on one side of

         25  the street and I see a bunch of your little white
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          2  rookies who are scared of us, and I see some hip hop

          3  brothers on the other side, I'm going across the

          4  other street. Because trying to pass them --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Councilman,

          6  please finish up.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: -- I'm putting

          8  my life in danger.

          9                 In look at here, one last thing, I

         10  just want to talk about the racial dimension of the

         11  shootings, or when you mentioned, in your case, the

         12  Bell case when it's convenient, when you want to

         13  talk about racism and trying to wipe that out, you

         14  could mention the Bell case. But when we ask

         15  questions about them all of a sudden it's off the

         16  hook.

         17                 Look at the ones with the stars on

         18  their shoulder. The one, two, three, four, five,

         19  six, seven, eight, nine, ten, 11, one black. That's

         20  part of the problem in the Police Department. Maybe

         21  you left the others home but --

         22                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, let

         23  me answer. I've appointed more blacks to chief than

         24  any police commissioner in history.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That ain't
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          2  saying nothing.

          3                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: You know

          4  that you have to pass the civil service examination

          5  for Captain and move up. There are 28 civil service

          6  Captains who are black, 18 of them are above the

          7  rank of Captain.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I'm talking

          9  about the top, they're sitting --

         10                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I'm

         11  talking about you've got to be in it to get

         12  promoted.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: -- They're

         14  sitting right here.  They're sitting right here.

         15                 I know some chiefs who were

         16  overlooked who were black. I won't mention his name,

         17  he told me not to. But he was overlooked.

         18                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Who?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I said I'm not

         20  telling you. But he was overlooked.

         21                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I'll tell

         22  you what, pretty hard to find. If you look at the

         23  numbers, if you look at the numbers in the Police

         24  Department now --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: No, it isn't.
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          2  It is pretty hard to find one, period, because we

          3  only got one brother sitting there now.

          4                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Eighteen

          5  of them I should bring here so you're satisfied?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You can bring

          7  them. But I'm saying the top echelon that you are in

          8  communications with on a constant basis are white

          9  males. That's part of the problem in the Police

         10  Department.

         11                 But I just want to say this, and then

         12  I'll stop: Unless there are consequences paid,

         13  Commissioner, consequences, you have sent a signal

         14  to your Police Department that they can kill us,

         15  brutalize us with impunity. They know 99 percent of

         16  the time they're going to get away with it, whether

         17  41 bullets, 50 bullets, no matter what it is, they

         18  get away with it.

         19                 So, what we have in our community

         20  now, we're out there, they stop-n-frisk, no-knock

         21  warrants. Do you know they kicked some doors down in

         22  East New York and say they're looking for drugs,

         23  wrong apartment? And how about Alberta Spruill --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You've got to

         25  finish up, Council member. Other Council members are
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          2  waiting.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I'll be

          4  finished.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You keep saying

          6  that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You keep

          8  interrupting and make me lose my thought, and I have

          9  to talk more.

         10                 So, I just want to say to you, you

         11  know, that you can listen to all softball questions

         12  that will be thrown your way and answer questions

         13  about training, and that's what they're going to

         14  give you here for the most part, softball questions,

         15  but the bottom line, I'm telling you, is a powder

         16  keg in our community. You have an opportunity to do

         17  something very serious, and that is on a daily

         18  basis. The 75th Precinct, crime is up in the Police

         19  Department. There have been more complaints in the

         20  75th and 73rd about my area than ever before.

         21                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Complaints

         22  on what?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Police

         24  misconduct complaints, police brutality.

         25                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Let me
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          2  tell you what's happening in the 75th Precinct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Go ahead.

          4                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: In the

          5  early nineties we had 125 or 130 homicides --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Killing. It

          7  was the murder capital, right.

          8                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It's gone

          9  down now to 25. And your community is much, much

         10  safer than it's ever been.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That's because

         12  of me. Not the police.

         13                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.

         14  Right, yes, I'll bet it is.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: We have a

         16  patrol for the police and for the criminals.

         17                 But let me just say this finally. The

         18  75th Precinct, the 73rd Precinct, and many precincts

         19  in this entire City, we have to make sure that when

         20  the police engage in any form of terror, that they

         21  are treated and convicted, not convicted but dealt

         22  with harshly. You're sending the wrong signal. The

         23  Police Department is out of control. They're getting

         24  a wrong signal, they're able to do what they want

         25  with impunity. And I'm just saying to you now, that
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          2  it is dangerous out there. Very dangerous.

          3                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, I

          4  would hope that you would do everything you can --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: No, I hope you

          6  will do everything --

          7                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: -- As an

          8  elected official to lessen the --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: As

         10  Commissioner of Police, you need to do everything

         11  you should do to lessen the terror. I'm more

         12  concerned about you allowing your police officers --

         13                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I'm

         14  concerned about you out there.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You're the one

         16  who's allowing them to terrorize us.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Charles.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Not me.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: You get a

         20  second round.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: It is your

         22  police officers. And I hope you will rise to be the

         23  Commissioner that you should be and stop the terror

         24  in our community and not deal with these softball

         25  questions.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

          3  Jackson. He left.

          4                 Council Member Dickens.

          5                 Thank you. Oh, I'm sorry, James.

          6  You're a different list.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Commissioner,

          8  there was a Court Order from 2003, the Center for

          9  Constitutional Rights, which required the precincts

         10  to report stop-n-frisk data to the City Council. In

         11  addition to that there is a law that was passed some

         12  time ago by the City Council where the Police

         13  Department is required to report to the City Council

         14  stop-n-frisk data by race, by zip code. The City

         15  Council has not received that information; do you

         16  know what?

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: The City

         18  Council has received the 2003 information. The 2006

         19  information, obviously, we're only 24 days out of

         20  2006. We have an intention to do the 2006 delivery

         21  of information within the next week or so. I would

         22  have preferred to have it before this hearing. We're

         23  now able to do it. It's now automated to do it, the

         24  most recent information. But the information from

         25  2003 on still has to be manually scanned in and it's
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          2  a labor-intensive process. But we have given you up

          3  to 2003. We will continue that process, and I hope

          4  to have the 2006 information in the next one to two

          5  weeks.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: When did the

          7  City Council receive 2003?

          8                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I'm not

          9  certain.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Was it

         11  recently?

         12                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: In 2006.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: The staff tells

         14  me we received it February of 2006.

         15                 Moving on to diversity, let me first

         16  thank you for promoting Chief Nelson to Brooklyn

         17  North. However, we have got a long way to go.

         18                 You know, I've worked in government

         19  for a very long time, what I experience and what I

         20  note is unfortunately in all levels of government,

         21  they tend to put African-Americans and Latinos in

         22  community affairs and in governmental affairs, and

         23  rarely do they put African Americans and Latinos in

         24  the inner circle where decisions are made, where

         25  management decisions and decisions with respect to
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          2  day-to-day operations are made. And though I see

          3  Chief Ziegler present, and I appreciate Chief

          4  Ziegler, I recognize that Chief Ziegler is limited

          5  in his capacity, and I also recognize that there is

          6  an African-American in charge of school safety, but

          7  as Council Member Barron indicated, it appears to me

          8  that your inner sanctum, your individuals who you

          9  rely upon for management purposes, in terms of

         10  operation, are still overwhelmingly -- not

         11  overwhelmingly, they are, all white males.

         12                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, let me

         13  disabuse you of that notion. We have seven Bureau

         14  Chiefs, one is an African-American, two are

         15  Hispanic, one is a woman. So, I think the numbers

         16  speak for themselves.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: In Brooklyn,

         18  there are no African-American commanding officers in

         19  Brooklyn South.

         20                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

         21  there is only so many African-American Captains in

         22  the Department. You have an African-American Borough

         23  Commander. You have an African-American Executive

         24  Officer of Brooklyn North. You have an

         25  African-American Precinct Commander in the 73rd
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          2  Precinct. You had one in your own precinct, the 88

          3  Precinct. I met with you several times to talk to

          4  you about this issue, and you are as aware as

          5  anybody that you have to be a civil service Captain

          6  to move up in the Department, and the number of

          7  people above Captain who are African American, in

          8  relation to the number of civil service Captains, is

          9  clearly disproportionate to any other ethnic group

         10  in the Department. I've told you this on several

         11  occasions.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: You have met

         13  with me and we had a discussion with regards to

         14  diversity.

         15                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: And as far

         16  as Precinct Commanders are concerned, we have more

         17  African-American Precinct Commanders now than ever

         18  in the history of the Department.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: But clearly,

         20  Commissioner, you do agree we can do better,

         21  correct?

         22                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I'm doing

         23  the best I can. We could do better if people take

         24  the test and pass the test. Just because you are a

         25  particular race, doesn't mean that you should
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          2  automatically be promoted. You have to do it on

          3  merit.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And no one is

          5  suggesting that.

          6                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

          7  that's what I'm focused on. The people can do the

          8  job. Now, I have promoted, and appointed, more

          9  Precinct Commanders, African-Americans, than any

         10  other Commissioner in the history of this Department

         11  by far. I've promoted more minorities to chief by

         12  far than anyone else.

         13                 But believe me, just because you're a

         14  particular race does not qualify you for promotion.

         15  You have to do the job. And we pick good people, the

         16  right people to do the job.

         17                 I'm sure you're not suggesting

         18  anything else.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And you're not

         20  suggesting that African-Americans are not passing

         21  the tests?

         22                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I want to

         23  point something else out to you, which you stated

         24  incorrectly, that there's no African-American

         25  Commanders in Brooklyn South.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Commanding

          3  Officers of any precinct.

          4                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, how

          5  about the Executive Officer, Chief Banks. He was the

          6  Commanding Officer 79th Precinct, I promoted him

          7  last month to the position of Deputy Chief and

          8  Executive Officer of Brooklyn South. You forgot

          9  that. And it's a Precinct that's in your district,

         10  by the way, the 79th Precinct. But you happened to

         11  forget that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Well, 79, I

         13  have two blocks of the 79th Precinct, and he's the

         14  XO, he's not the Commanding Officer, yes?

         15                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: He was

         16  just promoted. He was the Commanding Officer of the

         17  79th Precinct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: No, I recognize

         19  he was just promoted.

         20                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: He was the

         21  Commanding Office up until last month and you dealt

         22  with him.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I recognize

         24  that.

         25                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: And I just
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          2  promoted him to Deputy Chief --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I recognize

          4  that.

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY:-- And put

          6  him in Brooklyn South.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I recognize

          8  that. But he's Deputy. He's not the Chief.

          9                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Oh, come

         10  on. Okay. You know enough about the system to know

         11  that's a disingenuous question. He promoted to the

         12  rank of Deputy Chief, that's the position. That's

         13  the rank that our Executive Officers hold throughout

         14  the Borough.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Commissioner,

         16  all that I ask is that you look at the fact there

         17  are no Commanding Officers in Brooklyn South.

         18                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

         19  you're intimating that in a way when you know

         20  better. You know what we've done. You say that

         21  privately. Publicly you have a certainly different

         22  tone.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Inspector,

         24  again, the fact that he is an XO, he's not a

         25  commanding officer, and I would urge that we would
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          2  look at Brooklyn South.

          3                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: He just

          4  was the Commanding Officer of the Precinct, he was

          5  promoted.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I recognize.

          7  Right. Yes. Yes.

          8                 And 79 is in Brooklyn North. It's not

          9  in the South.

         10                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: He just

         11  left Brooklyn North and he went to Brooklyn South.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: The question

         13  that I asked was Brooklyn South.

         14                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: And he's

         15  in Brooklyn South.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: He's the XO,

         17  he's the Deputy.

         18                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, when

         19  the Commander is not there he's in charge.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Can we move to

         21  another subject, the use of force?

         22                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

         23  you're the one who brought it up.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         25                 Inspector, use of force. In your
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          2  testimony, you talked about the fact that officers

          3  are prohibited from using, unless deadly physical

          4  force is being used against the officer or another

          5  officer by means other than the vehicle, they are

          6  prohibited from using force at moving vehicles. But,

          7  yet, in the Student Guide, it talks about, it says

          8  the following language: "The Department, however,

          9  prohibits the use of deadly force against the

         10  occupants of moving vehicles, except in situations

         11  in which the vehicle's occupants are using deadly

         12  force by means other than the vehicle.

         13                 In practical terms this usually means

         14  that the NYPD officers cannot shoot at moving

         15  vehicles, moving cars, unless they are under fire

         16  from the occupants of such cars. Violating this

         17  policy may involve no crime on the part of the

         18  officer, but it's very likely to result in

         19  disciplinary action."

         20                 It also goes on to say that the Penal

         21  Law says nothing about using your firearm to defend

         22  yourself against a person in an ongoing car.

         23                 There appears to be some sort of

         24  conflict between the Student Guide and the Patrol

         25  Guide. The language here says you may get
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          2  disciplined, it may not be a crime and you will only

          3  probably result in disciplinary action.

          4                 In the guide that you mentioned, you

          5  said it's strictly prohibited. So, in the Student

          6  Guide it's basically sort of gray.

          7                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, it's

          8  not gray. It's prohibited. It's a guideline. It's

          9  prohibited. We look at it and Discharge Review Board

         10  would certainly examine that closely, and you're

         11  prohibited from using deadly physical force against

         12  a vehicle, if, in fact, there is no force, other

         13  than the vehicle being used against you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: But the Patrol

         15  Guide uses stronger language than the language that

         16  is currently used in the Students Guide.

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: And what's

         18  your point?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: My point is

         20  that it's -- I would think that both guides would be

         21  consistent, because the Student Guide gives a lot of

         22  discretion, and it's unclear. It gives the

         23  impression that you can shoot at a moving car, and

         24  the only consequence is that there will be

         25  disciplinary action. It says that clearly.
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          2                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

          3  certainly. The consequence of violating our rules

          4  could be disciplinary action.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I recognize

          6  that. But, again, in your Patrol Guide, it said it

          7  is "prohibited."

          8                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: You know,

          9  we'll take a look at that. I don't really see it as

         10  a major issue, but we'll take a look at it.

         11                 People know that it's against our

         12  regulations to do that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Going to

         14  promotions, you talked about how getting into OCCB

         15  -- OOCB is based on the number of arrests. In fact,

         16  I think you said something like it's based on above

         17  average number of arrests. Is that a factor?

         18                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Sometimes,

         19  yes. It's one of the factors you look at.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, the

         21  question is whether or not these arrests result in

         22  convictions; do you ever look at whether or not

         23  these arrests are thrown out because they're in

         24  violation of the Constitution? Whether or not

         25  they're thrown out because they're just bad arrests?
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          2  You just base it on arrests, not based on whether or

          3  not the arrest is a good arrest, and it's based on

          4  fact.

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: We take a

          6  look at obviously a general record of an officer to

          7  move into an assignment like that. Arrests are one

          8  factor. It's difficult to always monitor the

          9  disposition of arrests. Just the actual ability to

         10  do that. Arrests can be dismissed, they can be

         11  negotiated down for a different charge. I think that

         12  is a criteria that is difficult to monitor.

         13                 Now, if discipline results as a

         14  result of arrests that are made, that's something

         15  that shows up on an officer's record, you know, we'd

         16  be checking that out as well.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: The question

         18  that I have, and that I've heard from officers, is

         19  that there is this pressure to make arrests, and

         20  that arrests are based on promotion, and that the

         21  only way to get anywhere within the ranks is to make

         22  arrests. And with the crime being down, and with the

         23  pressure to make this arrest, and these are

         24  unofficial policies, that individuals are making

         25  arrests at all costs.
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          2                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, we

          3  don't look specifically at that.

          4                 We look at the Commanding Officer's

          5  recommendation. Depends on the situation in a

          6  particular command, it may be a situation where

          7  arrests are indicative of good work. It may be an

          8  area that arrests are not necessarily called for.

          9  So, we look at the overall performance of an

         10  officer, and what the Commanding Officer's

         11  assessment is of that individual.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And what is the

         13  demographic breakdown of the undercover officers,

         14  specifically OOCB and the other undercover?

         15                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I would

         16  prefer not to get into that. But I can tell you that

         17  is pretty mixed, more mixed than you might think.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, when you

         19  say mixed, you cited 2001, the census, but obviously

         20  the census has changed, and now the most recent

         21  numbers indicate that the number of people of color

         22  have increased in the City of New York and now

         23  represent the majority. And so the question is

         24  whether or not the ranks reflect the diversity in

         25  the City of New York.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Please finish up

          3  after this question.

          4                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: As far as

          5  the undercover officers?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

          7                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, they

          8  do.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: But you don't

         10  have specific information?

         11                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, I

         12  have specific information. I prefer not to put it

         13  out in the public session.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay. And my

         15  last question is, you talked about the two-drink

         16  minimum. How many, this is a two drink minimum at

         17  each and every operation for undercover?

         18                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It depends

         19  on the situation. It depends on you're going into a

         20  particular establishment where that would be

         21  appropriate for investigation.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: But how many

         23  locations do undercover officers go in during any

         24  given night?

         25                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, it's
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          2  hard to say. It depends on the case. And, again, we

          3  have supervisors involved that are engaged with

          4  these officers.

          5                 So, I mean, it's not a situation

          6  where, you know, you're going from place-to-place

          7  where you're in communication with a supervisor.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And my last

          9  point is, again, going to the Students Guide, which

         10  also talks about bias, and, in fact, really confirms

         11  what Council Member Foster had said.

         12                 In your own Student Guide it said

         13  that changing patterns of prejudice that are part of

         14  US history are reflected in major organizations and

         15  institutions, including urban and rural Police

         16  Departments across the country. The efforts of the

         17  NYPD to overcome bias within its ranks have been

         18  accompanied by their attempts to treat the police in

         19  an even-handed and bias-free manner, but it is

         20  recognized that even open-minded and

         21  well-intentioned individuals are likely to carry the

         22  burden of history on their shoulders, regardless of

         23  their education, political orientation and color of

         24  their skin. Subtle and over forms of bias and

         25  discrimination continue to live in our
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          2  consciousness, not matter who we are and what our

          3  roles are in the social system.

          4                 So, it would suggest that despite the

          5  color and/or race of the shooter, that we are all

          6  subject of our condition, we all hold stereotypes

          7  and bias, again, runs across the spectrum and that

          8  just because a shooter is black doesn't necessarily

          9  mean that that individual unfortunately is not

         10  subject to the same condition that you're subject

         11  to.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         13  again, Council member.

         14                 Let me again remind people we have at

         15  least seven more Council members, probably seven

         16  panels of people waiting to testify. I appreciate

         17  everyone's concern here, and we know we can all ask

         18  questions, as can I, for hours, but out of deference

         19  to your fellow Council members, certain Council

         20  members don't have any, but out of deference to your

         21  fellow Council members, please limit the questioning

         22  to five minutes. Any follow-up questions can be sent

         23  to the Commissioner. I will do that.

         24                 Commissioner, let me just say also,

         25  somebody mentioned your resignation. Larry Seabrook
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          2  speaks for the Civil Rights Committee, I speak for

          3  the Public Safety Committee and Speaker Quinn speaks

          4  for the entire Council, and we support you 100

          5  percent. I just thought you should know that.

          6                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

          8  Jackson has left, but Council Member Dickens.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Was I called,

         10  Chair?

         11                 All right. Thank you so much, Chairs.

         12  And thank you, Commissioner, for your testimony.

         13                 First, I have a statement, short

         14  statement, and then a question based on that.

         15                 Prejudices are frequently and usually

         16  developed in our youth by the time they're ten. And

         17  by the time as we get older, it's just enhanced.

         18  Prejudices can be race, gender preference,

         19  economics, so it's only reasonable to recognize this

         20  fact.

         21                 That's a little piggyback on Council

         22  Member Foster, because in recognizing this fact, the

         23  issue is who is doing the training at the Academy,

         24  and how, how do we assess the recruits that go into

         25  the Academy, to ensure as best we can that each
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          2  recruit can respectfully patrol communities of

          3  color.

          4                 Having said that, racial profiling is

          5  very much alive and well and can be done by anyone

          6  against anyone. So, even if the first shooter was a

          7  minority does not mean they do not profile.

          8                 My question goes a little more to

          9  preventive rather than reactive. The OCCB and the

         10  Firearms Discharge Review Board, who are the members

         11  of those two boards? Are they members of the NYPD?

         12                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right.

         14  Would you provide the Committee, not at the public

         15  hearing, but the Committee with the breakdown by

         16  race of the members percentage-wise of the OCCB and

         17  the Firearms Discharge Review Board?

         18                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, I

         19  told you who the members were in my prepared

         20  statements.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: The breakdown

         22  percentage-wise by race?

         23                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, we'll

         24  provide that for you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: That's what I
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          2  was asking.

          3                 Now, let me ask you, would you

          4  consider, or would you oppose, and maybe you have

          5  also considered this, have you had a discussion with

          6  this Administration about the expansion about the

          7  OCCB Board and the Firearms Discharge Review Board

          8  to include borough-by-borough, because if an officer

          9  is seeking advancement in a borough, then maybe

         10  borough, or maybe where he has worked prior, would

         11  you consider to expand those boards to include maybe

         12  a borough-by-borough clergy or other borough

         13  community person chosen by others not associated

         14  with the Police Department?

         15                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Which

         16  board are you talking about?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: I'm talking

         18  about the OCCB Board and the Firearms Discharge.

         19                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Okay, we

         20  don't have an OCCB Board. The Firearms Discharge

         21  Board we do have on a borough basis, advisory board.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: The Organized

         23  Crime Control Bureau then?

         24                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, that

         25  is part of the Department. Uniformed members of the
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          2  Department.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: So then only

          4  uniformed members could be part of the Bureau?

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

          6  they're police officers, they have an enforcement

          7  function.

          8                 You know, I don't see it as allowing

          9  for the community participation. We get community

         10  feedback and participation in a lot of different

         11  ways that certainly would impact on Organized Crime

         12  Control Bureau's operation. But to have them

         13  specifically involved in the day-to-day operation, I

         14  do see that as being practical.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: So then the

         16  Organized Crime Control Bureau would not be able to

         17  have -- and I'm not talking about just open to the

         18  public, my question is, is it possible, or is there

         19  a prevention within the rules or law that prevents

         20  someone other than a uniformed officer from being a

         21  part of the Organized Crime Control Bureau, or the

         22  Firearms Discharge Review Board?

         23                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: We do. The

         24  Firearms Discharge Review Board has civilian members

         25  of the Department. For instance, our General
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          2  Counsel, Deputy Commissioner of Legal Matters,

          3  Deputy Commissioner of Training, who are civilians,

          4  they're involved in firearms discharge review

          5  process.

          6                 We have Deputy Commissioners, we've

          7  increased the number of Deputy Commissioners who,

          8  certainly who haven't been sworn police officers in

          9  the past who have joined the ranks of the

         10  Department.

         11                 So, we've expanded that universe of

         12  people coming from outside of the Department who

         13  have significant high-level management positions in

         14  the Department.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: But they are

         16  managers within the Department. I was really

         17  referring to unity or clergy. Someone who is not

         18  employed or part of management of the NYPD?

         19                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I just

         20  don't see it as a practical means to function.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Now, do I

         22  understand that for basically plainclothes course,

         23  it's a three-day course; did I understand that on

         24  page three of your testimony?

         25                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes. When
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          2  you say plainclothes, these are officers who work

          3  out of uniform, but could go in uniform. In other

          4  words, the Precinct Anti Crime Unit, officers who

          5  are in the patrol force but work in plainclothes in

          6  a particular assignment in their commands.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: So, the basic

          8  plainclothes course that's three days, what does

          9  that encompass? Is that a course that's for someone

         10  seeking to go into plainclothes? I don't understand.

         11  Who is it that takes that three-day course?

         12                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: People who

         13  are assigned, maybe presently, or could be assigned

         14  to a plainclothes function.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right,

         16  outreach. What is outreach to minority officers

         17  within the NYPD to encourage promotions or

         18  advancement to whatever, tests, and add -- are there

         19  preparations for the tests?

         20                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes. The

         21  organizations themselves, for instance, the

         22  Guardians Associations Organization,

         23  African-American Officers, Hispanic Officers

         24  Associations, those groups have promotion courses

         25  that they run. There are other courses, as well,
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          2  that are available for people to study for the

          3  promotion exams.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: And on page

          5  one of the testimony, you talked about the Penal Law

          6  Article 35, and the Patrol Guide that has differing.

          7  Now, the Penal Law Article 35, is that State Penal

          8  Code?

          9                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes,

         10  Ma'am.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: And, so, if a

         12  police officer should on the street make a personal

         13  decision as to when and what type of deadly force is

         14  used, then after the fact, actually by law, it would

         15  go by the Penal Law Article 35 and not the Patrol

         16  Guide; is that correct?

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

         18  internally it would go according to the Patrol

         19  Guide. We have our own internal rules and

         20  regulations.

         21                 As far as a potential criminal

         22  penalty, it is to be governed by the Penal Law.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right. I

         24  just wanted to be clear on that.

         25                 And the last thing is, my final
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          2  question is on the Academy's training. What within

          3  the training, maybe you won't be able to tell me

          4  today, has a component that allows for us or for you

          5  really to understand the way a recruit thinks. In

          6  other words, his racial bias. Rather than to just

          7  say, because if you asked me, well, do you like

          8  Asians, do you like Latinos, I'm going to answer

          9  absolutely. So, I want to know, other than just

         10  asking it on a test, and I answer the way I know you

         11  want to hear it, then what other assessment do we

         12  have, or we can be assured of to limit those persons

         13  who are unable to hold back their racial prejudices

         14  and patrol our communities of color with respect?

         15                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Before we

         16  hire anyone, they go through a whole battery of

         17  psychological tests, and they also sit down with a

         18  psychologist. It's a face-to-face interview. It's

         19  obviously one of the issues, one of the factors

         20  that's involved in determined whether or not the

         21  individual was psychologically qualified for a

         22  position with the Police Department.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: How long is

         24  that? Is it a one test, two test, is it done over

         25  the course of the year?
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          2                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It's one

          3  day. It's an all day battery of tests.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: One day.

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: And then

          6  there is a face-to-face interview with a

          7  psychologist.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Random stops

          9  in the communities, which frequently is -- on the

         10  streets, which is frequently in communities of

         11  color, and the demand for ID, is there anything

         12  written that gives the policy on how that is

         13  determined on the random stops for ID demand?

         14                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

         15  there is a section in the law that allows this

         16  function to take place, the stop, question and

         17  frisk. And it says if an officer has reasonable

         18  suspicion that a crime has been committed, or is

         19  being committed, that he can stop and question

         20  someone in a public place, and if they can

         21  articulate concern for their safety, a limited

         22  patdown. That's authorized in the law, in the Penal

         23  Law by the State.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Commissioner,

         25  that's being abused, by the way. That's the end of
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          2  my questions. I've been told I have to stop. Thank

          3  you. Thank you so much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And thank you,

          5  Council member. It's quite refreshing to actually

          6  hear questions about improving undercover training,

          7  which is why we're here. So, thank you very much for

          8  those questions.

          9                 I also would like to recognize we've

         10  been joined by Assemblymember Scarborough, who has

         11  been here for awhile. Thank you for joining us. And

         12  also up here on the dais by Council Member Jim

         13  Gennaro.

         14                 Commissioner, how many undercover

         15  operations would you say throughout all of the

         16  divisions would occur in any given year?

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It's hard

         18  to say. Maybe a couple thousand.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And what

         20  percentage of those would have an incidence that

         21  would need to be investigated, or an incident that

         22  should not have occurred?

         23                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, I

         24  don't know what you mean should not have occurred.

         25  It may be a debriefing, it may be something that,
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          2  you know, the supervisors seek to improve on.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: How many result

          4  in a shooting that should not have occurred?

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: A

          6  shooting?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes.

          8                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Very small

          9  number, but there are some.

         10                 I mean, when you say should not have

         11  occurred, you're not saying should not have

         12  occurred; how many involved a shooting? A small

         13  number.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.

         15                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: And they

         16  are thoroughly investigated. All our shootings are.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And regarding

         18  shootings in general, can you give us some

         19  statistics about police shootings this year, as

         20  opposed to past years, and also comparing that to

         21  other jurisdictions?

         22                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, I

         23  can tell you I have it written down here some place,

         24  and we can send you the specifics, but in 1973 had

         25  54 fatal shootings in the Police Department.
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          2                 As I said in my prepared remarks, we

          3  averaged 12 fatal shootings from 2001 on. In the

          4  nineties we averaged 25 fatal shootings. As I said,

          5  we have generally speaking the lowest ratio per

          6  thousand officers of fatal shootings of any big City

          7  in America.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, thank you.

          9                 Council Member Sanders.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,

         11  Chair Vallone. Thank you, Chair Seabrook, for this

         12  very important hearing.

         13                 Good afternoon, Commissioner. How are

         14  you, sir?

         15                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Good.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Good.

         17                 As the Councilperson of two of the

         18  three shooting victims, I especially am interested

         19  in what's going on here.

         20                 Let me state some things that I've

         21  heard from my community, and let me first start by

         22  saying that it's good that we see our Assemblyman

         23  here, our Assemblyman Scarborough, and we see our

         24  District Leader Elma Blackburn is also here from my

         25  district, among other people.
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          2                 Of course, there should be undercover

          3  cops. My position is that there is a need and

          4  certainly there is a need. $25,000 as a starting pay

          5  for the Police Department is almost outrageous, and

          6  we should do everything we can to raise that.

          7                 There are many fine officers on the

          8  Police Department serving in a very difficult

          9  capacity, and most of them do very well for our

         10  City.

         11                 The RAND study is a good idea of

         12  contagious firing. It's a good idea.

         13                 What is your latest thinking, sir, in

         14  terms of the glock 9 millimeter, versus other

         15  weapons? Do we still want to hold onto the glock?

         16  There were some questions when it first was phased

         17  in that the glock may lead to more firing and more

         18  shootings; how about a heavier trigger pull or

         19  something of that nature for the glock?

         20                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, the

         21  glock is not the only semi-automatic handgun that we

         22  have, we have Smith and Wesson. I think the reality

         23  is that the firepower that officers run into out in

         24  the street these days mandate that we have a

         25  semi-automatic handgun available for police officers
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          2  that has a magazine capacity of 15 rounds. That's

          3  the nature of the world that they operate in these

          4  days.

          5                 In terms of a trigger pull, that was

          6  adjusted many years ago. It was actually called a

          7  New York State trigger where they tightened up on

          8  the trigger pull, glock specifically, so you might

          9  be referring to that. But that's the type of thing

         10  that our firearms range. Our Commanding Officer who

         11  is here now, they are very cognizant of it, they

         12  look at those things on an ongoing basis. But if

         13  you're talking about limiting the number of rounds

         14  that officers have, I just don't think that's

         15  realistic.

         16                 At one time, this is when I was

         17  Commissioner last time, we were introducing

         18  semi-automatic weapons and I had proposed, because

         19  there was opposition to it, I had proposed, since

         20  there was a concern about over-shooting, that we

         21  limit the capacity of the magazines. That was not

         22  adopted by the next Administration. And I don't

         23  think we should go back to that.

         24                 That was an effort that I thought

         25  would have eased the introduction of semi-automatic
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          2  handguns into use by the Department, but I don't

          3  think it's appropriate in this day and age.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: As a former

          5  Marine, as you are, sir, I have fired these weapons,

          6  and I understand a little bit of the difficulties of

          7  firing and firing them accurately. How about the

          8  question of tactics house and tactics village? How

          9  are we going to strengthen the idea of more

         10  realistic or life-like problems that the officers

         11  may confront on the streets?

         12                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, as

         13  you say, we do have a tactics house and tactic

         14  village. We're looking for more FATS machines,

         15  FireArms Training Simulators. We've asked for money

         16  to do that. I think that may be helpful.

         17                 New Police Academy, we're certainly

         18  encouraged by the Mayor's statement in the State of

         19  the City message that he's committed to that. That

         20  will give us more space, give us the ability to do

         21  more scenario-based training. We think that's very

         22  important. We're doing a lot of that now, but there

         23  are space limitations that prevent us from doing

         24  that.

         25                 But the whole notion of using
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          2  simunition, which I mentioned in my prepared

          3  remarks, doing actual scenario-based training is one

          4  I think is very beneficial, one that I totally

          5  support.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: With your

          7  permission, I will question Chief Izzo. I had a

          8  question or two about what I believe are a culture,

          9  I believe that there is a problem of the elite

         10  units, with we have created a culture which

         11  denigrates other cultures and says that there are

         12  certain things that are acceptable to happen to

         13  certain communities that are not acceptable in other

         14  areas.

         15                 Now, the only way that one could deal

         16  with, the only way that you can really train a

         17  person to deal with those issues. The only what that

         18  you can deal with that are the questions of C&C,

         19  Command and Control, sir, where people at the top

         20  have to ensure that the troops carry out the action.

         21                 For example, when your undercovers

         22  miss mandatory firing practices, yet are allowed to

         23  go out into the field, we're sending a message.

         24  We're sending a message that certain requirements

         25  are not really accepted. I don't want to speak of
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          2  the Bell case in particular, but we both know that

          3  four or five of the officers missed the mandatory,

          4  the last mandatory shooting that they were supposed

          5  to go to. Isn't this a loosening of C&C, sir,

          6  Command and Control from the top?

          7                 CHIEF IZZO: There's a myriad of

          8  reasons why some of our personnel miss a scheduled

          9  training session. New York State mandates that our

         10  police officers, I guess throughout the State, go to

         11  one training session per year. Each one of those

         12  officers I think that you're alluding to in fact

         13  went to that one training session here.

         14                 The NYPD mandates our people do twice

         15  that. And the whole calendar year hadn't run out, I

         16  have to remind you, in terms of measuring who, in

         17  fact, didn't finish the second component of the

         18  training for the calendar year.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Commander, I

         20  return to an understanding that people are having on

         21  the ground, that most of these problems that we're

         22  having are coming from the elite units, is coming

         23  from units where people are being chosen because

         24  they are very assertive, because they are able to

         25  dominate a situation when it needs to be dominated.
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          2                 If that's the case, if most of these

          3  problems are coming from these elite units, and not

          4  the so-called beat cop, every day cop on the street,

          5  then I would encourage the Administration to look at

          6  what is happening in these units and what is

          7  happening with the oversight of these units.

          8                 Would it be a fair assumption to say

          9  that most of this is coming from, based on

         10  statistics, of course, most of this is coming from

         11  these units, sir?

         12                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Most of

         13  what?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: The

         15  shootings, the problems that lead us to have

         16  hearings like we're having today?

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Most of

         18  the shootings that we have happened in patrol force.

         19  So, that's not the case.

         20                 The shooting, again, I want to stay

         21  away from this most recent incident.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Of course.

         23                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: But the

         24  vast majority of shootings that the Department is

         25  involved in happened in Patrol Service Bureau
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          2  personnel.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: My last point

          4  is that, I don't know how this is tied to the

          5  Civilian Complaint Review Board, which everyone, the

          6  Mayor has agreed to strengthen, and I trust that

          7  everyone in here agrees that it needs to be

          8  strengthened, but strengthening is not enough.

          9                 When you have 97 percent of the

         10  allegations that go to the CCRB, which are

         11  dismissed, and of the three percent that are ruled

         12  by the CCRB to have some validity, their

         13  recommendations are reduced. That is sending a sign

         14  to everyone that there is no one to fear. A servient

         15  expression is, "The Emperor is high and God is far

         16  away." Under those conditions we're going to be back

         17  here on another day with this.

         18                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: The

         19  allegations, the allegations that go to the CCRB,

         20  are investigated by their own investigators. They

         21  have a substantiation rate now of below three

         22  percent. In their own investigations. We're not

         23  investigating them. The Civilian Complaint Review

         24  Board is doing those investigations.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: No, I'm
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          2  clear.

          3                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Again, I

          4  mean you're talking to the Police Department. We

          5  then take those three percent. We look at them

          6  objectively. We have a disciplinary process. People

          7  are disciplined, but they're also entitled to

          8  rights, as far as the rest of the disciplinary

          9  process is concerned.

         10                 So, I think the CCRB is a vital tool.

         11  I think it's important, a safety valve, as we said

         12  before. There are things that police officers do

         13  that not everybody understandably is happy with, and

         14  I think at the advent of 3-1-1, with the

         15  proliferation of cell phones, people who are stopped

         16  by the police, who are given a summons, can now much

         17  more easily register a complaint. And that's not

         18  necessarily a bad thing by any means. But I just

         19  want to re-emphasize the fact that the

         20  unsubstantiated rate of 97 percent or whatever you

         21  used, is coming as a result of CCRB's own internal

         22  investigation.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Well, I'm

         24  fully aware of that, sir, and I'm just pointing it

         25  out, why people on the street, why people on the
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          2  ground believe that there is no real redress of

          3  grievance. I don't think that it's a question of

          4  perception, sir. I don't think that we simply have a

          5  perception, becomes reality problem. I think that

          6  there is a real problem. We can argue over the depth

          7  of the problem, we can argue over how widespread the

          8  problem is, but until we are ready to grasp the fact

          9  that we have a real problem on the ground, we're not

         10  going to get out of it. A symptom of that is the

         11  place that is supposed to be a safety valve, CCRB,

         12  it defies logic. If you're going to say that 97

         13  percent of all complaints that come before you, if

         14  you said 50 percent, maybe. If you said 60 perhaps.

         15  But if you say 97 percent, mathematicians will say

         16  that even the people of New York are quite foolish

         17  and have nothing to do or there is a real problem

         18  afoot.

         19                 And it is not your direct domain,

         20  sir, but if you're closing a safety valve, we're all

         21  going to be in a world of problems.

         22                 I'll end with this one. I'll end by

         23  saying that it goes back to the basic idea that

         24  somebody has to be in charge. And if there is a

         25  situation where units are not being perceived as
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          2  being courteous and respectful and professional to

          3  the people of New York City, all people, equally,

          4  then someone has to be in charge of that, and

          5  someone has to say the buck is going to stop here.

          6                 I'm for assertive policing. I always

          7  have been. I am not for aggressive policing.

          8  Aggressive policing merely aids the criminals.

          9  Merely says that if you grab everyone, and you treat

         10  everyone as a criminal, then all you're doing is

         11  making sure that the good people are not going to

         12  come forward and they're not going to speak of it.

         13                 In the Marines we, of course, said

         14  "shoot them all and let God sort out who is guilty

         15  and who is innocent." If this is a mindset, and, of

         16  course, I'm not saying shoot them all here, if there

         17  is a mindset, as I conclude, of grabbing all people

         18  and shaking them upside down, turning them upside

         19  down and something will fall out of three percent,

         20  you've made 97 percent are going to say we want no

         21  part. And that merely strengthens the criminals, it

         22  does not strengthen the people of this City, of any

         23  community.

         24                 Thank you very much, Commissioner,

         25  sir.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

          4  Mark-Viverito.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Thank

          6  you. And good afternoon. I just wanted to get some

          7  clarity on the information that you presented in

          8  your testimony, with regards to the basic firearms

          9  training and tactical firearms training.

         10                 You then expand and you say that it's

         11  basically to understand the weapon and shooting

         12  accurately and the skill of escalating force, et

         13  cetera. The last sentence you said, recruits who do

         14  not pass the course receiving tutoring and remedial

         15  instruction and are allowed to requalify.

         16                 I would like to know if you could

         17  give us a sense of the percentages of those who do

         18  not pass the test at first and who need that

         19  remedial training?

         20                 I mean, I guess this would be of

         21  concern, because the things you're specifically

         22  supposed to be training on are important and

         23  critical, and basically if somebody doesn't pass it

         24  --

         25                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: They have
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          2  to take a written test on justification. They have

          3  to get it right 100 percent. Now, we're talking

          4  about moving to actually shoot a weapon.

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Good

          6  afternoon. Deputy Inspector Hurley, Commanding

          7  Officer of Firearms and Tactic Section.

          8                 Yes, we have less than, generally

          9  have less than five percent failure rate on the

         10  initial basic firearms training.

         11                 All officers must successfully

         12  complete the basic firearms training before their

         13  allowed to go on to the five-day tactical firearms

         14  training.

         15                 If the officers fail to successfully

         16  qualify, the fifth day of their basic training is

         17  when they qualify, if they fail to qualify at that

         18  point, it is generally depending on the class size,

         19  it is generally a five-week period between when

         20  their group of companies will come up for the

         21  advanced training. They receive remedial training,

         22  generally at our Police Academy range, on their own

         23  time, where they get one-on-one instruction. And

         24  generally we qualify all of our officers at this

         25  point.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: So,

          3  there's a three-phase is what you're saying,

          4  correct? Okay, so, you're saying the first phase on

          5  average, the percentage that don't pass is five

          6  percent?

          7                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Less than

          8  five.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Less

         10  than five at that first phase, okay.

         11                 And then by the time they get to the

         12  second phase, what's around the average of those

         13  that do not pass that second phase.

         14                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: During our

         15  last recruit class, all who failed the basic and

         16  went back for the remedial training were

         17  successfully qualified before they came back up to

         18  the basic training.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay. I

         20  just wanted to get clarity in terms of what we're

         21  looking at there.

         22                 You then say further in your

         23  testimony that each patrol borough has a designated

         24  shooting team which is responsible for investigating

         25  all firearms discharges. Is there a number that you
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          2  can give us in terms of the number of firearms? I

          3  don't know if that was mentioned earlier, but in

          4  terms of firearms discharges for last year?

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Firearms

          6  fired?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Well,

          8  you're saying that this shooting team is responsible

          9  for investigating all firearm discharges. So, I

         10  guess my question is, what were the number of

         11  firearm -- how many investigations happened last

         12  year, which is based on the number of shootings.

         13                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: 126.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Excuse

         15  me?

         16                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: 126.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Then

         18  further you say the Commanding Officer of the

         19  Borough Investigation Unit will provide a

         20  recommendation regarding whether the shooting was

         21  within or outside Department guidelines. How many,

         22  again, of those shootings were within and without,

         23  outside of Department guidelines?

         24                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: The

         25  majority are within. I can't give it to you off the
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          2  top of my head. We can get that number for you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: This

          4  really I guess touches back on what the prior

          5  colleagues had mentioned with regards to the, what

          6  the repercussions would be. You know, if there

          7  really is no mechanism in place that kind of

          8  reprimands for misconduct, or has serious

          9  repercussions for misconduct, what is the greater

         10  message that we're sending? And that is ultimately

         11  the concern.

         12                 The mission of the Police Department

         13  as stated in the website is partnership with the

         14  community in helping reduce crime, and I think that

         15  is very much the critical aspect. And when we talk

         16  about recommendations, how we can improve on the

         17  training, I'm not an expert in these things. I don't

         18  think it's within my reason to tell you exactly what

         19  that training should be, but I believe very strongly

         20  that ultimately how we improve training and how we

         21  break down these perceptions, which are real, which

         22  are very real, is by really collaborating

         23  extensively with the community, and involving the

         24  community in all levels in that process. That's

         25  critical.
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          2                 I represent a Latino district, the

          3  majority are Latino, and I have many people that

          4  come to me and that are expressing complaints with

          5  regards to discourteousness and also with the way

          6  they're approached and addressed, and that's the

          7  reality which we have to address.

          8                 I have developed a very good working

          9  relationship with my precincts. I think that the

         10  Commanding Officers have been very receptive. Again,

         11  it goes both ways. I try to go to roll calls, I try

         12  to talk to the rookies that go to the beat, because

         13  I do have high-impact zones. That's the way. But I

         14  think that has to be incorporated more greatly, and

         15  it has to be something that comes from the top down.

         16                 So, I think that when we talk about

         17  improving undercover training specifically, I think

         18  in general some of the greater issues we're dealing

         19  with here can be addressed in other ways. And I hear

         20  a lot of some of the elders that talk about, oh,

         21  well, I remember when the beat officer used to know

         22  me by name. Our City has grown, I understand that's

         23  more difficult, but I think the message you get is

         24  about that cordiality, that knowing each other, that

         25  sense of community and being able to have a
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          2  cooperative working relationship which seems to be

          3  missing.

          4                 You don't have youth officers much

          5  anymore, our community officers are very much

          6  strained. There is only maybe one or two a precinct.

          7  They're not there 24 hours a day. You know, these

          8  are things that I really think need to be looked at,

          9  and we need to seriously engage in that, if we're

         10  going to break down what has been discussed here.

         11                 Lastly, what I will say, and I just

         12  want to really validate what Council Member Foster

         13  said and Tish James expanded on, with regards to,

         14  that just because you're Latino or African-American

         15  does not mean that you are not biased. You know,

         16  you're talking about an institutional structure, and

         17  a lot of these behaviors are patterns of behavior

         18  that are institutionalized and will be reproduced

         19  and will be mimicked, regardless of what you look

         20  like, and those are the patterns that we have to

         21  break down.

         22                 So, with that, I think my ultimate

         23  message is about the community partnership aspect is

         24  something that we need to reinforce and really bring

         25  back to the Police Department.
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          2                 Oh, I'm sorry, I have a question. Do

          3  you oversee also, because with the merger you do

          4  oversee the Housing Police, correct?

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay,

          7  so when you talk about all this training, people

          8  that graduate from these programs, or become

          9  undercover officers, et cetera, that also goes over

         10  into the Housing, as well?

         11                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes,

         12  Ma'am.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay. I

         14  know we mentioned it to Council Member Seabrook, but

         15  Housing Police in general I think is a whole other

         16  hearing that we may have to have.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         19  Council Member Liu.

         20                 Council Member Mealy.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Good afternoon,

         22  Commissioner Kelly and staff. I just want to say, I

         23  commend you for saying that the new recruits should

         24  be paid much more money, because their life -- I

         25  went through the training, just as well, citizen,
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          2  and I just want to ask you two questions and I have

          3  a statement.

          4                 With regards to, I can say the City

          5  is, you know this is the melting pot, and with that

          6  I want to ask you a yes or no question. If the Sean

          7  Bell incident did not happen, do you think Deputy

          8  Chief Banks and Chief Nelson of the Brooklyn North

          9  and Deputy Magery, and I believe some other

         10  Lieutenants and Sergeants, if that didn't happen,

         11  were their promotions on your desks? Were they about

         12  to be put in those positions?

         13                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY:

         14  Absolutely. And you've got to look at my record and

         15  answer that question. I understand you're new to the

         16  Council, but absolutely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Because I know

         18  I was one to charge on that with Brooklyn North, if

         19  this is the melting pot of the City, why not let it

         20  reflect that in our chiefs? So, I'm glad, just by

         21  that one promotion, we have a lot of new

         22  African-Americans in great positions now, and I

         23  thank you for that.

         24                 And I just wanted to piggy-back on

         25  Councilman Charles Barron, he said after the
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          2  stop-n-frisk, the DA give you all the people who

          3  they stopped, right? The DAs' department?

          4                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I don't

          5  understand that, Ma'am.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Could you tell

          7  me what's the number on that form? Yes or no. Yes or

          8  no. When a police officer stops and frisks an

          9  individual, they should fill out a report right then

         10  and there?

         11                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes,

         12  Ma'am.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: True or not?

         14                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: But majority,

         16  they do not.

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, they

         18  do.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: I have watched

         20  them numerous times.

         21                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: They do.

         22  They don't necessarily do it immediately at the

         23  scene, but they do make out a form. We call it, 250

         24  is the in-house term, and they certainly do, and one

         25  of the things Chief Esposito has certainly
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          2  emphasized, people make out those forms whenever

          3  they stop somebody. As a result, we're doing a much

          4  better job of documenting stops than we ever had

          5  before.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Could you tell

          7  me why they don't do it right then?

          8                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I mean --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: I know it's

         10  kind of time consuming, but the individuals that are

         11  getting stopped --

         12                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I mean, I

         13  don't know how many you've watched and I don't know

         14  what the circumstances are at a particular

         15  situation. Sometimes it could be somewhat

         16  tumultuous, but they are making out those forms to a

         17  much greater degree ever made out before. I would

         18  hope that it's 100 percent compliance. I can't swear

         19  to it, but we certainly are complying at a much

         20  higher rate than ever before.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Okay. Why is it

         22  that it has to go through the DAs' Department?

         23                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It doesn't

         24  go through the DA, Ma'am.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Well, you get
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          2  your W50 forms filled out after the DA -- if it's an

          3  incident, it went to the DA, if they did stop and

          4  frisk someone.

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, I

          6  think you're mixing a couple of things here.

          7                 The 250 form does not go to the

          8  District Attorney. It's an internal Police

          9  Department form.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Okay.

         11                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: We now

         12  have a means of putting it into a computer and

         13  memorializing it.

         14                 We didn't have it before, it was a

         15  paper form. That's what I was talking about before.

         16  There was a court decision, Daniels case, an

         17  agreement where those forms would be memorialized

         18  and the numbers would be sent over here to the

         19  Council. We're doing that, but we're now able to do

         20  that on a more automated fashion. So, that's why we

         21  have the 2006 numbers where we don't have it for

         22  2004 and 2005. We're still putting them in.

         23                 As far as the District Attorney is

         24  concerned, sometimes this issue comes up as to why

         25  we don't speak to officers who fire their weapons.
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          2  And the reason for that is that if we do speak to

          3  them, we being the employer, the Police Department,

          4  we could give them a form of immunity for any

          5  potential criminal prosecution that might come from

          6  the use of that weapon.

          7                 So, as a result, District Attorneys

          8  ask us not to speak to officers if they've used

          9  deadly or physical force.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Okay, I just

         11  want to make a statement. When I came in there was a

         12  lot of people saying the perceptions of racial

         13  profiling really does not exist. I have to beg to

         14  differ. So many children in my neighborhood, and

         15  that's Bedford Stuyvesant, Brownsville, are stopped

         16  and frisked for no reason.

         17                 I don't understand why. It could be

         18  on the corner drug dealers right across the street,

         19  but here a young man coming from a store for their

         20  parents, and the police will just jump out of the

         21  car, stop, frisk them and then just drive off, when

         22  you can practically see what they're doing right

         23  across the street.

         24                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: The law

         25  allows the police to stop and question someone --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Anyone.

          3                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, no --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: So, if a young

          5  man is across the street, why not?

          6                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No. If

          7  they reasonably suspect that they have or are

          8  committing a crime.

          9                 Now, often times there's a

         10  description of people that are put out on a police

         11  radio, something happened in the neighborhood, and

         12  they may be responding to that, to the description

         13  that was transmitted. So, it's not just a question

         14  of stopping anyone you feel like at random. It has

         15  to be based on information. Maybe we need to do a

         16  better job of getting that out, but it is -- it's

         17  fairly specific rules and regulation that govern

         18  this, but in the aggregate and the overall, people

         19  may see it as being totally without foundation.

         20                 Generally speaking, it isn't, we hope

         21  that it isn't, and we train to make certain that it

         22  isn't.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Okay, thank

         24  you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, let me
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          2  also remind Council members we will be having

          3  subsequent hearings on stop and frisk, community

          4  policing. Today's hearing is about undercovers.

          5                 We go now to Council Member Liu,

          6  Monserrate and Nelson to finish up.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chairman.

          9                 Thank you, Commissioner. I certainly

         10  commend you for the job that you have done for our

         11  City and any comparison to former Secretary Rumsfeld

         12  is ridiculous and totally unnecessary.

         13                 Let me ask you about the plainclothes

         14  officers that we have here in New York City. We have

         15  a lot of -- you've talked a lot about the training

         16  of undercover officers, but in our communities, or

         17  I'll say specifically in my community that I

         18  represent, there are a lot of plainclothes officers,

         19  and they are not, in most cases they are not

         20  identifiable by people in the community as being

         21  police officers. So, what kind of, and the reason I

         22  ask about this is, in this past year or two, I have

         23  seen a spike in the number of problems with my

         24  constituents with regard to interactions with

         25  plainclothes officers. So, what kind of training are
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          2  we giving the plainclothes officers? There have

          3  been, the problems that come up too often are

          4  interactions where members of the public have with

          5  the police, not knowing that they're police

          6  officers, and then it's possible they were not

          7  showing the most respect that they could have, but

          8  that's generally because they didn't have any idea

          9  that these were police officers that they were

         10  dealing with.

         11                 And then they, invariably, without

         12  exception so far, get written up with a disorderly

         13  conduct summons. And, so, I think that's a problem,

         14  and I'd like to just get a brief description of the

         15  kind of training that is specific to plainclothes

         16  officers, as opposed to uniformed officers.

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, I'd

         18  like for you to send me the specifics of those cases

         19  that you're talking about, in terms of plainclothes

         20  interactions with getting disorderly conduct

         21  summonses. But I would say --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And I have given

         23  your office some of the details of those cases.

         24                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: We'll look

         25  for it.
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          2                 But officers in plainclothes,

          3  generally speaking I would think that you may be

          4  talking about anti-crime officers who are assigned

          5  to a precinct. They are uniformed officers who are

          6  detailed to work in civilian clothes. They are

          7  focused primarily on street crime, robberies, grand

          8  larcenies, that sort of thing. And, yes, they do

          9  engage in some stop, question and frisk activity.

         10  They certainly are supposed to, and it's in their

         11  self-interest, their best interest, to identify

         12  themselves. The police officers usually put their

         13  shield around their neck.

         14                 Now, there are other units that are

         15  out there working in plainclothes, yes. Narcotics

         16  Division may be there, Gang Division has some people

         17  working in plainclothes. And that's clear as to, you

         18  know, who is working in say the 109th Precinct, if

         19  that's what you're talking about, and the incident

         20  you're specifically referencing. If you gave me that

         21  specific information, you say it's in the office,

         22  we'll take a look at it. More specific information.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: But what about

         24  the training?

         25                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: We talked
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          2  about it before. There's a three-day training

          3  course.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So there are

          5  plainclothes officers, or officers that are on duty

          6  in civilian clothing, go through the same training

          7  as the undercover officers?

          8                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No. They

          9  are, we talked about it before in my prepared

         10  remarks. Two ways of training for the plainclothes

         11  officers. These are tenured officers. These

         12  generally speaking have an experienced officer

         13  identified by their commanding officer as being, you

         14  know, well motivated, and they're putting them in

         15  civilian clothes for a particular function in

         16  anti-crime. Generally speaking, street robbery,

         17  street grand larceny-type of offenses.

         18                 I would say, you know, not knowing

         19  the specifics of a case you're talking about, I

         20  would say that that might be the officers you're

         21  referring to. And yes, they do receive three days of

         22  additional training.

         23                 Obviously, they've been to the Police

         24  Academy, they've gotten all of the other training

         25  that we've spoken about, as far as entry level is
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          2  concerned, and then we have this three-day course.

          3  We also put in place, I mentioned in my prepared

          4  remarks, a more refined course for officers who are

          5  more likely in plainclothes to encounter

          6  perpetrators. That's something we put in last

          7  summer. So, some of them have gotten that, certainly

          8  not everybody.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you. I

         10  would appreciate the opportunity to learn more about

         11  the specifics of the, what I call "plainclothes

         12  operations," but obviously, there are different

         13  programs or assignments within the Department.

         14                 But to the average person on the

         15  street, once they find out that the person they're

         16  dealing with is in fact the police officer, the

         17  person on the street, my constituent, they're just

         18  going to call them a plainclothes officer

         19  regardless.

         20                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I

         21  understand.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And then just

         23  briefly, to talk a little bit about your testimony,

         24  and this has come up with some of my colleagues

         25  already. And I want to bring this up, because it's
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          2  not just coming from your testimony, it's been out

          3  there quite a bit, the fact that the officers

          4  involved in this, in the Sean Bell incident, were

          5  African-American. It is, I believe that it's true

          6  that just because the victim is black doesn't mean

          7  that it's a racial incident.

          8                 But I also think it's true that just

          9  because the person doing the shooting is black,

         10  doesn't mean that it's not a racial incident. But,

         11  yet, your testimony, the only reason that you

         12  provide for asserting that it's not a racial

         13  incident is the fact that the police officers

         14  involved were black.

         15                 And, so, I think if we're really

         16  going to get at the heart of the problem here, I

         17  think we have to be clear on that point, that it is

         18  possible for, say, Asian officers or Asian

         19  individuals to hold a bias against Asians. And

         20  that's true of blacks, it's true of whites, it's

         21  true of Latinos, and it's hard to refute the reality

         22  that time and time again the person who is being

         23  shot is a black man. That's very, very difficult.

         24  You know, it's hard to say that it's an isolated

         25  incident when it just keeps happening time and time
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          2  again.

          3                 So, I think it's important for all of

          4  us to really just face that head on, and not try to

          5  gloss over it.

          6                 Any additional comments that you have

          7  would be appreciated, otherwise I think that's, Mr.

          8  Chairman, that's all I have to say.

          9                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: You're

         10  entitled to your opinion, sir. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

         12  Monserrate.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you

         14  very much, Mr. Chair. Good afternoon, Commissioner.

         15  Members of the Department, I will try to really just

         16  ask a couple of questions regarding Department

         17  Police. You've been explicit in your testimony and

         18  past public statements regarding two-drink maximum;

         19  is that correct? For undercovers? Or is that

         20  incorrect?

         21                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

         22  that's a guideline that we use, yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:

         24  Undercovers that are involved in operations.

         25                 Excuse me?
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          2                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It's a

          3  guideline that we use.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: It's a

          5  guideline.

          6                 And the supervisors are supposed to

          7  be -- who is in charge of supervising these officers

          8  if they're engaged in drinking while on duty during

          9  an undercover operation?

         10                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

         11  there is a team. You're a former member of the

         12  Department, you have some knowledge of this, there

         13  is a team. Obviously, the undercovers don't go out

         14  by themselves. They have back-ups. They have a team,

         15  an arrest team, depending on the nature of the

         16  operation. Supervisors are very much involved as

         17  well. No two operations are exactly alike.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Would

         19  there be a Sergeant or Lieutenant on the field who

         20  is responsible to ensure that --

         21                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It may be

         22  a Lieutenant, it may be a Sergeant, it may be a

         23  Sergeant and Lieutenant, depending on the size of

         24  the operation.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Now, with
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          2  response, or regards rather to the officers

          3  specifically in the undercover operations. And I

          4  want to be clear, I'm not specifically speaking

          5  about the Sean Bell incident. In general terms, as a

          6  practice in the Department, when the officers are

          7  engaged in consumption of alcohol in their

          8  undercover capacity, are they prohibited from

          9  carrying their firearms?

         10                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think,

         11  again, it is situational. It depends on the nature

         12  of the activity, the event. It depends on the

         13  scenario.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: There's a

         15  certain amount of discretion?

         16                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: A certain

         17  amount of discretion is necessary to be flexible

         18  enough to adapt to a particular situation.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So, like

         20  the good representative I am, we have had town halls

         21  in my neighborhood, the last one at First Baptist

         22  Church, and a lot on Astoria Boulevard, in East

         23  Elmhurst, Queens, so a lot of the questions that

         24  I've gotten from members of my community, is that

         25  why are these officers allowed to drink while on

                                                            175

          1  COMMITTEES ON PUBLIC SAFETY AND CIVIL RIGHTS

          2  duty? So, I've done my part to explain that it's

          3  part of an undercover operation and it's completely

          4  legitimate and, in fact, I understand the need for

          5  that. I'm very capable of expressing that and

          6  explaining to folks the need at times there is to

          7  have officers consuming alcohol for their undercover

          8  operations. But that's my line there. My question

          9  really to the Department is, why is there not a

         10  policy that says, for instance, that if officers are

         11  engaged in consumption of alcohol, they should not

         12  be carrying their firearms, and then the back-up

         13  units can do any enforcement action?

         14                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Because

         15  it's not one size fits all necessarily. It depends

         16  on the circumstance. It depends ultimately on -- the

         17  thing that we're most concerned about is the safety

         18  of the officer, and it depends, again, on the fact

         19  pattern that is presented to the team, to the

         20  supervisors, to the tactical plan that they worked

         21  about before they go into an establishment.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Let me go

         23  further with this point.

         24                 With respect to the undercovers, is

         25  there a policy -- specifically we want to deal with
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          2  the vice units or any task force on clubs and bars;

          3  when they're entering, if they're in their

          4  undercover assignment and they are drinking, is

          5  there a policy specified for effecting an arrest?

          6                 In other words, is it Department

          7  policy that the back-up units that are not inside

          8  effect it? Is there a policy that those back-up

          9  officers call uniform response to come to effect an

         10  arrest?

         11                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Not

         12  necessarily.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Well, I

         14  just wanted to add that it would seem to me that in

         15  a case like the Bell case, not the Bell case, but a

         16  case with similar fact patterns, that if the

         17  undercover officers were to elicit a response of the

         18  local uniformed patrolman, the likelihood of victims

         19  not understanding or identifying or knowing that the

         20  undercovers approaching them to arrest them were in

         21  fact police officers?

         22                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, in

         23  the normal course of events, arrest teams would be

         24  wearing what we call "raid jackets," and wearing

         25  their shields that are visible. So, generally
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          2  speaking, you know, that identification issue is

          3  handled through these raid jackets, to everyone's

          4  advantage to have it known that they are police

          5  officers when they are affecting an arrest.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: But I

          7  think that from what I have heard from family

          8  members and individuals in that specific case, there

          9  seems to be a big discrepancy, as far as from their

         10  perspective, that they actually knew that these were

         11  police officers who had approached them.

         12                 So, what I'm asking is if perhaps a

         13  review of Department policy that would state that to

         14  the extent possible, at all times those undercovers

         15  should be calling uniforms to effect the arrest once

         16  they're outside of the location?

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It's

         18  something we can look at. It has to do with

         19  availability --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Right.

         21                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: -- As to

         22  when a particular arrest is going to go down, who is

         23  available, but it's something we could look at.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Right. I

         25  think that that would go a long way.
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          2                 And just as an aside, because I know

          3  some of my colleagues in this Committee, and myself

          4  also, we are concerned about Department hierarchy

          5  and diversity, and you were very explicit about the

          6  amount of chiefs, and I think that that was a good

          7  thing, and the Department has come a long way, and

          8  to some degree, you deserve some of that credit.

          9  There's more diversity.

         10                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thanks a

         11  lot.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: You've got

         13  to call them like you see them, right? That's the

         14  way I see it. I know you see it the same way,

         15  Commissioner.

         16                 But my question is with respect to

         17  the Deputy Commissioner; how many Deputy

         18  Commissioners do you have in the Department?

         19                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Twelve.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Twelve.

         21  Would you be able to give me a breakdown of those

         22  Deputy Commissioners?

         23                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I can off

         24  the top of my head. We have one African-American

         25  female, we have basically male whites in that
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          2  position.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: No

          4  Hispanics?

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No

          6  Hispanics.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Asians?

          8                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: No Asians.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay.

         10  Thank you very much, Commissioner.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         12                 Council Member Nelson.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Okay, one of

         14  the members is not here right now so it would be

         15  inappropriate for me to address some of the issues I

         16  was going to. But this whole hearing should not just

         17  be perceived, I feel, as police bashing session

         18  entirely.

         19                 Some of my colleagues were really I

         20  believe very fair and honest and heartfelt, and some

         21  of the statements that were made, some things must

         22  be addressed, even if it's just CPR, but some of the

         23  stronger stuff, I don't like certain statements that

         24  are being made to describe a situation which is in

         25  an investigation at this moment, not said by the
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          2  police. But if it is in fact a very serious

          3  situation, which I believe it is, which must be

          4  addressed, we don't need to play any role in making

          5  it worse than it is.

          6                 I was wondering, there have been no

          7  cases of whites being shot by the police in recent

          8  times? And if so, what's the comparison, the

          9  consensus?

         10                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: There have

         11  been. I don't have those numbers in front of me,

         12  sir. If you'd like that, we can give it to you. I

         13  just don't have them here, but, yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: It would have

         15  to be, I guess, broken down per capita, where the

         16  crime was done, in a particular area as opposed to

         17  another area, to make any points. Well, if there

         18  was, let's say 50 percent of all crime down in one

         19  area, and there were let's say ten people shot and

         20  there was only two percent --

         21                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Shot by

         22  police or victims?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Oh, yes. Shot

         24  by the Police Department. You wouldn't have the

         25  figures here right now. It would be of something of
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          2  interest, I believe.

          3                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Since 2001

          4  we have 12 individuals categorized as white as being

          5  shot by police officers.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Okay. Because

          7  it would be very disconcerting to think that it was

          8  in effort in certain areas particularly, and I'm

          9  sure that would concern the Police Commissioner.

         10                 And I am not the one calling for the

         11  resignation of a Police Commissioner. I think that's

         12  getting overly dramatic in this situation. I just

         13  want that to be known and for the record as well. I

         14  think we have to have level-headedness and come to

         15  the bottom of this, and have the investigation fully

         16  followed through and see where we go from that.

         17  Until that time, and I know we're not addressing

         18  that issue, that particular issue right now, which

         19  of course is appropriate and healthy. But, again,

         20  just to bash the Police Department for any

         21  particular situation, until all the facts are known,

         22  I think is wrong. I just wanted to make that

         23  statement for more balance here. Thank you.

         24                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me go back
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          2  to Leroy Comrie for one quick follow-up.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I had to step

          4  out for a minute.

          5                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: I haven't

          6  been able to step out for three hours and twenty

          7  minutes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I was actually

          9  just getting ready to compliment you.

         10                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Everybody

         11  else has stepped out, except everybody here. Thank

         12  you, Mr. Chairman, for your consideration.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Well, I want

         14  to thank you, Commissioner, for being here all

         15  morning. And I appreciate the fact that you have not

         16  been able to step out. It's just that I had someone

         17  who was headed to the 105th Precinct and I had to

         18  turn him around.

         19                 And I appreciate you being here and

         20  your testimony today, and I didn't get a chance to

         21  say in the beginning, but I really wanted to say, I

         22  didn't say it earlier, that I appreciate everything

         23  that you and your Department are doing. You have

         24  raised the level of interaction with the Department

         25  truly from the last Administration and I appreciate
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          2  that.

          3                 The question that I didn't ask that I

          4  wanted to ask was, regarding the types of vehicles

          5  used in undercover operations, and why is there a

          6  decision made to use not just unmarked cars but cars

          7  without lights or sirens at all?

          8                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well,

          9  depending, again, on the situation, you don't want

         10  that car perhaps to ever be identified as a police

         11  vehicle.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I can

         13  understand it if it's like an investigating or like

         14  a tailing situation, but why would the entire unit

         15  be in rental cars? Or why is there a need for an

         16  entire unit to --

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: It might

         18  be a question of car availability, quite frankly.

         19  You can put lights in, you can plug them into a

         20  cigarette lighter. We have some of those with our

         21  cars, but we do use non-descript autos, we do use

         22  rental cars, because people "make" the cars. If

         23  you're riding around, they think it's the police and

         24  they see the car again and again, or it's used for

         25  one operation, you can't necessarily use it for
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          2  another operation. So, we have to move our cars

          3  around, and rental cars enable us to do that. Those

          4  cars don't come with light packages, but we do use,

          5  you know, the bubble lights that you can plug in.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right. Well, I

          7  think I would suggest, just to be brief, that, you

          8  know, the units not all be proliferated with rental

          9  cars, because the Sergeant of the Unit or the people

         10  are not doing the tailing or the trailing, that are

         11  acting in secondary capacity, there should be at

         12  least one marked car or identifying car. Because

         13  unfortunately, a lot of people can buy red lights

         14  now, and a lot of people can buy flashing lights and

         15  people get confused beyond that. So, I would

         16  strongly suggest that there are some cars that are

         17  clearly identified as police vehicles in every

         18  undercover operation.

         19                 I don't want to get into a -- but I

         20  think that, you know, it's important that when,

         21  especially in these days, and I just saw one

         22  yesterday, a person was running around with blue

         23  lights on, I couldn't figure out who it was, you

         24  know, and I don't think he knew who he was. So, I

         25  just think that it's important that we think about,
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          2  and that the undercover units, that there are at

          3  least clearly an identifying vehicle in that

          4  particular unit.

          5                 I can understand the units that have

          6  to follow and trail people. I can understand

          7  rotating units, I think that there has to be at

          8  least one or two units in every group, especially if

          9  there's a multi-car group that's clearly identified

         10  as a Police Department vehicle.

         11                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Okay, sir.

         12  We'll take a look at that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you.

         14                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: There are other

         16  Council members wanting follow-ups, which I'm not

         17  allowing to happen.

         18                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you

         19  very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm going to

         21  forego my questioning and finish up with Council

         22  Member Seabrook.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         24  much, Commissioner. Certainly it's been long, and

         25  you've been here, and I've known you for many, many

                                                            186

          1  COMMITTEES ON PUBLIC SAFETY AND CIVIL RIGHTS

          2  years and as a straight shooter and that's the way

          3  you call it, and that's the way it has been for the

          4  number of years that I've known you. We have had

          5  these speakouts clear across and contrary to what

          6  people are saying about softball questions, these

          7  are questions that people from these communities

          8  have raised with us, and I think it's important for

          9  you to hear them. We sit in these meetings, Chief

         10  was there with us, and others who talk about

         11  softball have not sat at those meetings and listened

         12  to people in the community.

         13                 One of the things that I think that

         14  has to be addressed as it relates to a training

         15  situation, and you need to look at it because this

         16  is constantly at every meeting, is the lack of

         17  courtesy, professionalism and respect, and I think

         18  that that is the constant thing that is constantly

         19  heard from every part, in the Bronx, in Manhattan

         20  and that's a constant thing that people are talking

         21  about that has to be dealt with, the level of

         22  profanity that is espoused by the officers to

         23  community people who have not committed a crime, but

         24  are just standing around, and then they get the

         25  abuse, the verbal abuse, and I think that it doesn't
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          2  bode well with dealing with the community and having

          3  the community to participate in its safety and be a

          4  part of.

          5                 So, I think that that has to be

          6  addressed and looked at because it is real. It is

          7  not about people exploding and shooting people, but

          8  I think the majority of people have this sense of

          9  lack of courtesy, lack of professionalism and lack

         10  of respect, and it's clear across the board with

         11  people in those communities, and that's what we

         12  heard constantly at those hearings, and I think that

         13  it has to be addressed in a different way of

         14  approaching that as it related to a lot of the

         15  training, because a lot of the people who were not

         16  in uniform, who are in these units, have to deal

         17  with those issues because it comes back, and we

         18  heard that constantly.

         19                 Secondly, I think that one of the

         20  things that has to be looked at again is constant

         21  cry from the Housing Authority residents that talk

         22  about the lack of having a relationship with the

         23  Police Department.

         24                 Everybody that came up said I used to

         25  know the person and the person who used to patrol
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          2  the developments. I grew up in a Housing Authority,

          3  Millbrook Houses, and he knew us, and we knew him.

          4  And Rudy knew everybody there, and it was a level of

          5  respect that he had for us and we had for him, and

          6  it develops that. So, I think we have to look at how

          7  we train, because I think the people want to hear

          8  and a response to, and that perception gives a real

          9  impression that it's a bad situation that has to be

         10  addressed.

         11                 So, I think that we need to look at

         12  that, and the relationship that the community in a

         13  conversation with the police.

         14                 It is very important, and one of the

         15  people raised the issue about the youth officers,

         16  but also it has to be a working together with the

         17  Department of Education with young people as it

         18  relates to the relationship that they have with the

         19  Police Department, so that they will understand that

         20  the Police Department and them are one, and that is

         21  not going to -- I think that you can do that. And I

         22  think it's important that there has to be some

         23  innovative ways of reaching and changing that. And I

         24  think that that's more of a concern that I have

         25  because that's the concern at every one of those
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          2  meetings that we've had, and we'll have them clear

          3  across the City, that people are talking about, and

          4  I think that you're the person that can do that,

          5  that would allow that and the conversation and the

          6  dialogue.

          7                 One of the things that I've learned,

          8  and even the retired police officers, they don't

          9  know how to listen. And one of the things that you

         10  have to learn, even the ones that are jumping around

         11  here, they don't know how to listen. And I think the

         12  opportunity to listen to people and to listen what

         13  they have to say. See, we're caught up in our

         14  rhetorical splendor, but I think if we listen to

         15  just Ms. Carmen Jones, and Ms. Rodriguez, and just

         16  listen to them, these are the questions that they

         17  raise with Chief Ziegler and all of us there. Those

         18  were the questions, not of just people here for a

         19  show. They raised those questions, and I think that

         20  we need to direct as to how we deal with those

         21  citizens, because those are the ones that need the

         22  help, need us and we need them. I think that you are

         23  capable of doing that, and I've known you for many,

         24  many years, and the level of integrity in which you

         25  display, for many years in the capacity that I have
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          2  been there, and I am certain that you can do this

          3  and it has to be done, because the people out there,

          4  the perception has to be dismissed that this is

          5  truly about courtesy, professionalism and respect.

          6  And it starts from the top. And I think it's a

          7  listening tour that needs to be done, and that's why

          8  we sit there and listen and people blast us. But

          9  that's a part of what we have to learn to listen,

         10  and I think that's important and it goes a long way,

         11  and I just want to thank you for being here. I know

         12  everybody else took a restroom break, you didn't,

         13  and I know it's almost time to get up and get out of

         14  here, but I want to thank you for being here. And

         15  those are questions that constantly came up at those

         16  speakouts that we had, and I'm sure we go clear out

         17  again it will be the same thing.

         18                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Okay.

         19  Thank you, sir.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Commissioner,

         21  when you walk outside, after you use the restroom,

         22  you're going to be asked some tough questions I

         23  believe about some police officers leaving the

         24  force, some of the young police officers in higher

         25  numbers than in the past. And if that's happening,
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          2  it's clearly happening because it's a very

          3  dangerous, very difficult job, in which you agree is

          4  underpaid right now. And you, your Department, the

          5  men and women of your force need support of the

          6  community, support of your elected officials, and

          7  this hearing, the purpose of this hearing, as I said

          8  earlier, was to improve, improve undercover training

          9  methods to the extent possible, and to improve upon

         10  what already is a very good system, and what already

         11  works very well.

         12                 To the extent that that focus was

         13  lost, I apologize. Council Member Seabrook and I are

         14  not in control of other independently elected

         15  officials, but you have our support and the support

         16  of the Speaker. And again, we do have our oversight

         17  function, that's this hearing, the purpose of this

         18  hearing, it's a charter-mandated function to do

         19  oversight and that's what we're doing here today.

         20  And we appreciate your being here for well over two

         21  and a half hours now.

         22                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Three and

         23  a half hours, but who's counting?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Wow.

         25                 POLICE COMMISSIONER KELLY: Time flies
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          2  when you're having fun.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We appreciate

          4  that. And as you have in the past, you have sat

          5  there and answered the tough questions, never been

          6  one to shy away from that. We appreciate that, look

          7  forward to continuing to working with you on this

          8  topic and others, to improve our relationship and

          9  the workings of your Department, as much as we can

         10  help. And if we can be of any assistance in that,

         11  you let us know.

         12                 I know you have an important job to

         13  get out there and do, so thank you, again.

         14                 We are going to take a five-minute

         15  break and come back with the Lieutenants Benevolent

         16  Association.

         17                 (Recess taken.)

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Once again, turn

         19  off all cell phones. Welcome back. Our next panel

         20  consists of Meg Callahan and Tony Garvey, from the

         21  Lieutenants Benevolent Association.

         22                 Thank you for coming down. We

         23  appreciate it, and we look forward to your

         24  testimony. And if you have written testimony, has it

         25  been turned in? Oh, it is coming. Thank you.

                                                            193

          1  COMMITTEES ON PUBLIC SAFETY AND CIVIL RIGHTS

          2                 LIEUTENANT CALLAHAN: Good afternoon.

          3  I'm Lieutenant Meg Callahan, I'm the Political

          4  Action Chairperson for the Lieutenants Benevolent

          5  Association of the NYPD. And with me today is Tony

          6  Garvey, President of the LBA.

          7                 For reasons of brevity, I simply want

          8  to highlight the extensive training and diversity of

          9  the NYPD. Every lieutenant undergoes training

         10  consisting of, but not limited to, domestic

         11  violence, search and seizure, hot pursuit, and a

         12  broad array of desktop exercises dealing emotionally

         13  disturbed persons, arrest situations, suspicious

         14  packages, response to gang activity, along with the

         15  Departments lead or leaders in power to act

         16  decisively training. Training is an ongoing

         17  exercise, and the NYPD has been recognized

         18  internationally by the Commission on Accreditation

         19  for Law Enforcement Agencies, noted as CALEA.

         20                 The NYPD is the only large City

         21  Police Department to receive this certification in

         22  the field of law enforcement. It recognizes the

         23  rigorous standards of the Department.

         24                 The organizational structure of the

         25  NYPD encompasses a most diverse workforce of more
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          2  than 53,300 hard-working men and women of which 65

          3  percent are males and 35 percent females.

          4                 To further break down the composite

          5  of the NYPD, 43 percent of the Department is white,

          6  29.8 African-American, 22.8 Hispanic, 4.2

          7  Asian-American, and .2 percent Native-American.

          8                 Policing New York City, especially in

          9  this dangerous post-9/11 world, is a difficult and

         10  dangerous job.

         11                 The men and women of the NYPD place

         12  their lives in jeopardy every day to protect the

         13  public from crime and terrorism. Sixty-six New York

         14  City police officers have been killed in the line of

         15  duty since 1990. During this same period, more than

         16  185,000 injuries occurred in the line of duty.

         17                 Firearms discipline is critical to

         18  the training of New York City police officers. From

         19  1995 through 2005, New York City police officers

         20  have been shot at more than 200 times without

         21  returning fire.

         22                 During this same period, 113 officers

         23  were wounded by firearms.

         24                 When one looks at the use of the

         25  force, the NYPD is remarkably restrained with fewer
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          2  fatal police shootings than Los Angeles, Chicago,

          3  Houston and Philadelphia.

          4                 These are cities with Police

          5  Departments less than half the size of the NYPD.

          6                 The workload is extraordinary, with

          7  NYPD officers responding to more than 5 million

          8  calls for service through the 9-1-1 and 3-1-1

          9  systems. This is the remarkable truth of how

         10  dedicated the men and women of the NYPD are in the

         11  performance of their duty.

         12                 I will answer any questions you may

         13  have. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You don't have

         15  any testimony, Lieutenant Garvey?

         16                 Regarding undercovers, how are

         17  lieutenants involved in supervising, and what

         18  training do you receive for that?

         19                 MR. GARVEY: I don't want to reiterate

         20  what the Commissioner said. He was on target in his

         21  description of how undercovers are trained. As far

         22  as supervisors go, it depends on the different

         23  levels and how many teams are out there but it's a

         24  closer level of supervision than you have normally

         25  on patrol. You may have a team of four or five or
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          2  six with a Sergeant and a Lieutenant. As compared to

          3  patrol, you may have as many as 15 or 16 or 25

          4  people on patrol under one supervisor.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Is there

          6  anything you would like to add to what the

          7  Commissioner said? Or any recommendations you would

          8  have regarding training?

          9                 MR. GARVEY: Well, I fully agree with

         10  his statement relative to the pay. I would love to

         11  see, and part of that is my doing in terms of trying

         12  to bolster the pay through the Collective Bargaining

         13  Process. And I think he was right on target. I think

         14  the City Council should genuinely be concerned with

         15  the attrition rate, people leaving after 20 years of

         16  service. Because these are your most experienced

         17  officers who are leaving, and I think there is a way

         18  to address that.

         19                 What I hear, and Chairman Seabrook

         20  very notably indicated, you have to listen in order

         21  to learn. And I listen to my members and other

         22  members within the Department and they honestly feel

         23  that they are paying pension Roulette if they stay

         24  beyond 20 years of service.

         25                 I will say this, and I anecdotally
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          2  have always said it, there are those who may feel

          3  that the Department is structured discipline-wise is

          4  a loose method, but if you talk to any cop on the

          5  street, you ask him the simple question, what would

          6  you rather face, an armed felon with a loaded 9

          7  millimeter, or the disciplinary structure in the

          8  Police Department, and they'll tell you give me the

          9  armed felon, I got a better shot.

         10                 A lot of that is perception. We're

         11  talking about perceptions being reality. Some of our

         12  members feel that way, that the discipline structure

         13  is such that it's overbearing. And I know this calls

         14  for greater discipline. This Department is a very

         15  well-trained Department, and discipline within the

         16  structure of it, now how can the Council help us

         17  with pension Roulette? I believe if they remove the

         18  restriction and allow police officers to retire

         19  immediately, there is now a provision that they have

         20  to provide three days notice and I've had to forward

         21  to the Department to discipline them within that 30

         22  days, in sometimes what we feel are draconian ways.

         23  And there's always that difference between

         24  management and the unions, as far as discipline

         25  goes. But I will tell you this: There are
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          2  substantial penalties, relative to the general

          3  discipline that's involved within the Department.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 Just a couple of questions that I'd

          7  like to ask as it relates, because you're in a

          8  supervisory role, and we talk about the undercover

          9  and the supervision, that was the issue of two

         10  drinks, because we need some clarity as to how that

         11  is dealt with, these two drinks by these undercover

         12  officers?

         13                 What is your role as a supervisor

         14  when an undercover situation is there and the

         15  two-drink limit has gone beyond, or how do you know

         16  it was a two-drink limit?

         17                 MR. GARVEY: Well, oftentimes a

         18  supervisor may not be on the set itself. He may be

         19  waiting outside.

         20                 But there is an assessment.

         21  Obviously, if you see an individual who is

         22  intoxicated, you, as a supervisor, have to take some

         23  action. You have to find out if that maximum is two

         24  drinks in the individual and you have to know your

         25  people. They may not have a tolerance for two
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          2  drinks. They may or may not.

          3                 In any kind of undercover setting,

          4  the undercover is going to act not to give up his

          5  position as a police officer, and the reason for

          6  that is obvious. You're in a situation if you walk

          7  in and you're not -- I mean, there have been

          8  situations with drugs where members have gone in and

          9  a gun has been put to their head to snort cocaine,

         10  and if you don't snort cocaine they know you're a

         11  cop, and they're going to blow you away. So,

         12  officers have done that. They've reported it to the

         13  Department, they've gotten immediate help for that,

         14  medical attention. But these are situations,

         15  dangerous situations that people place themselves

         16  in. And if they don't do what is perceived so

         17  they're not identified as a cop, their life is gone.

         18  And so that's the danger.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Now, a

         20  question, is it a part of the policy that an

         21  individual who had actually been involved in an

         22  undercover situation and drinking, what is the

         23  procedure of that individual's involvement in a

         24  direct contact and arrest of individuals and

         25  pursuing?
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          2                 MR. GARVEY: Under ideal situations,

          3  most situations, the undercovers relay the

          4  information and then the back-up teams make the

          5  arrests. That's what normally happens. But there may

          6  be times when undercover officers have to act

          7  immediately, if they feel somebody's life is in

          8  danger, for them to wait may cost someone their

          9  lives, may cost someone from the community their

         10  lives, so they have to act immediately.

         11                 But often times, if all goes well in

         12  the ideal setting, the undercover will leave the

         13  set, report and identify who needs to be arrested

         14  and the arresting comes in and makes the arrest.

         15  That's the ideal setting.

         16                 Supervisor's role is to ensure that

         17  the individual, the undercover, is fit for duty.

         18  That's not only determined by his immediate

         19  supervisor, but also if there's a shooting involved,

         20  the numerous bosses that come down to help

         21  investigate the shooting, the shooting teams, and

         22  they make that determination if a member is fit for

         23  duty.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Just as a level

         25  of training, and how is this reinforced in a
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          2  supervisory role? Because the concern of many at the

          3  Speakouts which I heard, is that a level of lack of

          4  courtesy, lack of professionalism and lack of

          5  respect. How does a supervisor deal with this with

          6  giving their men and women an understanding of that

          7  community wish they have and the level of courtesy,

          8  professionalism and respect? Because that clear

          9  across has been the issue that I have heard

         10  constantly the lack of, and how do we address that?

         11                 MR. GARVEY: Councilman, I think in

         12  the screening process, and I was a trainer at one

         13  time, I spent 18 years, much of that training people

         14  when they came out of the Academy in the field, at

         15  the field level, and I've always believed that in

         16  order to be a successful cop, you need two things:

         17  You need people skills, you've got to be a people

         18  person, you have to have common sense. Not much more

         19  difficult than that. And if you have those skills,

         20  you're going to be a successful police officer.

         21                 Fortunately, the other aspects of it,

         22  education and all now come into play and help

         23  broaden police officers horizons and understanding

         24  of various communities in which they did not grow up

         25  possibly. I mean, I grew up in Washington Heights.
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          2  I'm a product of Upper Manhattan. I was a young cop

          3  in Harlem in the 37th Precinct, and the first time I

          4  worked in Harlem, I'll never forget. I was standing

          5  on the corner, and I hear the sirens, all of a

          6  sudden I get into a tussle with some bad guy in

          7  front of Harlem Hospital. He was harassing some

          8  individuals, pulled a knife on them, wanted to try

          9  to rob them. I'm a foot post. I wrestle him down to

         10  the ground and I hear sirens. And this was my first

         11  experience in Harlem. And who was coming to my aid

         12  and rescue, but other police officers, called by

         13  whom? There was a woman looking out her window on

         14  Lenox Avenue, and she sees this white police officer

         15  fall to the ground, tusseling (phonetic) with this

         16  individual and what she does is call 9-1-1 and she

         17  doesn't see me as anything but a police officer. She

         18  don't see me as white, she don't see me as black, or

         19  Asian, or blue, she just saw that I was a police

         20  officer and I needed help. And that woman, and to

         21  this day that has grounded my training and

         22  experiences like that ground your training in being

         23  a good police officer.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Actually, I

          3  think she did see you as blue, and that's what's

          4  important. Not the race but the uniform color.

          5                 Thank you, Councilman Comrie and

          6  Jackson, for remaining to actually listen to other

          7  testimony, and perhaps come up with ideas to improve

          8  training.

          9                 We will go now to Council Member

         10  Comrie.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you,

         12  Chairs Vallone and Seabrook.

         13                 You said you don't have any

         14  recommendations for additional training? Is that

         15  what you're stating today?

         16                 MR. GARVEY: No, I did not say that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         18                 Do you have any recommendations for

         19  additional training?

         20                 Or actually, let me back up. Are you

         21  allowed to give suggestions for training to --

         22                 MR. GARVEY: We're certainly allowed.

         23  Whether they'll listen to it is something different.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: In what form

         25  are you allowed to do that?
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          2                 MR. GARVEY: Through labor management

          3  committees that are formed within the Police

          4  Department that we meet at the Deputy Commissioner

          5  level. Meetings that we would have with Office of

          6  Labor Policy.

          7                 You know, training is a very

          8  expensive process, and I think the City Council has

          9  to recognize it. And I think training is mandatory,

         10  and you have hit the nail on the head in terms of

         11  the intensity of training.

         12                 You can never have enough training.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

         14                 MR. GARVEY: However, at the same

         15  time, what you need to do is patrol the streets of

         16  New York. You have everyone on training, but nobody

         17  out there defending and helping and aiding the

         18  people of New York. You have to give consideration

         19  in the budgetary process to conduct training on

         20  officers, RDOs, or they're not taken away from the

         21  community, the policing within the community

         22  themselves. This City Council has to look at the

         23  budgetary process and possibly an increase

         24  specifically for training on days off so that people

         25  are not being shortchanged.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Well, I don't

          3  want to cut you off, but we're dealing with maybe a

          4  billion dollar budget surplus so far, so one of the

          5  reasons why we're having this hearing is to try to

          6  understand what resources are necessary and what the

          7  maximum resources are necessary.

          8                 You may not know, but we're looking

          9  to post for the first quarter an almost $2 billion

         10  budget surplus. So, I think that we have an

         11  opportunity to here, in which I said earlier, to

         12  really, you know, open up the sky and make some

         13  real, real changes and bring in whatever is

         14  necessary because we need to spend the money.

         15                 So, you know, I think the piggybank

         16  is open. So, in that line, you know, when you say

         17  you're doing it through labor management

         18  negotiations, do you get feed back on what training

         19  that you've requested that you've gotten a response

         20  from?

         21                 MR. GARVEY: Councilman Comrie, I

         22  would love to see more extensive -- you know, the

         23  Police Commissioner said today, relative to firearms

         24  training. I would love to see a more extensive

         25  degree of training.
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          2                 You can never train enough for

          3  firearms. You can find yourself in situations even

          4  with the best training that when you're faced in

          5  that firefight situation you hope that your training

          6  will prevail. You hope that your training will kick

          7  in, and that that's how you're going to respond. And

          8  I can tell you with absolute certainty in firing

          9  weapons, you don't know how many shots you have

         10  fired until after the situation. And people will say

         11  to you, you fired six shots or seven shots. You say,

         12  I fired one I thought. And it comes down because the

         13  adrenaline is flowing, the situation calls for as

         14  much calm as is possible, and that even though with

         15  all the training, it doesn't always work out in the

         16  best scenario.

         17                 So, what you have to hope for, is you

         18  train them, you train the membership, you train them

         19  and train them, and hopefully when that situation

         20  arises, that your members are going to respond the

         21  way you have trained them. That's the ideal.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. Well,

         23  you still haven't answered my question.

         24                 MR. GARVEY: Oh, firearms training.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: No, I'm
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          2  saying, my specific question is, have there been

          3  recommendations that you've made that have been

          4  implemented?

          5                 MR. GARVEY: No.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, do you

          7  have a list of recommendations that you'd like to

          8  share with the Committee at some point?

          9                 MR. GARVEY: I can compile a list and

         10  provide it to you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         12                 And, you know, we'd really like to

         13  get that, because like I said, the piggybank is

         14  open, and, you know, I think that we have an

         15  opportunity here, and my concern is so that we don't

         16  have to get the shooting, and the training of the

         17  units, especially the undercover units, so that they

         18  don't have to get into a fire situation.

         19                 You know, I don't want to go into

         20  details. I think that's not my role here today, to

         21  talk about details of any specific case, but there

         22  should be a way through equipment. The person should

         23  not have been in that club without a Kell, or some

         24  equipment that could have given an emergency

         25  notification, the unit should not have been
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          2  under-manned, so that they had to respond in an

          3  emergency situation. And there's at least ten

          4  different things they could have done differently. I

          5  think it's unfair to the officers involved to be

          6  under-manned, under-funded, and under-resourced.

          7                 I think they're aware of the critical

          8  opportunity now to think about all of those issues

          9  and put all of that on the table in public so that

         10  we can get the money drawn down.

         11                 You know, again, we have a $2 billion

         12  budget surplus in the first quarter of this year,

         13  not counting the November, December receipts that

         14  have come in, and I think that it's imperative on

         15  every officer in the City that cares about

         16  professionalism, the safety of their own membership,

         17  to think about how we can do these things to protect

         18  all parties involved.

         19                 And if we're talking about tactics

         20  and undercover specialized operations and training,

         21  you know, I'm saying that the coffers are open, in

         22  my opinion. We're going to do everything we can as a

         23  Council to draw down as much money as possible to

         24  help the men on the force so at least they can have

         25  the training and tactics necessary to be safe out
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          2  there so that there are not incidents where people

          3  have to worry about an emergency response or an

          4  emotional response or an adrenaline response. That's

          5  where I'm headed.

          6                 Just on a different topic, do you

          7  believe that it's a safe policy for units to be out

          8  in total rental cars without any police

          9  identification on the cars at all?

         10                 MR. GARVEY: In undercover operations

         11  often times it's a necessity. Sometimes in

         12  anti-crime units within the precinct, a lot of the

         13  bad guys know who the cops are anyway by the same

         14  car being used on a daily basis. So, I think what

         15  the Department truly does is an attempt to throw

         16  something into the mix where police officers in an

         17  undercover capacity will not be recognized in their

         18  attempt to solve whatever crime is occurring.

         19                 So, it's been a long tradition I

         20  think that rental cars have been used, because you

         21  can change the mix frequently. There is some form of

         22  identification, as I think the Commissioner

         23  indicated the red bubble that they can put up top.

         24  But undercover --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But do you
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          2  think the lead car in interdicting an arrest should

          3  be a rental car? Or do you think a lead car that's

          4  actually effecting the arrest should be an unmarked

          5  rental car?

          6                 MR. GARVEY: Quite honestly, it will

          7  depend on the situation. You can have situations

          8  where maybe that lead car can actually prevent the

          9  furtherance of a crime or a killing or a shooting,

         10  and that lead car is an unmarked car. You don't want

         11  to set a policy where the second car which is a

         12  marked car has to be the one to take action.

         13                 So, you have to use it and be

         14  flexible in a common-sensical basis and the

         15  situation is different.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But you would

         17  understand that the need to, as part of the overall

         18  team, to have one, at least one or two marked cars.

         19  You know, I can understand, you know, trailing

         20  people and doing the undercover operations to follow

         21  somebody from maybe Manhattan to Bronx, to Staten

         22  Island and back, you need rental cars, you need to

         23  rotate cars, but don't you think at least one car in

         24  that team should be an official marked car?

         25                 MR. GARVEY: Councilman, I think it's
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          2  a function of manpower. If you adhere to the

          3  suggestion you make that a lot of the training be

          4  done on the day off, you're not going to impact, or

          5  you'll impact to a lesser degree the availability of

          6  manpower.

          7                 So, I suggest that you take a serious

          8  look at maybe devoting specific training that you

          9  want to achieve, that this Council would like the

         10  Department to achieve, to do that on their day off

         11  so they would have the ability of manpower.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I totally

         13  agree with doing it on the day off, and I would hope

         14  that you could provide the Committee the statistics

         15  of how much manpower that's actually effected. I

         16  don't have any problems with making that suggestion

         17  in the future, and hope that you can also understand

         18  our desire to try to do everything we can to

         19  professionalize the Department and equip the

         20  Department so that there are no reasons for

         21  emotional responses.

         22                 MR. GARVEY: And we welcome that

         23  support.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

          4  Lieutenant, you mentioned increased firearms

          5  training; according to the Commissioner's testimony

          6  it's supposed to occur twice a year; does that

          7  happen as a matter of course? How is that monitored?

          8  And what are you suggesting regarding better firearm

          9  training? More? Different type?

         10                 MR. GARVEY: I think I revert probably

         11  to my military training which was completely

         12  repetitive. When you go to the range twice a year,

         13  which is double the requirement by the State, it may

         14  not be enough. It may have to be done more often.

         15                 And I think what Kelly does is he

         16  anticipates the manpower needs. And, so, I don't

         17  think you can overtrain someone in firearms. It

         18  sometimes becomes a road response you want, that

         19  correct response, and twice a year may not be

         20  enough.

         21                 Thank you. Council Member Jackson.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         23  Good afternoon. Good to see you again. Good to see

         24  an Inwoodite from Northern Manhattan, the district

         25  that I represent.

                                                            213

          1  COMMITTEES ON PUBLIC SAFETY AND CIVIL RIGHTS

          2                 A couple of questions. You indicated

          3  about the police training, the lieutenants are

          4  basically supervised teams of undercover; am I

          5  correct in that?

          6                 MR. GARVEY: That is correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, so they

          8  go for weapons, I guess retraining, or up at the

          9  range; do they go as a team, so that the supervisor

         10  who is working with this team sees from their own

         11  visual point of view how are they performing? Or do

         12  they go up separately and they have no idea how they

         13  perform, except by statistically looking at the

         14  report that comes?

         15                 MR. GARVEY: I think you have both

         16  situations. You have people going independent of the

         17  supervisor, as well as -- now, Lieutenants, one must

         18  remember, does not always individually supervise one

         19  team. That lieutenant may be supervising two or

         20  three teams, and will be coordinating an operation.

         21  So you have it both ways.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Would it be,

         23  if a supervisor, Lieutenant is supervising like

         24  several teams, undercover teams, who would be in

         25  charge?
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          2                 MR. GARVEY: A Sergeant.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, because

          4  the point I'm getting at is, as far as if you're

          5  telling me that they both have individual training

          6  and then go as an entire team where the supervisors

          7  are observing the team, and I think that's the

          8  important aspect of supervision, to know how your

          9  team responds and how they are performing and what

         10  have you. But let me ask you, you're a Lieutenant

         11  also?

         12                 MR. GARVEY: I am, yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: All right.

         14                 MR. GARVEY: An older Lieutenant, if I

         15  might add.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I assumed

         17  that, but I know you're the President of the

         18  Lieutenants Benevolent Association, but I just

         19  wanted to ask that question.

         20                 What about profanity, as far as

         21  supervising teams? Because I attended a hearing that

         22  we held up in the Bronx, and I attended part of the

         23  one yesterday in Harlem, and I heard constantly as a

         24  Council member how people of the public are cursed

         25  at, like "shut the fuck up," and "do as I tell you
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          2  to do," and what have you, and I am wondering

          3  whether or not the profanity is accepted by

          4  supervision as a normal course of doing business. To

          5  me --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I actually can't

          7  accept your profanity there, Action.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I understand

          9  what I said, but I wanted to say it because it's a

         10  very offensive word. And in fact, people have said

         11  they hear it constantly from police officers and not

         12  necessarily undercover. But also, I'm just wondering

         13  whether or not from a supervisor's point of view, do

         14  you hear a lot of profanity out there amongst the

         15  officers? And what, if anything, do you do from an

         16  operations point of view, from a supervisory point

         17  of view, to put it in check on a continuous basis?

         18                 MR. GARVEY: I think that's an

         19  excellent question. I come from a, maybe a different

         20  generation, relative to profanity than what is

         21  today, the younger people on the street. Sometimes

         22  it's reactive to somebody calling you something and

         23  you're saying, hey, shut up, get up the wall, and

         24  whatever profanity occurs. But I think the

         25  Department has made, and maybe not strides great
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          2  enough, they've made strides to attempt to ensure

          3  that courtesy, professionalism and respect is really

          4  a byproduct of policing. Interactions happen with

          5  people out on the street, and I think if I'm the

          6  supervisor, I'm going to counsel my members. I think

          7  in the same way that our training exists, that if

          8  you have a police officer who is assigned to a

          9  provocative detail where people are trying to

         10  provoke you, and you see and spot that officer being

         11  agitated and maybe getting worked up, your

         12  responsibility as a supervisor is to pull that cop

         13  off the line, put him in the background and then

         14  give him guidance and counsel, and then observe and

         15  watch to make sure that later on this officer

         16  complies with the needs of the Department.

         17                 What you don't want to happen is an

         18  officer to overreact in that situation. So the

         19  supervisor's role is really to monitor, guidance,

         20  and give guidance to these officers.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, my

         22  colleague Leroy Comrie mentioned the fact that the

         23  piggybank is open with respects to training and

         24  development, as far as NYPD, and I was here earlier

         25  when Commissioner Kelly had gave some stats that
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          2  approximately I think 40 percent of the police force

          3  are officers that have been employed only within the

          4  past five years, as a result of retirement of a lot

          5  of individuals after 20 years, and I have asked this

          6  question before: Do you have enough, and I've asked

          7  this of the Commissioner before in preliminary and

          8  executive budget hearings, do you have enough to do

          9  the job? Do you have enough that you need? And I ask

         10  that question because up in the 34th and the 33rd

         11  and other Precincts in which are in my Councilmanic

         12  District, you know, I hear from constituents and

         13  from NYPD people off the record that they're

         14  understaffed, and that they need more officers out

         15  on the street, but when we come in here in the

         16  budgetary process and we ask the Commissioner, you

         17  know, do you have enough to do the job, the answer

         18  is always yes, I do. I mean, obviously everybody can

         19  always do more, but he never comes and say, well, we

         20  need to have 10,000 more officers on the street and

         21  so forth and so on.

         22                 And I say that because, I think as a

         23  commissioner, they have to carry, in may opinion,

         24  the Mayor's water. And if they don't, they won't be

         25  there. But I think that, you know, if you listen to
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          2  the officers and the Sergeants and Lieutenants out

          3  there, we need more officers out there. And he

          4  boasts about being, you know, 4,000 less than we had

          5  before with crime down 21 percent, but from the

          6  people that I represent, they want to see more

          7  police officer community policing, where the police

          8  are working with the community, where the police

          9  officers know the community, and know Mr. Jones and

         10  Mr. Smith, and know the children in the area and

         11  being treated as a partner in community policing in

         12  the precinct, not looked at as someone that's just

         13  going to jump on you and just stop and frisk every

         14  youth that's out there. I think that that's what our

         15  community is looking for.

         16                 So, I needed to say that as far as

         17  the budgetary process. Obviously, you know, based on

         18  your Lieutenants' salaries and what the NYPD is

         19  offering people coming on the force of $25,102 I

         20  think for the first six months, is absolutely

         21  ridiculous. We all know that and that's why we don't

         22  even meet our minimum recruiting goals in New York

         23  City.

         24                 But let me just ask you, do you have

         25  an opinion about, I've heard, and maybe the 100
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          2  Blacks in Law Enforcement had mentioned this, I

          3  heard it on the radio in listening to some programs,

          4  that the NYPD couldn't possibly move from, I think

          5  you have a 16 shot clip, total clip in the 9

          6  millimeter; is that correct?

          7                 MR. GARVEY: I actually don't own a 9

          8  millimeter.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         10                 MR. GARVEY: I have the old six shot.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You've got

         12  the six shot.

         13                 MR. GARVEY: I'm still operating with

         14  that, so --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         16  Sixteen.

         17                 MR. GARVEY: Sixteen, yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And my

         19  understanding, that we could also possibly move to a

         20  ten-shot clip; is that correct?

         21                 MR. GARVEY: Councilman Jackson, I

         22  really don't know.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         24                 MR. GARVEY: I'm not an expert in

         25  specific firearms.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

          3                 MR. GARVEY: I could not answer.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. Maybe

          5  I'll ask that to somebody else.

          6                 But let me just thank you, and the

          7  Lieutenants Benevolent Association for coming in and

          8  giving testimony, and I'll look forward to working

          9  with you in order to improve the situation as far as

         10  the undercover and training of police officers and

         11  members of the NYPD and improve community police

         12  relations, or police community relations.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 MR. GARVEY: Thank you, Councilman

         15  Jackson.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, both,

         17  for waiting all morning to testify, and for everyone

         18  else who is going to testify. Your testimony will be

         19  helpful, and we will be in touch with you regarding

         20  your recommendations and possible uses for funding,

         21  as Council Member Comrie and Jackson mentioned.

         22  Thank you both for coming down.

         23                 MR. GARVEY: I just wanted to note

         24  that Mike Palladino, from the Detectives Endowment

         25  Association, was here all morning, and he just, he
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          2  had to go out to court in the trial of the two

          3  undercover detectives who were killed. The suspect,

          4  or now convicted individual, wanted to make a

          5  statement, so he had to run out to Supreme Court for

          6  that, so --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. Thank

          8  you for mentioning that. And that we all, we do know

          9  how hard he is working down there, and we wish him

         10  well, and he has met with some of us individually,

         11  so we are aware of his concerns. So, thank you for

         12  mentioning that, and thank you for coming down.

         13                 The next person to testify will be

         14  Sophine Charles, who is a retired police officer,

         15  and former trainer, and also John Jay Collins, if I

         16  remember correctly.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, Ms.

         19  Charles, for joining us. Please have a seat. And if

         20  you have written testimony, please hand it to the

         21  Sergeant-At-Arms. Perhaps you can provide us with a

         22  copy in the future.

         23                 Thank you for coming down. I'm sure

         24  my introduction did not do you justice, so please

         25  let us know more about you. First turn the mike on.
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          2                 MS. CHARLES: How is that?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Good.

          4                 MS. CHARLES: Well, I'd like to start

          5  by saying good afternoon, City Council members.

          6  Thank you for inviting me to testify, and thank you,

          7  Chairman Seabrook, for the opportunity to share my

          8  experiences in the New York City Police Department.

          9                 I should say that my testimony covers

         10  three areas, training, supervision, promotions and

         11  assignments. However, before I talk about those

         12  areas, it's necessary for me to touch on police

         13  culture and matters of race and racism related to

         14  the police environment.

         15                 I should say who I am, again. As you

         16  said, I am Sophine Charles. I'm a retired New York

         17  City Police Officer, and I was employed by the New

         18  York City Police Department for 18 years. During my

         19  career, police career, I served as a civilian and a

         20  uniformed employee. I was a police instructor in the

         21  academy for ten years, I was a human relations

         22  trainer, and community policing trainer.

         23                 I was a researcher and developer of

         24  Police Department training manuals on community

         25  policing and problem solving.
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          2                 I counseled recruit officers in the

          3  Police Academy, and I was also an academic and

          4  college advisor for the Department.

          5                 My outside law enforcement training

          6  experiences include that of a consultant to the

          7  University of Delaware in-Service Training Program,

          8  and I was also a trainer on the New York State

          9  Governor's Bias-related Crimes Task Force. My

         10  current professional experiences include that of

         11  Adjunct Professor at John Jay College, and I'm also

         12  a clinical supervisor for Children's Service Agency

         13  in the Bronx, and I'm a Child Welfare Trainer

         14  Consultant.

         15                 I would like to talk about the police

         16  culture, in order to frame issues around training,

         17  supervision and promotion. The informal and

         18  unwritten practices of police culture function as

         19  heavyweights and serve to train and influence police

         20  behavior.

         21                 Most officers enter the Department

         22  with the desire to make a difference. Officers with

         23  good intentions become paralyzed by the fear of

         24  having to speak out against another officer or

         25  expose unprofessional police behavior. In my
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          2  experience the influence of the bad apples are

          3  under-rated and under-estimated. The truth is that

          4  the bad apples control and dominate the police

          5  culture.

          6                 Early in my police career, I learned

          7  that speaking out against unprofessional police

          8  behavior was unacceptable and would not be tolerated

          9  under any circumstances.

         10                 I learned that anyone who violated

         11  this rule would be isolated and treated unfavorably

         12  by others in the Department.

         13                 I learned that violators were labeled

         14  as "rats" and "snitches," even when interventions

         15  against appropriate behaviors were correct.

         16                 One example I have is doing my

         17  processing for an arrest in the Police Department,

         18  my white Lieutenant said to me, Charles, of all of

         19  the people in the Precinct, how did you manage to

         20  find a white guy to arrest? When I told the other

         21  officers about this comment, they told me to not say

         22  anything and to leave it alone.

         23                 Another example is that over a

         24  20-year period, I've heard thousands of officers in

         25  the New York City Police Department say that they do
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          2  not and would not intervene in situations of police

          3  misconduct, because they fear physical

          4  concentration, retaliation and possible loss of

          5  employment.

          6                 When it comes to issues of race and

          7  racism, race and racism remain as significant

          8  factors that influence Police Department practices

          9  and procedures.

         10                 Race and racism has a major impact on

         11  internal working relationships among Department

         12  personnel and external relationships with community

         13  members.

         14                 Black and Latino employees, and

         15  communities of color experience the most adverse

         16  impact of race relations, race-related problems,

         17  resulting from police practices.

         18                 One example I had is, I've had

         19  firsthand experiences of racial discrimination and

         20  retaliation that forced my early retirement from

         21  NYPD. I've witnessed 18 years of unfair practices in

         22  discipline, hiring, assignments and promotions that

         23  adversely affect black and Latino personnel in the

         24  Department.

         25                 A second example I have in this area
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          2  is that many police officers express a fear of

          3  working in letter-writing communities. White and

          4  affluent communities have this reputation because

          5  they document and complain in writing when police

          6  practices are inappropriate.

          7                 This is a belief that communities of

          8  color are less likely to write letters about

          9  unprofessional police behavior.

         10                 Third example is that it is a fact

         11  that more members of black and Latino communities

         12  die during police encounters than members of white

         13  communities. When these deaths occur, police

         14  administrators do not fully understand the impact of

         15  the statement. The officers were justified in their

         16  actions. Justified or unjustified, this type of

         17  statement dehumanizes the deceased and inflames

         18  community reactions to the incident.

         19                 It is important to note that the race

         20  of an officer is not a salient factor when it comes

         21  to neutralizing Police Department culture or

         22  practices of racism.

         23                 Black and Latino officers are

         24  subjected to the same influences of police culture

         25  and models of inappropriate, racist practices that
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          2  are sometimes seen in some white officers.

          3                 With that, I present an analogy. A

          4  female suspect in police custody can never submit to

          5  consensual sex because she's under the complete

          6  control of the Police Department. The inappropriate

          7  actions and black and Latino officers cannot be

          8  exempt from racist practices because of their race.

          9                 These officers are also in the

         10  custody of the police and they operate under the

         11  complete control and influence of the police

         12  culture.

         13                 When issues of race and racism are

         14  identified as contributing factors and police

         15  practices, the typical Police Department response is

         16  to deny, defend and distort all complaints

         17  regardless of merit.

         18                 It is essential to understand that

         19  police training, supervision and promotional

         20  practices occur within the context of the police

         21  culture and the influences of race and racism. And

         22  exploration of these areas, without acknowledging

         23  the influences result in a distorted view.

         24                 As for training, the majority of

         25  police trainers come from within the ranks and their
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          2  training experiences are developed within the

          3  context of police culture and Police Department

          4  practices. The training environment is self

          5  contained, and there is little room for outside

          6  training specialists. Very little value is placed on

          7  contributions from outside training institutions

          8  that are not controlled by the Police Department.

          9                 This is an area of Police Department

         10  training that requires change. Police officers and

         11  student officers need more exposure to trainers and

         12  training specialists who are multidisciplined in

         13  areas other than just law enforcement. In my

         14  experience, police officers minimize and sometimes

         15  dismiss social-science-related trainings.

         16                 Social-science-related trainings,

         17  such as cultural diversity, community policing,

         18  community relations, police behavior, police ethics,

         19  are frequently referred to as "silly science." These

         20  types of trainings, particularly cultural and racial

         21  diversity must become integrated in all courses and

         22  disciplines. Social-science-related trainings are

         23  treated as separate entities and not given the level

         24  of importance as skilled development, skilled-based

         25  training.
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          2                 One example: Units, such as the Human

          3  Relations Unit and Community Policing Units evolved

          4  from a crisis and they have a short lifespan in the

          5  Department.

          6                 Officers require training to broaden

          7  the meaning of quality of life to encompass the

          8  quality of life as it relates to relationships

          9  between the police and all citizens of the

         10  community.

         11                 Officers require training and

         12  abilities, other than traffic and narcotic

         13  enforcement. They need to develop critical thinking

         14  and analysis skills that will increase their

         15  understanding of community issues, and positive

         16  influence how police practices fit within the

         17  community.

         18                 Example two is community policing

         19  initiatives must be community centered and not just

         20  enforcement activities based on what the police

         21  identify as problems, i.e., summonsing beer drinkers

         22  and extracting the homeless.

         23                 There must be more training on

         24  managing fear to help officers develop the

         25  confidence to handle situations more effectively.
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          2  Officers with confidence and self control are not

          3  easily panicked. Pilots are trained through

          4  simulated crisis situations to be calm and composed

          5  under pressure, to safely land a plane during a

          6  crisis. Officers need similar fear reduction

          7  training to appropriately identify situations and

          8  respond under pressure.

          9                 Example three. Some officers

         10  mistakingly react as though they're involved in a

         11  combat situation when they are not. Some use deadly

         12  physical force against unarmed suspects.

         13                 The Department's training

         14  responsibility and accountability requires focusing

         15  more on training and retraining of officers who have

         16  been away from active patrol, active patrol

         17  assignments for a number of years.

         18                 Current retraining strategies are

         19  focused on officers who were on leave from the

         20  Department, as opposed to those officers who were on

         21  leave from active patrol assignments.

         22                 Example four. I was transferred at

         23  the precinct after being in a training environment

         24  for ten years. I realized that I was not fully

         25  prepared to handle new arrest procedures, processing
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          2  procedures, issuing new summonses, and that I had no

          3  information about the new community, the population

          4  or the history of that community.

          5                 Supervisors must be better trained to

          6  coach and effectively guide new officers and

          7  inexperienced officers. Officers who require

          8  redirection or corrective action must receive the

          9  developmental feedback necessary to facilitate a

         10  behavioral change. A few weeks of basic management

         11  orientation is not sufficient to develop supervisory

         12  coaching skills.

         13                 Supervision. Supervisors must

         14  intervene earlier in the careers of police officers

         15  who are identified as hotheads, cowboys, and are

         16  believed to engage in behaviors that are likely to

         17  hurt themselves or cause injury to other officers or

         18  other civilian members.

         19                 The performance evaluations of these

         20  officers must accurately reflect behaviors and

         21  interactions with community members, particularly

         22  black and Latino community members. Too often,

         23  officers who are known to have problems or a high

         24  number of civilian complaints, receive positive

         25  evaluations.
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          2                 Some of these officers are identified

          3  by their colleagues as being problem officers or

          4  being on the fast track to getting jammed up.

          5                 One example is that these officers

          6  develop reputations of overreacting and

          7  unnecessarily escalating what would normally be a

          8  routine police situation. In these cases their

          9  colleagues avoid them and avoid jobs that might

         10  involve their participation.

         11                 It's important to note that there's a

         12  population of some like-minded officers who will

         13  gravitate toward that segment of the hotheads and

         14  cowboys. The Department needs to encourage

         15  supervisors to identify and take measures to remove

         16  these officers from the ranks, officers who are

         17  unable to satisfactorily perform their jobs due to

         18  physical, emotional, psychological or inappropriate

         19  community reaction must be removed from the

         20  Department.

         21                 Example two is that some precincts

         22  are known as dumping grounds for problem officers.

         23  When officers have problems, they're transferred to

         24  other precincts rather than removed from patrol

         25  services.
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          2                 Periodic recertification of all

          3  officers should be conducted to determine fitness

          4  for duty and patrol assignments. Officers are

          5  required, should be required to qualify annually for

          6  firearm training, and this practice should be

          7  extended to regular fit for duty evaluation.

          8                 Many professionals, many professions

          9  require members to attend continuing education

         10  courses to maintain best practices and their job

         11  performances. Police officers must be required to

         12  attend continuing education classes related to

         13  Department procedures, policies, new laws and

         14  receive refresher courses in constitutional and

         15  civil rights.

         16                 And last, promotions and assignment.

         17  A major administrative crime in the Department

         18  occurs in the unequal distribution of promotions and

         19  assignments. It's a myth that officers are solely

         20  based, promotions are solely based on passing the

         21  test and assignments are based on credentials,

         22  skills and performance.

         23                 The truth is, is that black and

         24  Latino officers pass the test, and they make the

         25  promotional list. The reality is, is that the
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          2  promotional lists are allowed to expire at the point

          3  where the greatest number of black and Latino

          4  officers are clustered.

          5                 Black and Latino officers are

          6  recommended for promotion and interviewed by the

          7  promotional review board. They are not promoted to

          8  detectives or assigned to preferred units, such as

          9  intelligence division, dignitary protection,

         10  emergency services. Many candidates for these

         11  assignments continue to be, many white candidates

         12  for these assignments continue to be seen as better

         13  than black candidates and whites receive the

         14  preferred assignments.

         15                 An example is that the preferred

         16  profile of an officer assigned to an undercover

         17  assignment is one with high enforcement activities,

         18  high arrests, you know, many medals, lots of summons

         19  material, and the variation of the selection

         20  criteria must be used to select officers for these

         21  assignments. And I submit that as my testimony.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

         23  much. Just a couple of questions.

         24                 When you talked about the

         25  certification of these officers, and your
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          2  recommendation is that there should be annual

          3  recertification?

          4                 MS. CHARLES: Periodic

          5  recertification. Periodic could mean every five

          6  years.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And as it

          8  relates to, there are other states and

          9  municipalities that have a level of decertification

         10  that says that this officer has committed acts and

         11  was dismissed and he should not be allowed to work

         12  in any Police Department, although this City here

         13  and State has not done that.

         14                 What's your thoughts on that issue?

         15  Because a number, maybe about 43, states who have

         16  this, but New York doesn't have it in terms of

         17  decertification, that if an officer is the bad, like

         18  you said, the bad apple, he can go to another

         19  municipality and begin work?

         20                 MS. CHARLES: I'm not familiar with

         21  the decertification aspects of other states. It

         22  appears to be one that is reasonable and rational

         23  and should certainly be considered.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And perhaps if

         25  you can, because I think that this idea of
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          2  promotional review board, and this is a board that

          3  talks about placing people in these elite,

          4  quote/unquote assignments, and how is that done?

          5                 MS. CHARLES: I'm not prepared to give

          6  you all the details on that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Right.

          8                 MS. CHARLES: What I do know is that

          9  officers who are recommended for promotion to

         10  detectives, who are recommended for upgrades in

         11  their detective rank, you know, one, two, or three,

         12  that they go before the Promotional Review Board,

         13  and it is that Board that makes decisions as to who

         14  gets the promotion.

         15                 I know that officers are selected for

         16  assignments also based on the recommendations of

         17  superior officers for the elite units, or well

         18  sought after units.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And then

         20  lastly, the issue of training, supervisory training,

         21  and once the supervisor has actually received that

         22  initial training, is there additional training as

         23  quote/unquote, continuing it for the supervisor of

         24  the Police Department updates and bring this

         25  supervisor in?
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          2                 MS. CHARLES: In my experience, I've

          3  been out of the Police Department now for six years,

          4  there may have been some changes. There are

          5  borough-based trainings, there's in-service

          6  training, there are topics that the Department

          7  identify on a yearly basis for all officers to

          8  attend, regardless of the rank.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And lastly, I

         10  know this is probably the biggest problem that we

         11  face, bigger than any, is what are your thoughts on

         12  this, how do we tackle this issue of this police

         13  culture?

         14                 MS. CHARLES: It needs to be

         15  identified and exposed and made real. It isn't

         16  something that is a perception or exists outside the

         17  realms of reality. It needs to be exposed and

         18  identified and give examples as to how to intervene.

         19  Officers need to be trained how to intervene with

         20  each other when inappropriate behaviors occur. Much

         21  of the training focuses on law enforcement,

         22  intervening in illegal situations in the general

         23  public, that needs to -- officers need to be made

         24  aware that their law enforcement responsibilities

         25  apply within and to their own, not just community
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          2  members and outside of the Police Department.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: All right.

          4  Thank you very much.

          5                 Council Member Jackson.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

          7  First of all, let me thank you for coming in and

          8  giving testimony. I mean, obviously, in listening to

          9  your testimony, you have prepared, in my opinion, a

         10  very, very clear and concise testimony with respects

         11  to your years of experience within NYPD. So, first

         12  of all, let me thank you for having the courage to

         13  come in and give testimony at this hearing.

         14                 MS. CHARLES: You're welcome.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And you

         16  mentioned about training, there needs to be more

         17  training in racial and cultural diversity, and one

         18  of the questions that I was asking, that I was going

         19  to ask you was, when were you last in the

         20  Department, and you said you retired about six years

         21  ago, which is 2000.

         22                 MS. CHARLES: '99.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: '99. And what

         24  about, as far as in the Training Division? You were

         25  in training and education, in that area, and I
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          2  believe you said you went to the precinct, were

          3  assigned to a precinct; is that correct?

          4                 MS. CHARLES: That's correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Did NYPD and

          6  the training of officers, did they have a racial

          7  cultural diversity training that you felt was

          8  appropriate? Did they have it at all, first of all?

          9  And if they did, was it the type that was hands-on

         10  in the streets for police officers?

         11                 MS. CHARLES: The NYPD had human

         12  relations training, and under the umbrella of human

         13  relations training, topics included issues of

         14  ethical awareness, police ethics, and cultural

         15  diversity training. And that training was

         16  implemented under the Ben Ward Administration, and

         17  that is the foundation in which I received my

         18  training experience in the Police Department as a

         19  trainer. I was a trainer in that unit.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now,

         21  regarding undercover and specialized operations

         22  training, were you involved in that in any manner,

         23  shape or form?

         24                 MS. CHARLES: No.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.
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          2                 Let me just ask the question, you

          3  heard me ask the question of the President or the

          4  Lieutenants Benevolence Association, your experience

          5  as an office out there in the streets, and profanity

          6  that is used by officers and police at civilians,

          7  and I made a note to myself, and that's the type of

          8  scenario, when civilians are cursed at and

          9  mistreated, and I heard a lot of that in the two

         10  hearings that we attended to in the community, you

         11  know, then the people don't respect the police

         12  officers, and tend to want to hate them, because

         13  they've been mistreated and abused.

         14                 With respects to yourself, was there

         15  a culture of a lot of use of profanity out there in

         16  the precincts and among police officers where they

         17  will be accepted in using that against civilians

         18  that may be stopped and what have you and so forth?

         19                 MS. CHARLES: In my experiences, there

         20  are some officers who engage in profanity within the

         21  Department in talking to each other, and that

         22  language is also carried forth into the community.

         23  And I have heard officers refer to community members

         24  as muts and skells and use other derogatory

         25  language, and that certainly sets up hostile
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          2  situations and community members respond to that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I think

          4  what you said earlier, that if, for example, if you

          5  are an officer on duty and you hear another officer

          6  in handling a civilian make a racial, negative

          7  racial remarks and profanity, if you I guess

          8  attempted to, you know, put that officer in check as

          9  a colleague, or if you reported to the supervisor,

         10  then you would be, I guess you had indicated the

         11  word "isolated" and be labeled by other officers?

         12                 MS. CHARLES: That's correct. That is

         13  --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Is that the

         15  norm in NYPD, in your opinion, as someone that has

         16  been, that worked in NYPD for 18 years, and part of

         17  your years in the Training Department and years out

         18  in the precinct, is that the norm where people will

         19  not speak up because the fear of being isolated

         20  and/or being negatively impacted as far as

         21  promotions and what have you?

         22                 MS. CHARLES: In my experience that is

         23  a very prevalent norm.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: It's a very

         25  prevalent norm?
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          2                 MS. CHARLES: That's correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: In your

          4  opinion, from a supervisory point of view, who

          5  supervises police officers? Is that a Sergeant?

          6  That's not like a corporal or anything like that,

          7  right?

          8                 MS. CHARLES: There is the Sergeant,

          9  the Platoon Commander, the Lieutenant is also in the

         10  chain of command.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But it's

         12  mainly the Sergeants that are the first-line

         13  supervisors of officers?

         14                 MS. CHARLES: There are Lieutenants

         15  who may also be the first-line supervisor of the day

         16  if the Sergeant is not there.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And do you

         18  think that within their ranks as far as first-line

         19  supervisors, that they hear this language in some

         20  instances of abuse out there, and they tolerate it

         21  and/or allow it? Or do they tend to put it in check

         22  with those officers, and to coach or tell those

         23  officers that that's inappropriate and I'm not going

         24  to tolerate that on my team?

         25                 MS. CHARLES: In my experience, I have
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          2  not witnessed an intervention around the use of

          3  language from a Sergeant to a police officer. I have

          4  witnessed that intervention.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And you had

          6  indicated in your testimony that some precincts are

          7  known as dumping grounds for troubled officers, and

          8  I don't know whether or not you will be willing to

          9  state on the record what those precincts are, but

         10  I'm curious to know, if you can state it on the

         11  record or I'll talk to you afterwards, because quite

         12  frankly, I want to know, and I want to know where

         13  they are and I think that everybody wants to know,

         14  because no one, quite frankly, I don't think any

         15  citizen or any New Yorker wants their precinct to be

         16  a dumping ground for trouble officers. If they are

         17  trouble officers, New Yorkers expect those trouble

         18  officers to be dealt with within the administrative

         19  process, to be counseled, to be disciplined, or to

         20  be fired. You know what I mean?

         21                 And I say that to you, I worked 22

         22  years for a labor union, and I know how to protect

         23  our members. I know what members' rights are under

         24  the contract, and I know about labor management, and

         25  I know that the first, most important thing is that
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          2  we educate employees what the rules and regulations

          3  are, and you coach them. And if in fact you need to

          4  take counseling sessions and put in writing and then

          5  if necessary to discipline them, then that's what

          6  has to be done in order to ensure that you have the

          7  best quality personnel out there. And if you feel,

          8  as a supervisor or director, that they need to be

          9  let go, that happens too.

         10                 So, I'm just curious as to whether or

         11  not you want to state that publicly, in your

         12  opinion, or can I talk to you afterwards.

         13                 MS. CHARLES: I can say on the record

         14  that historically, in my experience, again, it's

         15  been some time since I've been in the Department,

         16  but those precincts that were considered as dumping

         17  grounds were very often the high prime, low-income

         18  African-American and Latino communities.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. Well,

         20  thank you very much for coming in.

         21                 MS. CHARLES: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: You raised the

         25  issue in reference to the fear-reduction training,
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          2  and could you kind of give an example of that,

          3  because I think that's something, a part of what we

          4  need to look at, of dealing with and how we

          5  institutionalize it, and maybe perhaps with John Jay

          6  College and others as a vehicle for training, so

          7  maybe if you can talk to this.

          8                 MS. CHARLES: In reference to

          9  fear-reduction training, the way to handle that, to

         10  give you an example is, as a police officer, my

         11  experiences at the firing range was with stationary

         12  targets. I didn't have enough experience at firing

         13  at a moving target or being startled or responding

         14  to a situation where there was movement, and I had

         15  my firearm and needed to use it. So, simulated

         16  circumstances that allow officers to respond under

         17  those circumstances, where there's movement, there's

         18  action, they can respond with the use of that

         19  firearm as opposed to the practice of stationary

         20  targets.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Well, certainly

         22  I want to thank you for the testimony. I know it was

         23  short notice, but I wanted you to be here, and to

         24  make this presentation. And we certainly appreciate

         25  it because it's just going to be very helpful to
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          2  some of the things that we want to do.

          3                 MS. CHARLES: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: The next time

          5  I'll give more notice. Thanks a lot. I appreciate

          6  it.

          7                 MS. CHARLES: You're welcome.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The next panel

          9  will consist of Michael Miller, JCRC; Richard Green;

         10  Mohammad Razvi and Rabbi David Niederman.

         11                 Thank you for coming down. Mr.

         12  Miller, or you guys can come up with your own order.

         13  Please introduce yourself and begin.

         14                 MR. RAZVI: Thank you. Good afternoon,

         15  Council members. My name is Mohammad Razvi. I am the

         16  former Executive Director of Council of Peoples

         17  Organization, and a current candidate for the City

         18  Council, 40th District.

         19                 I am here today to relate to you the

         20  relationship between the NYPD and my Muslim and

         21  South Asian communities.

         22                 Going back to a time prior to World

         23  Trade Center attacks, I was selected to participate

         24  in the Police Department's Citizen Academy. This was

         25  a program initiated by Commissioner Ray Kelly.
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          2  Because of my training at the Academy, I was able to

          3  build relationships and establish a solid liaison

          4  between the local precinct and the communities that

          5  I served.

          6                 That relationship has paved the way

          7  for increased understanding and tolerance on all

          8  sides. The police have shown an evenness to lean

          9  about the characteristics of both my ethnicity and

         10  religion, and we have learned that the police strive

         11  to be fair, efficient and helpful in every respect.

         12                 I am proud to be a part of the

         13  ongoing dialogue that has served our communities so

         14  well for so long. The level of cooperation they have

         15  demonstrated, especially after the horrific events

         16  of 9/11, and its aftermath, have only increased our

         17  respect and admiration for the Police Department and

         18  for the Commissioner, Ray Kelly.

         19                 I am joined, I was joined here

         20  earlier today by old leaders from the Brooklyn South

         21  Asian, Muslim communities. With me, these leaders,

         22  we stand together and concur that the levels of

         23  respect and understanding between our communities

         24  and the Police Department have never been higher

         25  than they are today.
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          2                 Thank you for the opportunity for

          3  testifying at this joint Committee hearing.

          4                 If you have any questions,

          5  afterwards. Thank you.

          6                 MR. MILLER: Thank you very much,

          7  Chair Vallone and Seabrook, to Council Members

          8  Comrie, Barron and Mr. Jackson had to leave. I just

          9  want to first indicate that Rabbi Niederman had to

         10  leave. He was here for several hours in the first

         11  part of the hearing, and Richard Green similarly had

         12  to leave.

         13                 I believe that Rabbi Neiderman

         14  submitted his testimony, certain testimony.

         15                 Good afternoon. My name is Michael

         16  Miller, and I'm the Executive Vice President and CEO

         17  of the Jewish Community Relations Council of the

         18  City of New York. Joining me today is the Chair of

         19  our Commission on Jewish Security, Suli Goodgold,

         20  and to my left, David Pollack, our Associate

         21  Executive Director.

         22                 At the outset, allow me to express my

         23  deepest sympathy to the family of Sean Bell. The

         24  grand jury is in its earliest phase, and

         25  circumstances are not yet clarified, but we do know
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          2  that no one wanted this outcome, and it is incumbent

          3  on all of us to honor the memory of Sean Bell, and

          4  to work to see that this kind of tragedy is not ever

          5  repeated.

          6                 New Yorkers seeking to identify

          7  improvements for the NYPD are starting from a good

          8  base. In New York City, the number of fatal

          9  shootings is half the rate in the 1990s, and New

         10  York has the lowest rate of fatal police shootings

         11  of nine large American cities. Every indicator is

         12  improving. But we have to face the fact that mere

         13  improvement is not good enough.

         14                 We commend Police Commissioner

         15  Raymond Kelly on his decision to retain the RAND

         16  Corporation, a world renowned non-governmental

         17  organization, to make an independent assessment of

         18  the quality and effectiveness of all NYPD firearms

         19  training.

         20                 Fortunately, the New York City Police

         21  Foundation will fund this important effort.

         22  Similarly, Police Commissioner Kelly's decision to

         23  elevate community affairs to the status of a bureau

         24  is another indicator of his dedication to enhancing

         25  NYPD's work with communities throughout the City.
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          2                 We also applaud Mayor Bloomberg's

          3  commitment as stated in his State of the City

          4  Address to make sure the NYPD treats every New

          5  Yorker equally, and with dignity. The expansion of

          6  the resources in staffing at the Civilian Complaint

          7  Review Board will ensure that all citizen complaints

          8  against police officers are dealt with swiftly and

          9  seriously.

         10                 These efforts should encourage New

         11  Yorkers to treat police officers with respect and to

         12  expect respect from them in return.

         13                 Mayor Bloomberg's Community

         14  Assistance Unit is an increasingly important

         15  component of the community relations picture. It's

         16  ability to get accurate information and to reach out

         17  to community leaders 24/7 has contained many

         18  potential crises.

         19                 There are many reasons for New York's

         20  prodigious drop in crime. One significant factor is

         21  the new generation of precinct commanders who are

         22  proactive on many fronts. These exceptional men and

         23  women know that their job goes beyond just fighting

         24  crime. They are trained to be sensitive to community

         25  relations and know that such talents will contribute
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          2  to their future success in the NYPD.

          3                 It should be noted that leaders such

          4  as Commissioner Kelly, Chief Esposito and most the

          5  other chiefs first distinguish themselves as

          6  exemplary community leaders. They are outstanding

          7  role models.

          8                 No relationship is perfect, but we of

          9  the Jewish community are proud of our partnership

         10  with NYPD, despite occasional rough spots. As in any

         11  relationship, it takes work.

         12                 Police Commissioner Kelly and his key

         13  staff meet with the community with our community

         14  leaders as least twice a year before the high

         15  holidays and before passover.

         16                 Those attending learn about NYPD

         17  activities, take the opportunity to question the

         18  Commissioner himself, and comment on local

         19  conditions. The Commissioner's liaison unit and

         20  others helps to keep them apprised of issues in many

         21  diverse communities on an ongoing basis.

         22                 We of the JCRC know that good

         23  community relationships function best when there is

         24  a partnership, and all partnerships are two-way

         25  streets.
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          2                 The best way for NYPD to learn about

          3  communities so that they can be communities, so that

          4  they can be sensitive to our needs and cultures, is

          5  for us to teach them and be part of their training.

          6  JCRC trains neighborhood-based leaders to regularly

          7  reach out to their local precinct commanders and

          8  community affairs officers. We stress the importance

          9  of participating in the local Precinct Community

         10  Council and Precinct Clergy Council. We suggest that

         11  leaders invite their local police officials to their

         12  community celebrations, and events.

         13                 JCRC's Intergroup Relations Division

         14  also trains scores of non-Jewish Community Leaders

         15  in best practices in community and police community

         16  relations.

         17                 Truth be told, it's not just the

         18  police, everyone can use training. Due to the work

         19  that both sides put into the relationship, any rough

         20  spot is short lived and solutions can be readily

         21  found.

         22                 We, of the Jewish community, are

         23  proud of our relationship with the NYPD, and we are

         24  committed to make it even better yet.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Rabbi Neiderman?

          3                 MR. MILLER: I'm sorry, Rabbi

          4  Neiderman is not here. Mr. Pollack.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm sorry. Do

          6  you have a statement?

          7                 MR. POLLACK: No.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. Thank you,

          9  Mr. Miller, especially. I'm well aware of the work

         10  you've done regarding race relations, having worked

         11  with you in the past. I thank you both for coming

         12  down.

         13                 I don't have any questions.

         14                 Any other Council member?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: I just

         16  certainly want to thank you for what you all have

         17  done. It's very important, and we appreciate it, and

         18  it will certainly be a part of the record. And I've

         19  worked with you, all of you for many years, and

         20  let's continue to do what has to be done for this

         21  City.

         22                 Thank you very much for coming.

         23                 MR. MILLER: Thank you, Mr. Chair. And

         24  thank you, members of the Council.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.
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          2                 Now we'll hear from Noel Leader,

          3  Marquez Claxton, and Phyllis Clayborne, with 100

          4  Blacks In Law Enforcement.

          5                 MR. CLAXTON: Good morning. Good

          6  afternoon. My name is Marq Claxton. I'm one of the

          7  co-founders of 100 Blacks In Law Enforcement Who

          8  Care, and today I'm here with Ms. Phyllis Clayborne.

          9                 I'm going to make my comments first,

         10  and then Ms. Clayborne will then read her statement.

         11                 It should be noted that this date,

         12  January 24th, is the third anniversary of the

         13  killing of innocent, unarmed, 17-year-old Timothy

         14  Stansbury, by Police Officer Richard Neri in

         15  Brooklyn.

         16                 Of course, the very narrow and

         17  purposely restrictive purview of this hearing

         18  prevents us from examining the woefully inadequate

         19  response to Timothy's killing by the NYPD, and the

         20  governmental apathy that continues to place innocent

         21  citizens at risk.

         22                 Perhaps in an attempt to deflect

         23  blame, prevent meaningful discourse, both Mr.

         24  Vallone and Mr. Seabrook have strategically decided

         25  to merely engage in a smoke screen examination of
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          2  only undercover and specialized operations training.

          3                 What is your definition of

          4  "specialized operations?" Even the subject of this

          5  hearing indicates the lack of familiarity, not only

          6  with the NYPD structure, but also with the wishes of

          7  the community at large who have requested a full and

          8  comprehensive hearing in fact on the overall subject

          9  of police criminality, abuse and misconduct. It is

         10  willful negligence when elected officials refuse to

         11  accept their charge, the charge of their constituent

         12  and allow politics to trump public service.

         13                 Especially troubling is that we have

         14  committees that have no verifiable commission or

         15  lack of autonomy. There comes a time when politics

         16  has to take a back seat to public service, and that

         17  time is now. Justice delayed is justice denied.

         18                 Because of the failure of both the

         19  Civil Rights Committee and the Public Safety

         20  Committee to conduct oversight hearings and create

         21  legislation, innocent people have been killed and

         22  entire communities continue to be criminalized by

         23  NYPD strategies and initiatives that target the

         24  black and Latino community. Mr. Vallone, and Mr.

         25  Seabrook, you both have blood on your hands.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm sorry, you

          3  want us to take the politics out of this? Is that

          4  what you're saying?

          5                 MR. CLAXTON: These committees --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: What office are

          7  you running for right now? What office are you

          8  running for?

          9                 MR. CLAXTON: -- Must be proactive and

         10  not reactive because it is a matter of life and

         11  death. All operations of the NYPD must be

         12  independently analyzed and audited. If neither

         13  committee has the will or the ability to do this,

         14  then this proceeding is merely an exercise in

         15  futility. The failure of these committees to obtain

         16  specific data pertaining to the hearing subject

         17  matter, prior to this actual hearing is a clear

         18  indication that this proceeding is less about fact

         19  finding, and more about public relations and

         20  political posturing.

         21                 To establish this point, why is it

         22  that the City Council goes to great extremes to

         23  avoid placing the appointed Police Commissioner and

         24  his representatives under oath?

         25                 This past Sunday, during the course
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          2  of a 98.7 KissFM Open Line radio program, Mr.

          3  Seabrook repeatedly and emphatically stated that

          4  police officers lie. If this is indeed your belief,

          5  Mr. Seabrook, why then should we accept Commissioner

          6  Kelly's testimony here as anything other than pure

          7  fabrication?

          8                 The New York City Charter provides

          9  for the swearing of witnesses, and the need for

         10  honest disclosure demands this. Legislative bodies

         11  who conduct legitimate hearings actually require an

         12  oath of veracity, otherwise the hearing, the

         13  dialogue is casual conversation disguised as

         14  testimony. Can you imagine a congressional hearing

         15  without sworn testimony? Why has the integrity of

         16  this proceeding been compromised? Is it ignorance,

         17  cowardice or favor?

         18                 There is a glaring omission in the

         19  subject of today's hearing and the proposed future

         20  joint hearings by the Public Safety Committee and

         21  the Civil rights Committee. Today's hearing should

         22  be appropriately titled Undercover and Special

         23  Operations In The Black and Latino Community.

         24                 The proposed future hearing should be

         25  Steps To Strengthen The Relationship Between The
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          2  Black and Latino Community and the NYPD. The fact

          3  that you choose to pretend that operations,

          4  strategies, enforcement and relationships between

          5  the NYPD and the citizens is a colorblind, one size

          6  fits all discussion shows just how far removed the

          7  City Council is from the harsh realities outside of

          8  this chamber. The omission is especially troubling

          9  when these proceedings are held jointly with a

         10  so-called Civil Rights Committee. There is no hue

         11  and cry from the white communities about police

         12  misconduct and brutality because it doesn't exist

         13  there. There is no demand from the white communities

         14  for more respectful relationships because they have

         15  that. There are no white led mass protests because

         16  innocent, unarmed white people are gunned down by

         17  their sworn protectors because it doesn't happen. A

         18  hearing that hopes to find truths must being with

         19  the correct premise, otherwise the conclusions will

         20  be wrong. Unfortunately, denial is not just a river

         21  in Africa, but rather a standard course of operation

         22  for far too many legislators, or should I say

         23  politicians masquerading as legislators. The

         24  solution is simple and should be obvious to all: The

         25  black and Latino community must be afforded the same

                                                            259

          1  COMMITTEES ON PUBLIC SAFETY AND CIVIL RIGHTS

          2  level of service and respect that the white

          3  community receives.

          4                 NYPD Undercover and Special

          5  Operations, whatever that is, must be monitored

          6  regularly by an independent body of qualified

          7  examiners whose mission it is to find truth in hopes

          8  of improving the service to all citizens. As a

          9  matter of fact, all NYPD operations, initiatives and

         10  procedures need to be independently fine-tooth

         11  combed. The fact that these two committees, along

         12  with several other co-opted Council members have

         13  turned a deaf ear to the plea by its citizens to

         14  serve as a check and balance to the executive

         15  branch.

         16                 We have been down this road before.

         17  What good is an examination without speedy diagnosis

         18  and treatment? For example, why has there been no

         19  compliance of the legally binding settlement that

         20  was reached between the NYPD and the Center for

         21  Constitutional Rights, which mandated a quarterly

         22  report on all stop and frisk reports to ensure that

         23  the NYPD was not engaging in discriminatory or

         24  racial profiling? This Council was charged with

         25  ensuring the reporting and compliance requirements.
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          2  Somehow, after the light of the cameras disappeared,

          3  so did the City Council's oversight of this mandate.

          4                 There have been no quarterly reports

          5  submitted since 2003. Perhaps if Mr. Vallone had

          6  spent less time with such issues as motorcycle

          7  exhaust pipes and Pit Bull regulations, we could

          8  actually find out if the NYPD continues to document

          9  racial profiling as it did in 1999 when former

         10  Attorney General Spitzer, and newly elected Governor

         11  Spitzer, was able to verify that Blacks and Latinos

         12  were overwhelmingly and disproportionately stopped

         13  and/or frisked in comparison to Whites.

         14                 As for Mr. Seabrook, many are

         15  beginning to wonder if the Civil Rights Committee

         16  should have remained a Subcommittee. To ignore the

         17  aforementioned stop and/or frisk data requirement

         18  and concerns along the ongoing allocations of NYPD

         19  brutality, selective and targeted enforcement, and

         20  most recently ordered racial profiling by NYPD

         21  commander is nothing short of malfeasance.  Mr.

         22  Seabrook has consistency hidden behind the guise of

         23  jurisdictional conflict.

         24                 If the Civil Rights Committee cannot

         25  independently conduct Civil Rights Hearings, then
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          2  this Committee should be a Subcommittee and be

          3  absorbed into one of the other full Committees.

          4  Since Mr. Seabrook's focus seems to be so closely

          5  aligned with Mr. Vallone, perhaps the Public Safety

          6  Committee would be a perfect fit. This move would

          7  safe the citizens money and it would eliminate the

          8  confusion that exists when you have a Civil Rights

          9  Committee reluctant to conduct Civil Rights

         10  Hearings.

         11                 While these Nero twins fiddle around,

         12  Rome is burning and people are in harms way. The

         13  only hope for this body, and in particular these two

         14  Committees to restore the public faith is for there

         15  to be revolutionary reform.  And in the words of Dr.

         16  Martin Luther King, Jr., "This is no time to engage

         17  in the luxury of cooling off or to take the

         18  tranquilizing drug of gradualism." It is incumbent

         19  upon all those who are committed to justice to

         20  engage in its journey.  Photo opportunities and

         21  vague press releases do not constitute effective

         22  representation. If you fail to take the necessary

         23  immediate steps to prevent further death and

         24  distrust, then you are as much of the problem as are

         25  the NYPD representatives that testified here today.
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          2                 Finally, failure to properly examine

          3  and without bias formulate an immediate remedy for

          4  NYPD misconduct and abuse, will result in another

          5  Sean Bell.  We know this because your past failures

          6  have resulted in countless deaths of innocent and

          7  unarmed Blacks and Latinos.  It is time to put up or

          8  shut up.  The world is watching.

          9                 MS. CLAYBORNE: Good afternoon

         10  Council.  Thank you for allowing me to speak. I am

         11  the mother of Timothy Stansbury, who on this very

         12  day in 2004 at age 19 was shot and killed by a

         13  police officer Richard Neri. I am here today as a

         14  victim of an Administration and a system that not

         15  only has ended my young son's promising life, but

         16  made matters worse by lying to my grieving family.

         17  My family's pain can not be taken away, but we had

         18  hoped that the government would somehow give us the

         19  justice that we deserve. Unfortunately, we were

         20  wrong.

         21                 While you ladies and gentlemen spend

         22  the time pretending that you are looking for

         23  solutions, innocent lives are being taken by people

         24  who are sworn to protect us.  Worst yet, the Mayor,

         25  the Commissioner and even the City Council don't
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          2  seem to be committed to making the system fair for

          3  victims of police abuse and misconduct.

          4                 My family story is familiar to the

          5  Diallo family, the Dorismond family, the Zongo

          6  family and all other families that have found no

          7  true justice for the killing of their loved ones.

          8                 It is important to have Hearings

          9  about the NYPD, but what good are the Hearings if

         10  you are not going to enforce laws which were already

         11  passed by the Council, which were created to prevent

         12  innocent people from being killed by the police and

         13  hold the police accountable.

         14                 I am not anti- police, in fact I have

         15  worked for many years under the supervision of the

         16  police department as a school crossing guard.  I

         17  wish that the NYPD took as much care with innocent

         18  people as I do, with the precious children that I am

         19  in contact with every day.  It is part of your

         20  responsibility to  make sure that the government

         21  works fairly for all people.  I must say that you

         22  have failed miserably.  I thought it was part of

         23  your responsibility to make sure that the government

         24  worked fairly for all people.  If this is part of

         25  your mission, I must say that you failed miserably.
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          2                 I haven't lost faith in the justice

          3  system, just the people who use the justice system

          4  to their political advantage and don't care about

          5  the lives they have permanently destroyed.

          6                 After my son's killing Mayor

          7  Bloomberg and Commissioner Kelly promised that they

          8  would do all that they could to give me justice.

          9  They have both gone back on their promise.  I had

         10  hoped that the City Council would recognize the

         11  great loss that my family suffered and do something

         12  to bring about change in the way police behave in

         13  Black and Hispanic communities.  I can truly say

         14  that I have waited in vain.  Along with the Mayor

         15  and the Commissioner, the City Council has to share

         16  the blame for a system that has failed my family and

         17  many other families.  This same blame for the system

         18  that has failed my family and other families, the

         19  same Council people did not even act to prevent

         20  another senseless loss of innocent life and that is

         21   --.  You have to excuse me because today is my

         22  son's anniversary of his death.  It is three years

         23  that he has been dead.

         24                 The same blame for a system that has

         25  failed my family and many others, the same City
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          2  Council did not even act to prevent senseless loss

          3  of innocent life that is why my heart bleeds every

          4  day for the family of Sean Bell.  I know the pain

          5  that I feel and I am afraid of the disappointment

          6  that will suffer that when all the cameras go away

          7  unfortunately.  I know this because the police that

          8  killed my son continues to be on the New York City

          9  Police payroll and will soon retire with a full

         10  pension.  He was never charged with the crime and

         11  the Commissioner Ray Kelly refuses to use his

         12  authority to terminate officer Richard Neri for

         13  failing to use his safeguard weapon, which resulted

         14  in the death of my son.

         15                 Commissioner Kelly instead decided to

         16  excuse the criminal actions of the police officer

         17  who while performing normal patrol duty inside an

         18  occupied building, chose to remove his loaded gun

         19  out of his holster, point it in an unsafe direction,

         20  while placing his finger on the trigger.  I was also

         21  informed that the Commissioner Kelly hasn't made any

         22  procedural changes as promised, which could prevent

         23  another innocent person from being summarily killed.

         24  The NYPD has not made any changes to the procedures

         25  to prevent another innocent person from being shot
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          2  or killed because police officers are patrolling in

          3  Black and Hispanic communities as if they are in a

          4  war zone.

          5                 My son's death was avoidable if the

          6  Mayor, the Police Commissioner and the City Council

          7  was seriously committed to controlling the NYPD.

          8  Because the government lacks integrity, I predict

          9  that Sean Bell's death will not be the last.  And

         10  once again you people will hold a Hearing as if you

         11  don't understand the problem.  Why are you playing

         12  politics while innocent people's lives are being

         13  killed.  The problem is not simply with the

         14  individual officers with our system created by the

         15  Police Commissioner and endorsed by the Mayor and

         16  the City Council that is allowed to treat people

         17  differently because of their race.

         18                 How can the Mayor, the Commissioner

         19  and the City Council allow the killer of my son to

         20  be on the City payroll and then expect people to

         21  believe in the process.  How many deaths will it

         22  take for someone to realize that this system is

         23  failing. If    the system is failing the people who

         24  are in charge of the system must be removed.  Anger

         25  and frustration at this failure is because of
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          2  instead of doing something we are just talking.  I

          3  am convinced that you cannot relate to the pain that

          4  I have to deal with every day of my life.  If you

          5  could, you would have suffered the same loss that I

          6  have and expect justice from this corrupt system.

          7  God forbid you will have to deal with the guilt

          8  knowing of the fact that the ability to change

          9  things and you refuse to do so.

         10                 Justice is now out of reach for my

         11  family, but I ask you to save someone else's pain

         12  and anguish.  If you were elected to represent and

         13  to protect the citizens, simply just do your job.

         14  Put the politics aside and let common decency and

         15  your humanity guide you for your sake.  Don't allow

         16  another innocent person to die while you are all

         17  just holding Hearings.

         18                 And I would just like to add to that.

         19  Our children don't walk around with shields on us

         20  telling us of what type of work we do.  I just want

         21  to leave this with you.  We all are not exempt for

         22  what has happened to my son.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         24                 The next panel is Elmer Blackburne

         25  and Bridget Kennedy.  We will follow that up with
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          2  members of the public who have submitted sheets.

          3                 MR. BLACKBURNE:  Good afternoon

          4  Chairman Vallone and Chairman Seabrook, and Members

          5  of the Committee, and also to my Councilman, the

          6  Honorable Councilman Comrie.  I am pleased to offer

          7  these remarks before your Committee,

          8                 My name is Elmer Blackburne.  I am

          9  the District Leader of the 29th Assembly District

         10  representing the communities of Laurelton,

         11  Springfield Gardens, Rosedale, Saint Albans in

         12  southeast Queens for the last 24 years, a middle

         13  class, stable community of one and two family homes.

         14    I am proud to say that the 29th Assembly District

         15  has the distinction of being one of the highest

         16  voting districts in the City.

         17                 I am before the Committee to express

         18  the outrage of our community in the wake of the

         19  senseless killing of Mr. Sean Bell on the morning of

         20  November 25th, 2006.  Since that time there has been

         21  a series of community meetings and forums lead by

         22  our Congressman Meeks,  Councilman Comrie and other

         23  elected officials, members of the clergy and faith

         24  community and community and civic leaders, including

         25  100 Blacks and law enforcement, the District
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          2  Attorney's Office and high ranking commanders of the

          3  police department and other representatives of the

          4  community.

          5                 I shall also add that shortly after

          6  this tragedy our Mayor and Police Commissioner met

          7  with representatives of the community and both have

          8  pledged their support and full cooperation to assure

          9  a full and thorough investigation of this tragedy

         10  and we certainly hope we will see that happening.

         11                 While there was a general consensus

         12  that the NYPD is indeed the finest police department

         13  in the country, and many police officers are truly

         14  committed to their work as servants of the people,

         15  incidents like the Diallo shooting and the Bell

         16  shooting and of course the Stansbury shooting tends

         17  to cast a dark cloud over the department.  Public

         18  expressions throughout our community, and indeed,

         19  throughout the City are angry and there is a sense

         20  of outrage rarely heard in public dialogue that I

         21  have witnessed in the last several weeks. This has

         22  been documented also by a pattern which you have

         23  heard here today in testimony of police civilian

         24  incidents in our community and throughout the City.

         25                 We all bear witness to the fact that
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          2  the African American communities are policed

          3  differently than other communities.  That Black

          4  youth are harassed for no apparent reason by the

          5  police and upstanding citizens have experienced

          6  disrespect and hostility by the police and most

          7  recently, we heard of a prominent minister in Harlem

          8  who was arrested.

          9                 At a recent forum which I hosted with

         10  other community leaders, many participants expressed

         11  the view that some instances of police misconduct

         12  may be due to their inability to relate to

         13  communities of color.  In any event, the Police

         14  Commissioner and ultimately the Mayor must bear full

         15  responsibility when citizens are harmed in such a

         16  brutal way.

         17                 I was made aware of the fact that the

         18  City Council has announced a series of Citywide

         19  forums and meetings with the objective of fostering

         20  better relationships between the police department

         21  and local communities.  This is certainly a step in

         22  the right direction, but will be meaningless unless

         23  the Council follows up and sponsors strong

         24  legislation and oversight necessary for real reform

         25  in the highest echelons of the police department.
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          2                 In closing, I would like to offer

          3  some suggestions to the Council when reviewing

          4  police operations for more accountability.

          5                 One.  Specialized units and

          6  undercover operations should be restructured.  I

          7  think we have heard a lot of how they were described

          8  to us but I think there was something fundamentally

          9  wrong in recent incidents of undercover operations.

         10  I believe that the various borough commands and

         11  precinct commands where these operations are carried

         12  out must be notified in a way to assure maximum

         13  accountability by police supervisors.

         14                 Two.  A review of undercover

         15  operations in strip joints and other such targets of

         16  operation where undercovers are allowed two drinks

         17  should be reevaluated.  At the very least police

         18  officers should be required to undergo alcohol and

         19  drug testing immediately after firing their weapons,

         20  and especially if death or serious injury takes

         21  place.

         22                 Three.  The records of civilian

         23  complaints filed, as well as those found to be

         24  substantiated, should be made available for public

         25  review in the precinct where these incidents took
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          2  place.

          3                 Four.  More extensive firearms

          4  training must be required in simulated situations,

          5  armed and unarmed.  And I appreciate, as I was

          6  listening to the witness, Ms. James I think it was,

          7  who explained some of her experiences as a police

          8  officer and what she thought was lacking in terms of

          9  simulated situations.

         10                 Five.  Police Academy training must

         11  include at least a 30 to 60 day internship in

         12  community- based organizations or culturally

         13  racially and ethically diverse groups.  I think we

         14  have heard that said in so many different ways today

         15  and I don't think it's unreasonable.  Our attorneys,

         16  our doctors, our accountants, everybody has an

         17  internship.  So I think this is something that the

         18  Council will hopefully take a look at and see if

         19  that is feasible. I think it is.

         20                 Six.  The Council must fight for a

         21  higher salary of course for our new police officers.

         22    Their present salary, as we have all testified, is

         23  totally inadequate.

         24                 I respectfully submit this testimony

         25  and I thank you for having me here today.
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          2                 MS. KENNEDY:  Good afternoon, my name

          3  is Bridget Kennedy.  I am here for the Oversight of

          4  Police Project and the New York City Policing

          5  Roundtable.  The Community Oversight of Police

          6  Project is a joint project with the New York Lawyers

          7  for the Public Interest and the New York City

          8  Policing Roundtable.  We advocate for victims of

          9  police misconduct and represent victims of police

         10  misconduct in Civilian Complaint Review Board

         11  investigations. I have been an advocate and

         12  organizer with the Community Oversight of Police

         13  Project for two years.

         14                 The New York City Policing Roundtable

         15  was formed in 2001 to foster continuing

         16  relationships between civil rights and public

         17  interest attorneys, community organizers, advocates,

         18  policy analysts, academics, and others who work to

         19  end police misconduct in New York City.  The New

         20  York City Policing Roundtable seeks to reduce police

         21  misconduct in New York City by fostering community

         22  organizing and advocacy, public education,

         23  litigation and research.

         24                 I will briefly address some of our

         25  concerns regarding police department oversight, and
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          2  members of the New York City Policing Roundtable

          3  will be available after the Hearing for any follow

          4  up questions you may have.

          5                 First, communities of color are

          6  disproportionately impacted by specialized units of

          7  the New York Police Department, such as the Club

          8  Enforcement Task Force Unit.  Attention must be paid

          9  to the disproportionate impact current NYPD

         10  practices have on communities of color.  Imagine if

         11  the officers who fired at Sean Bell had instead

         12  fired at a wealthy young man, and fired fifty times

         13  into a public area on the Upper East Side or in

         14  Murray Hill. It is hard to imagine.

         15                 The specialized units that are

         16  deployed in New York City disproportionately affect

         17  communities of low income and color.

         18  The Club Enforcement Task Force Unit that shot Sean

         19  Bell is only one example of a specialized unit.  We

         20  call your attention back to an oversight hearing on

         21  April 19, 1999, where City Council Members wee

         22  advised of the racial disparities in civilian

         23  interactions by the Street Crimes Unit. I will draw

         24  your attention to pages 2 and 3 of our testimony for

         25  details of that hearing, which highlight the racial
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          2  disparity in specialized units stop and frisk.

          3                 In addition to creating an atmosphere

          4  of distrust and fear of the police, these racially

          5  disproportionate police actions raise serious

          6  concerns about the City's failure to comply with

          7  Title VI of the federal civil rights law.   Title VI

          8  prohibits discrimination on the basis of "race,

          9  color, or national origin under any program or

         10  activity receiving Federal financial assistance,"

         11  and the NYPD is a recipient of federal funding and

         12  it must abide by Title VI and its regulations.

         13  Title VI would prohibit both intentional racial

         14  profiling, and also practices which result in

         15  racially disparate outcomes.

         16                 We ask that this City Council demand

         17  and examine statistics concerning all specialized

         18  undercover unit interactions with community members,

         19  not just the Club Enforcement unit that shot and

         20  killed Sean Bell.

         21                 Second, greater oversight of the NYPD

         22  training and discipline process is needed.  Although

         23  it is heartening that the NYPD has turned to an

         24  outside entity for an assessment of firearms

         25  training, the RAND Corporation, this assessment must
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          2  be public and we hope that the City Council will

          3  demand to play a role in the assessment and obtain

          4  access tot he information exchanged between the NYPD

          5  and RAND.

          6                 We ask that City Council assert their

          7  right to oversight to demand that the NYPD

          8  meaningfully address improving training on use of

          9  firearms, and particularly the "contagious firing

         10  phenomenon."  The NYPD has been aware of this

         11  problem for many years.  In 1999, with the Diallo

         12  shooting and in 1998 with the Cerebelli shooting.

         13  We saw how this phenomenon can cause tragic loss of

         14  life, yet the NYPD has not taken measures to address

         15  this problem.

         16                 The City Council should demand that

         17  the NYPD develop a plan for addressing the

         18  contagious firing phenomenon, make the plan public

         19  and available for comments, and take responsibility

         20  on behalf of the New York public to ensure that the

         21  plan is properly implemented.

         22                 Additionally, we note that the nature

         23  of undercover operations by specialized units is

         24  itself problematic.  Undercover officers may need to

         25  reveal their identity during extremely tense
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          2  situations, when the citizens involved may have the

          3  idea that they are being attacked by the officer, or

          4  when tensions have created emotional states that

          5  place citizens in flight- or fight mode, or where

          6  instinctual reactions have taken over for reasoned

          7  reactions. To expect a person in such a situation to

          8  instantly comprehend the new situation even if an

          9  undercover officer has shouted "police" and flashed

         10  a badge is unrealistic in these particularly tense

         11  situations.

         12                 However, it is the very nature of

         13  specialized undercover police operations that these

         14  kinds of circumstances will arise.  For this reason,

         15  it is imperative that undercover officers are

         16  highly- trained, highly- experienced officers who

         17  are most able to handle these kinds of extreme

         18  circumstances without resorting to unnecessary

         19  violence.  Many claim that the reason that

         20  contagious firing phenomenon occurs is a combination

         21  of inexperience, fear, confusion, and lack of

         22  training.

         23                 We need to do everything possible to

         24  reduce these occurrences and requiring much better

         25  training for undercover officers is the first step.
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          2  The City Council should take the further step to

          3  monitor the implementation of better training for

          4  undercover and specialized units.

          5                 Third, the City Council should not

          6  narrowly define the goals of its oversight today.

          7  Oversight of the police department should not just

          8  be limited to responses to high- profile tragedies

          9  such as the Sean Bell shooting.  Well- publicized

         10  incidents of police violence do not occur in a

         11  vacuum, and there is a broader, more pervasive,

         12  daily problem of police misconduct in New York City.

         13

         14                 In many communities, particularly

         15  communities of color, people are subjected to

         16  repeated incidents of police misconduct.  Systemic

         17  misconduct undermines entire communities' faith and

         18  trust in the police department.  It harms us all, it

         19  harms police- community relations and it interferes

         20  with the ability of police to rely on communities to

         21  investigate and prevent crimes.

         22                 At the Community Oversight Police

         23  Project, we have learned a great deal about the

         24  systemic, day- to- day misconduct that pervades many

         25  communities.  We have heard many stories of very
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          2  upsetting experiences with the NYPD, often boiling

          3  down to simple disrespect by the officer toward the

          4  citizen.  It is an unfortunate reality that police

          5  officers sometimes lie; they sometimes use too much

          6  force; they sometimes make mistaken identifications

          7  and refuse to apologize for their mistakes.  To err

          8  is human and no one expects that police officers can

          9  somehow surpass their humanity and be perfect

         10  decision- makers and law- enforcers.

         11                 However, we can and do expect police

         12  to be held to a higher standard than civilians

         13  because we give them so much power that no one else

         14  has.  We can expect that instances of police

         15  misconduct are fully investigated and quickly and

         16  appropriately reprimanded.  We can expect that the

         17  City Council, the Civilian Complaint Review Board,

         18  and all other City agencies take their oversight

         19  roles seriously, and act vigorously to address

         20  policing issues while they are still just issues of

         21  misconduct, before they become major tragedies.

         22                 At the Community Oversight Police

         23  Project we are concerned that day- to- day issues of

         24  police misconduct are often ignored, or treated as

         25  though they are not real policing problems. The CCRB
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          2  should not be thought of as a mere safety valve to

          3  quiet discontent, but must become an agent of change

          4  that can improve the NYPD.  The fact that day- to-

          5  day instances of police misconduct are concentrated

          6  in certain communities, particularly in communities

          7  of color, and the fact that this kind of police

          8  misconduct happens with such frequency indicate that

          9  day- to- day police misconduct is indeed a very

         10  serious problem in New York City.  We ask that City

         11  Council use its oversight role to address the

         12  frequent instances of police misconduct that plague

         13  so many communities.

         14                 We ask that City Council takes this

         15  time of reflection, public attention and critical

         16  examination of the NYPD to consider ways to decrease

         17  the too- frequent rates of police misconduct, such

         18  as demanding that police discipline records are

         19  available for the public, that the CCRB obtains

         20  prosecutorial power, that police receive improved

         21  firearms training that addresses dire arms control

         22  and contagious firing, that police receive training

         23  in proper ways to interact with people with mental

         24  illnesses, and that police receive specific

         25  directives to strengthen their community
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          2  relationships by treating every member of the public

          3  with courtesy and respect.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you. Let

          6  me respond to some of the things you said because

          7  you and Mr. Blackburne who just testified, are

          8  worthy of response, as opposed to past panels.

          9                 You mentioned that, you seem to have

         10  the same misapprehension that some people in the

         11  past felt about the oversight process.  Maybe you

         12  were not here earlier, maybe a lot of people were

         13  not here earlier.  We said that this Hearing was

         14  narrowly tailored because we were having at least

         15  three other Hearings here at City Hall on different

         16  topics, such as stop and frisk.  We are having at

         17  least nine community speak- outs.

         18                 So I understand other people cannot

         19  understand that but maybe you were not aware of that

         20  but that's why this is narrowly tailored because we

         21  wanted to give enough attention to each of these

         22  issues.  We understand that each of these issues

         23  deserves a full- day Hearing.  That's why we did

         24  that.

         25                 Also, a quote of statistics.  I know
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          2  you are a third year student in law school so when

          3  you quote statistics, you can't leave out some of

          4  the most important factors.  You quoted stop and

          5  frisk statistics regarding different races of people

          6  who were stopped in certain areas, 64 percent

          7  African- American,  20 percent Hispanics, 6 percent

          8  White.  Somehow, you neglected to mention what the

          9  percentage of what Open 61 complaints were in those

         10  areas.  Are you aware of that?

         11                 MS. KENNEDY: I am aware of that.

         12  However, I think that in order to bring that

         13  statistic into it we have to look at how many stop

         14  and frisks are the result of victim complaints.  It

         15  is my understanding that most are the result of drug

         16  or weapon possession, which wouldn't have any

         17  complaint to be based on.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, first of

         19  all I disagree. Most are the result of Open 61s, but

         20  we can agree that a substantial portion would be the

         21  result of Open 61s.  Open 61s would be a good

         22  indication of who is committing the crime in a

         23  certain area.  Wouldn't you agree?

         24                 MS. KENNEDY:  Well, it's an

         25  indication of who is committing those crimes, I
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          2  don't think it's an indication of who is committing

          3  other crimes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, if we are

          5  going to disagree on that one, we're not going to

          6  have time to go into it any further.  Any questions?

          7                 MS. KENNEDY: Not from me.  Thank you

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Sorry, I meant

          9  of anyone.

         10                 MS. KENNEDY: Oh, sorry, you were

         11  looking at me.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Sorry.  I do

         13  want to thank you though for your other suggestions

         14  and the time you took and waiting as long as you

         15  have to come down here.  But, I do think that's a

         16  very important part of any statistics the amount of

         17  open complaints and you probably should do an

         18  analysis of how many stops are done based on that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Just a point,

         20  the other Hearings that we are going to have that

         21  perhaps that information that you have on data,

         22  because there will be a Hearing around stop and

         23  frisk and also the CCRB and a number of others, so

         24  that's important.  That information that you bring

         25  is very important. And, thanks for the information.
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          2                 MS. KENNEDY:   Your welcome.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

          4  Comrie.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Yes.  I just

          6  wanted to thank Elmer Blackburne, District Leader

          7  29th A.D. For coming down today and presenting his

          8  testimony and for making all the meetings in the

          9  community that have been held regarding this issue.

         10  Trying also to do the things necessary to ensure

         11  that we have the opportunity to further move into

         12  all areas of the community in southeast Queens to

         13  deal with this particular issue, primarily affected

         14  by what happened about the Sean Bell incident and

         15  the desire for effective police/community relations

         16  and effective policing.  So, just wanted to thank

         17  you and tell you the next time you testify, don't

         18  leave until we tell you to leave.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: I just wanted

         20  to thank District Leader Blackburne, who had been

         21  here in the beginning of the day, early, one of the

         22  first people who was here and also for providing us

         23  with these recommendations.  I think they are very

         24  important for us that we will take under

         25  consideration and that we can come out with some
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          2  things that could be very productive and I really

          3  appreciate your being here.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes, myself

          5  also.  Thank you for waiting all day.  And Ms.

          6  Kennedy we look forward to your group's input in the

          7  future Hearings, and if you have anything before,

          8  please send it to us.  Thank you both.

          9                 We are now going to begin with

         10  testimony from the public.  Each person will be

         11  given two minutes or we can try to get to everyone

         12  who has put their names up here.  In the first

         13  panel, if you are still around, and I apologize for

         14  the length of time, but then each subject deserves a

         15  great deal of testimony.  David Galarza and Gena

         16  Arist and Vernon Verdree.  Are those people here

         17  still?  How about Gregory Perry. We are trying to

         18  get a panel of three.  Gregory are you here?  Okay,

         19  that's one more.  Okay.  Sir, while you are sitting

         20  there why don't you identify yourself and begin.

         21  You will be joined by two other people.

         22                 MR. GALARZA: My name is David Galarza

         23  and I'm on Justice Committee.  I dedicate this

         24  testimony to my mentor, the late Richard Perez, Co-

         25  Founder of the Justice Committee, Sean Bell, and the
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          2  numerous victims of police brutality still awaiting

          3  and demanding justice from the City.

          4                 Richard, as some of you know, was a

          5  long- time activist who was responsible for

          6  organizing efforts against police brutality, which

          7  would only lead to violence.  Richard was also lead

          8  plaintiff in a lawsuit in abolishing the NYPDs

          9  notorious Street Crimes Unit.  He was the founder of

         10  a coalition forum to mobilize support in the trials

         11  of the police officers who killed Amadou Diallo and

         12  tortured Abner Louima.

         13                 A few days ago when President Bush's

         14  decision in defending President Bush's decision to

         15  add troops in Iraq, former Mayor Giuliani said on

         16  Fox news that "it reminds me a little of the problem

         17  that I face when reducing crime in New York. If I

         18  had kept the police department at a lower level

         19  policing, we never could have accomplished the

         20  City's crime reduction."

         21                 In addressing that problem to

         22  Giuliani and now Mayor Bloomberg, I failed to

         23  realize that the hallmark of a democracy, one that

         24  addresses social problems, it is equally concerned

         25  with safeguarding civil and human rights.  That is
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          2  what distinguishes it from totalitarian society.  It

          3  has often been said   "Musolini made the trains run

          4  on time."

          5                 About ten years ago, Richard

          6  testified before the Congressional Select Committee

          7  of the Judiciary on the police brutality and

          8  misconduct.  I will draw liberally from some of this

          9  testimony, unfortunately so many of the points he

         10  made then are still today.  It's too bad that the

         11  people of this City only allowed a few minutes to

         12  judge that case of police abuse.

         13                 I will also draw from the

         14  investigative columns of Levit (phonetic), a

         15  courageous woman, used a police reporter, that

         16  Commissioner Kelly has unsuccessfully tried to

         17  silence and has even barred from One Police Plaza.

         18  His NYPD confidential.com website is a must read for

         19  anyone wanting the element of truth that Kelly,

         20  doesn't want the public and even his own police

         21  officers to know. There are thousands of cases of

         22  harassment, unnecessary use of force and the casual

         23  use of racial slurs and only a small number of these

         24  are reported.  As a matter of fact violations are so

         25  frequent that lawyers won't even deal with them,
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          2  unless there is serious physical injury.

          3                 Enviably the violations of civil

          4  human rights being experienced daily by people of

          5  color will also be fought in the larger community,

          6  like the drug plague and aids didn't become used

          7  until it spread to White communities.  Richard once

          8  told a group of protesting murder right, a young

          9  Haitian immigrant, January 2002, "We are not

         10  fighting a few local policemen, we are fighting the

         11  system. In trial the Criminal Justice System is

         12  rotten. In deed, after offering example after

         13  example of murders by police officers, and the

         14  brutality," which he said, "The Blue wall of silence

         15  is not just silence, but a whole web of agreed upon

         16  lies."

         17                 Today, on behalf of the Justice

         18  Committee, on behalf of the victims of police

         19  brutality, the past and present, we call on Mayor

         20  Bloomberg, Commissioner Kelly and all the District

         21  Attorneys to stop the lies.  You normally lie

         22  because the truth hurts and in fact we have seen

         23  that it can kill you.  Lies like the police

         24  testimony that permeated criminal trial of Frances

         25  LaVotie (phonetic) that killed Anthony Bias with an
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          2  illegal choke- hold causing in that case to denounce

          3  two officers, calling it a perjury. LaVotie was

          4  finally convicted for violating Bias' civil rights.

          5                 I have another page here of

          6  testimony.  Bias, like the mysterious Black men who

          7  carry guns, as in the Sean Bell case, where they

          8  materialize out of cops like LaVotie with illegal

          9  choke holds.  Bias, like the former Police Academy

         10  trainer who went to great lengths to defend a police

         11  officer who killed Amadou Diallo, lies about the

         12  dismantling of specialized units like the Street

         13  Crimes Unit only to discover that the architects of

         14  such death squads like Chief Bosmoka (phonetic), are

         15  promoted to positions where even more people can

         16  systematically have their right to violate it.

         17  Sure, he is retiring, but will continue to pay for

         18  years of disservice and disrespect. Lies independent

         19  effect the CCRB, their reports more money, but Kelly

         20  repeatedly ignores it. He wouldn't even allow CCRB

         21  investigators to punish high- ranking police

         22  officials, even though he has clearly violated the

         23  law and City Charter.  And the Police Commissions

         24  that combat police corruption is a joke.  A former

         25  Federal Prosecutor who ran it couldn't get Kelly to
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          2  release department statistics to determine whether

          3  the NYPD was fallen to misdemeanors to create

          4  misleading crime data.

          5                 The initial police brutality Ms.

          6  Campi (phonetic) examined in a vacuum, today is

          7  mobilization and deindustriation. With profound

          8  treatments to the U.S, we have seen economy to come

          9  up with jobs for all who want them. We watch as the

         10  youth of our communities are locked out of the loose

         11  economy.  The only program America seems willing to

         12  invest in for young people is expansion prison

         13  spending.  We see our youth become the raw material

         14  that these prisons process, while whole up- state

         15  communities thrive on prison related industries.

         16  Indeed, the prison industry is one of the fastest

         17  growing and most profitable in this country.

         18                 The police strategy Mayor Giuliani

         19  developed and is still raving about is not being

         20  predicted oversees.  Isolation from our

         21  disinvestment in education, jobs and developmental

         22  supportive programs.  This is how the poor

         23  subordinated communities that have been locked out

         24  of the economy see policing.  Some will change to

         25  government disinvestment in our youth and economic
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          2  marginalization will believe the true purpose is to

          3  intimidate our communities into silence about a

          4  direction the nation has taken, about our being

          5  locked up, blocked out of this economy, to put us on

          6  the defensive and to lower expectations.

          7                 Today families consider themselves

          8  lucky if there children grow up without being

          9  arrested and killed.  Many inner City youth consider

         10  it a right- of- passage to go to jail.  They expect

         11  to be arrested and jailed.  This is a crime that has

         12  been committed against us, the lowering of our

         13  expectations that take away hope from young people,

         14  systematic police brutality, institutionalized are a

         15  part of this crime.

         16                 The conclusion, we also call for

         17  anti- crime programs and task force units to violate

         18  continually the human rights of people of color at

         19  will and call the Mayor to fire and hopefully seen

         20  by more people this afternoon.  To fire New York

         21  City Police Department, Police Commissioner Ray

         22  Kelly and Chief Anthony Izzo.  A message must be

         23  sent to the leadership of NYPD, that the leadership

         24  of the NYPD will be held accountable and responsible

         25  for all police misconduct, especially murder.
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          2                 We also call for the independent

          3  investigation of past police killings and abuses. If

          4  they can arrest Black Panthers today for allegedly

          5  killing cops some 30 years ago, surely they can

          6  arrest and convict Color cops today.  We are also

          7  calling for and independent body to investigate the

          8   --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Excuse me

         10                 MR. GALARZA: -- Killings of Sean Bell

         11   --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Excuse me, you

         13  are well over 15 minutes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm finished,

         15  thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Please try to

         17  stay within the two minutes so we can get to

         18  everybody.  Thank you.

         19                 MR. PERRY:  Good afternoon, my name

         20  is Gregory Perry.  I am a member of the Black Mens

         21  Movement, formerly the Black Mens Movement Against

         22  Crack.  I appreciate the opportunity to speak here

         23  it is a shame that the police officers that are

         24  really responsible for acts of racial profiling and

         25  murders and death squads and terrorizing the Black
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          2  community, had to leave.

          3                 Racial profiling has existed in the

          4  United States since Africans were brought here and

          5  made slaves.  Then as now, profiling is used to keep

          6  Black people in check.  To let us know that the

          7  system of oppression is boss.  The police force is

          8  the biggest gang in the Black community.  The Bloods

          9  and Cripps do not produce guns or drugs and they

         10  certainly are not the ones that make sure that these

         11  weapons flood our communities.

         12                 The police force is the first line of

         13  offense of the states military apparatus and is an

         14  occupying terrorist force in the Black community.

         15  They are in our communities to produce snitches,

         16  obtain fingerprints, now DNA samples, to criminalize

         17  primarily Black men by letting guns and drugs flow

         18  and then come in and sweep up our brothers and

         19  sisters by any means necessary.

         20                 Indeed, the police are here to

         21  criminalize as many of us as possible so that we

         22  will never again challenge the state for our

         23  reparations and sovereignty and as a Black nation in

         24  America.  You remember Marcus Garvey, Harriet

         25  Tubman, Martin Luther King, Malcolm X, The Black
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          2  Panther Party and the Black Liberation Army; they

          3  all existed to respond to this ongoing attack from

          4  the state.

          5                 Kelly is here to continue this

          6  program of attack. CIA Kelly, training Haitian

          7  police to brutalize and terrorize a sovereign nation

          8  of people.  A nations foreign policy is closely

          9  related to its national policy.

         10                 As a member of the black Mens

         11  Movement against crack we were attempting to close

         12  the crack house. Immediately we came under

         13  surveillance from the police.  Every time that we

         14  hit the streets they would follow us.  As we became

         15  familiar with more of our people they began to tell

         16  us about the 77th precinct officers allowing the

         17  crack dealers to exist and taking payoffs from them.

         18  We would rally in front of the 77th precinct, close

         19  the crack house, 77th precinct under- cover crack

         20  house.  Months later the big scandal broke

         21  confirming what we already knew.

         22                 Larry Davis got some of his guns from

         23  the police and had a good relationship with them

         24  until he tried to get out of the game.  The police

         25  came to kill him but he fought back.  Noriega and
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          2  Saddam also tried to get out.  When you play with

          3  true terrorists, the game is for keeps.

          4                 The police are trained

          5  psychologically by a racist country first, that

          6  pushes all manor of stereotype in the media about

          7  Black people, then purposely miseducate in schools

          8  to believe that the civilization began with the

          9  White man.  Forget that Egypt, Timbuktu, Ghana are

         10  all in Africa and Africans were in charge. These

         11  miseducated people are then put into a racist police

         12  department, which formats the racist ideology and

         13  released into the Black communities where most of

         14  the White police officers do not live.  Knowing that

         15  they will be protected when they profile, abuse

         16  physically, psychologically or just kill us, they

         17  terrorize our communities.  A Black officer comes

         18  through the same regimen but will not shoot 31 times

         19  because it is still his community, so he will shoot

         20  three times to show that he is down dirty with the

         21  plan.

         22                 The police profile us, criminalize us

         23  so they can come and arrest large numbers of our

         24  brothers and sisters at will, so that they may call

         25  for more and more police for our communities and
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          2  bigger more powerful guns to keep us in check.  Yes

          3  its Kelly's turn now to keep the masses of Black

          4  people terrorized.  But this is bigot in code.

          5                 So I say to my Black City Council

          6  representatives, its your job to protect us, not

          7  your pay checks.  We need more Charles Barrons.  He

          8  does his duty as a human being and in a country like

          9  this, a Black man first.  We put you in office to

         10  fight for us.  Do your job.  I don't expect White

         11  people to do it for us.

         12                 Recently, we have had speak- outs in

         13  the community for our people to make note to tell us

         14  about what the police have been doing in our

         15  communities.  An interesting thing, one of the

         16  interesting facts about these speak- outs --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Can you sum up.

         18                 MR. PERRY: Yes. People are between

         19  the ages of say 40 and 70 years old, so the police

         20  are just not going after young people.  And these

         21  old people are coming out with basically the same

         22  thing. Why me? I've never committed a crime.  Police

         23  overkill you know.

         24                 So, let's revise the history books to

         25  tell the truth.  Stop miseducating our people.  Stop
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          2  racial profiling. Kelly must go. Izzo must go.  The

          3  state is afraid of us because they stole us, they

          4  sold us and they owe us.  Reparations now.

          5  Reparations for Shawn Bell and the others.  Free

          6  education and health care for Black people.  You

          7  stole much from us and we want it back.

          8                 We want to begin filming police

          9  activity in our streets.  We know that this is legal

         10  but we want a resolution from the City Council

         11  saying so to be given to Kelly and his gang.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 MR. VERDREE: Good afternoon.  I am

         14  Vernon Verdree from the December 12th Movement.  My

         15  testimony is going to be short and to the point, but

         16  before I start I want to make the same observations

         17  that was previously alluded to. All those police

         18  officers and officials that were here earlier, they

         19  should be here now listening to the people.  And

         20  also to Co- Chair alone, you should take the advice

         21  of your Co- Chair and learn to listen also. Because

         22  if you don't listen now, you are going to have to

         23  listen to the people later.

         24                 So, the NYPD is supposed to be about

         25  courtesy, respect and professionalism?  In the Black
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          2  and Latino communities of the City the NYPD is out

          3  of control.  There exists a racist and fascist

          4  culture within the NYPD, especially when it comes to

          5  its dealings within the Black community.  The NYPD

          6  operates inside the Black community as a

          7  sophisticated organized gang, intimidating and

          8  terrorizing the community.  This policy of how to

          9   "police" the Black community comes from the top

         10  level of the chain of command, starting at One

         11  Police Plaza, led by Police Commissioner Ray Kelly.

         12  This policy is carried out by the members of the

         13  NYPD, in the way they systematically harass,

         14  profile, and criminalize the Black community. That's

         15  how they are trained. They show no respect to the

         16  people in the Black community.  Enough.  The

         17  architect of this policy, Police Commissioner Ray

         18  Kelly, must be held accountable. Ray Kelly must go.

         19                 If Rumsfeld can be let go for the

         20  failed policy in Iraq. Kelly must go.  If the CEO of

         21  a billionaire's Fortune 500 company can be let go

         22  for lost earnings, Kelly must go.  He must be held

         23  accountable for the lack of training, improper

         24  training and racist and disrespectful nature in

         25  which the NYPD deals with the Black community.  No
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          2  more apologies for the killing of Sean Bell. No more

          3  apologies for the killing of Timothy Stansbury.  Ray

          4  Kelly must go.

          5                 He must be held accountable for his

          6  policy and the actions of his subordinates.  Ray

          7  Kelly and Anthony Izzo should be testifying under

          8  oath at this hearing to explain their actions to the

          9  community. Ray Kelly must go.  Anthony Izzo must go.

         10                 We say, resist the rise of fascism

         11  and the police state in New York City.

         12                 CHAIRMAN SEABROOK: Thank you.  The

         13  next panel will be Joseph Garber, Kathy Casey, and

         14  Anthony Blount.  We're missing someone, so we will

         15  call Dora Berksteiner.  If, she's not here, we will

         16  call Lillian Rivera, Scott Caplan.  Why don't we

         17  bring up Roger Wareham also.

         18                 Mr. Garber, welcome.

         19                 MR. GARBER: Good afternoon Chair

         20  Seabrook, Chair Vallone, Council Members Jackson,

         21  Comrie, Counsel Staff and Sergeant- at- Arms.  My

         22  name is Joseph Garber.  I am here this afternoon

         23  wearing three hats or in my case umiaks (phonetic).

         24  First let me say I need more than three minutes, I'm

         25  a quick reader.  Okay?
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          2                 I was listening this afternoon to the

          3  testimony.  I am here today as the Executive Vice

          4  President of the Citizens Police Academy Alumni

          5  Association, a Member of Police Service Area number

          6  three, Resident Police Council and a Past Executive

          7  Officer of that group and also, the Corresponding

          8  Secretary of the Civil Service Borough Council.

          9                 My testimony today will not be

         10  necessarily a reflection of the views, either pro or

         11  con of those organizations, but in some cases it

         12  will be taking this on a different vantage point of

         13  what I heard this afternoon.  I listened inventively

         14  to the testimony.  I read at least two papers.  This

         15  is an excellent briefing paper, but I would like to

         16  just echo some remarks.  On page two, I agree, there

         17  has to be a partnership with the community.  The

         18  police department can operate itself without the

         19  partnership of the community. A good partnership

         20  existed before April, 1995 with the New York Housing

         21  Department Police Department, that was founded on

         22  December 15, 1952.  Unfortunately, since the merger,

         23  and I agree with Council Member Mark Viverito's

         24  remark that we need another Hearing on the merger or

         25  Housing Bureau Policing from different vantage
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          2  points.  It is not the same Housing Authority Police

          3  that I grew up with as a little kid, but made me

          4  interested in police work and City government.

          5  There are some minor errors on pages four and five.

          6  Forensic Investigation and Special Investigation

          7  should be plural on page five, it's the part under

          8  investigation squad.

          9                 Okay, I want to read and rebut

         10  Council Woman Foster who stated that "no white

         11  individuals were ever killed by police." I'd like to

         12  call to her attention a case that occurred maybe ten

         13  years ago with the 66 precinct, when a gentlemen by

         14  the name of Gideon Bausch (phonetic) was slain by a

         15  uniformed police officer. In fact I remember that

         16  even Reverend Sharpton even came to hold a protest.

         17                 Okay, on page 13 of this document,

         18  all members of the service should read all uniform

         19  members of the service. Because it specifically

         20  relative to uniformed members of the service, not

         21  members of the service in general, which would also

         22  include civilian members of the service.  For the

         23  record, what we state, Assistant Chief Gerald

         24  Nelson, who use to patrol Brooklyn north was not

         25  promoted.  He was already a two- star chief, when he
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          2  was in command of the School Safety Division, he was

          3  laterally transferred.  Okay, technically, in a way

          4  he's going from one commander, who was a three- star

          5  chief, Chief Ziegler, to another three- star chief,

          6  Chief Estabilo (phonetic).

          7                 Okay, Council Woman James and

          8  Dickens, with all due respect, I would advise them

          9  that they should read a copy and maybe the Council

         10  should foil this from the NYPD of the organization

         11  guide of the NYPD.  So they should be able to

         12  understand reporting, functions and units.  For

         13  instance, there was testimony here about the

         14  Promotion of U Board, which is technically called

         15  the Promotion Advisory Board.  The Promotion

         16  Advisory Board's specifically discusses what ranks

         17  go before the Board, what type of profiles are used

         18  to identify uniform members of the service who might

         19  be candidates.

         20                 Okay, also the function of the ranks

         21  of each rank in the department, you can look at the

         22  Patrol Guide.  I agree that community policing

         23  should possibly be the role model that we should try

         24  to go back to.

         25                 I have to disagree with Mr.
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          2  Blackburne, he said that both substantiated and

          3  unsubstantiated complaints should be made available

          4  at the local precincts.  I question number one, an

          5  unsubstantiated complaint may or may not be

          6  permissible to be made available, but however, it

          7  should not be in the local precinct.  If you go into

          8  the local precinct and say you want to look at

          9  civilian complaints this might cause another

         10  complaint to occur in a local precinct.  So that's a

         11  bad venue.  If the Council agrees its a good way,

         12  that the people should see the complaints, it should

         13  not be at the local precinct, it could possibly be

         14  at IAB or at 40 Rector Street of CCRB.

         15                 Okay, I told you that I believe they

         16  both should read the organization guide.  Okay, now,

         17  there was a mention by Commissioner Kelly about

         18  diversity in the police department.  I agree

         19  diversity is very important.  But I would like to

         20  highlight that there is a lack of diversity as far

         21  as uniform members of the service of the Jewish

         22  Faith.  Years ago, there were almost three thousand.

         23    There is a sizable number of Jews living in New

         24  York City still and the amount of uniform members of

         25  the service I believe is a couple of hundred.  There
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          2  is no direct impact to go out to Jewish communities

          3  to recruit.  In fact if you look at the upper ranks

          4  of the department, and I want to cite this for the

          5  record.  There is no Jewish two- star chief.  There

          6  are presently two Jewish one- star chiefs who were

          7  just promoted in the year 2006. Between them and

          8  Chief Jaffe (phonetic) who is Jewish, there is no

          9  two- star chief.

         10                 So for the record I want to say this.

         11    In Commissioner Kelly's testimony, he discusses

         12  about the concept of community affairs, on page

         13  nine, having to reach out to people. Let me say this

         14  honestly and frankly, I don't believe that Chief

         15  Ziegler has done the best job of reaching out to all

         16  communities. Two jobs prior to his current job he

         17  was Chief of the Housing Bureau.  At that time I was

         18  an Executive Board Member of Police Service Area

         19  Number Three.  I reach out to him on a sensitive

         20  area and he did not contact me.  I am very glad

         21  Commissioner Kelly mentioned the concept of the

         22  Citizens Police Academy Alumni Association.  I

         23  joined that group in 1994, upon graduation of the

         24  Citizens Police Academy.  I was nominated by the

         25  Housing Authority Police Department.  Unfortunately,
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          2  unfortunately and unfortunately I was not given

          3  enhanced responsibilities both in the --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK:  Mr. Garber,

          5  you have to finish up.  I want to be fair to

          6  everybody.

          7                 MR. GARBER: All right.  In fact the

          8  last four years when I was the Brooklyn North Vice

          9  President of the Citizens Police Academy, Chief

         10  Cannean (phonetic) never called me out for a

         11  critical incident.  All right, this is quite an

         12  issue.  Now, I want to discuss about what they said

         13  about hiring police officers. Years ago when I was

         14  assigned to patrol Borough of Brooklyn North as a

         15  staff analyst, it came to my attention that a PAA,

         16  who worked in patrol Borough Brooklyn North wanted

         17  to become a police officer. She was a very bad

         18  person.  She use to come late, she use to drink. I

         19  wrote a 49 to the applicant processing division to

         20  tell them that they should not hire her.  When Chief

         21  Taylor, the Patrol Borough Commander, Brooklyn North

         22  found out he made me scape- goat why did I do it.

         23  So, I don't think we are screening people properly

         24  okay. That is one thing I am going to say.

         25                 I wish I had more time, but can you
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          2  tell me when are the City- wide, I just heard that

          3  there are nine City- wide meetings. I didn't know

          4  anything about it.  Can somebody from the Council

          5  Committee please give me a list.

          6                 And I only want to say one more

          7  thing.  I agree with Commissioner Kelly.  The race

          8  of a Commanding Officer should not be a factor

          9  because you can have bad commanders of all races.

         10  Years ago in PSA three, we had a Black cop by the

         11  name of Samuel Williams.  PSA three is 99 percent

         12  residents of color that live in those developments.

         13  They couldn't stand him.  I couldn't stand him.  I

         14  had to make two civilian complaints about him.  So I

         15  agree with Commissioner Kelly.  Just because

         16  somebody is black, brown, blue or green, if they

         17  don't know how to lead, if they don't have common

         18  sense, if they don't have CPR, and this is a

         19  Captain, it's not working.

         20                 So, again, I had a few more notes to

         21  say.  I listen to this testimony very succinctly.  I

         22  just want to say this --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK:  Mr. Garber,

         24  you've got to end now.

         25                 MR. GARBER: Okay, one more point.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Mr. Garber.

          3  There are more people to speak.

          4                 MR. GARBER: I just want to say, --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Mr. Garber.

          6                 MR. GARBER: The concept of racial

          7  profiling. Commissioner Safir said years ago. The

          8  police do not make up the identity, it's the victims

          9  who give the identity of the perpetrator.  So we

         10  have to keep this in perspective.  Old times when I

         11  was mugged, I must have been mugged, eight, nine

         12  times in my life.  So, for all the perpetrators were

         13  persons of color.  So, I'm not going to say a white

         14  person did, if a white person didn't do it.  The

         15  same if a resident of the 73 is mugged by an African

         16  American male, they will say an African- American

         17  male. So we have to watch.  To say that racial

         18  profiling is, racial profiling when it isn't racial

         19  profiling, it will not give persons of color who

         20  live in high crime precincts the proper protection.

         21  And I'm concerned with that balance.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you.

         23  Let's go with Ms. Casey next.

         24                 MS. CASEY: Good afternoon, my name is

         25  Kathy Casey. I hope I'm not talking too loudly as
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          2  some of the people were.  Is this a good volume?  I

          3  testified at Harlem Hospital last night.

          4  Fortunately, in a sense I have an important story to

          5  tell that happens to be very relevant to the narrow

          6  focus of this Hearing, which is need for better

          7  training of our undercover police officers.

          8                 This occurrence to which I refer took

          9  place in the small hours of February 13 to 14, 1997

         10  on Broadway, near City College.  I haven't eaten all

         11  day and since I'm not going to get much more than

         12  two minutes, I will give copies of my testimony to

         13  those City Council Members who I respect, as soon as

         14  I can get photo copies made.

         15                 I would like to testify about the

         16  1997 incident to the mass media.  Chairperson

         17  Vallone you have shown contempt, not courtesy,

         18  professionalism, or respect to witnesses here today,

         19  including the grieving mother of the murdered

         20  Timothy Stansbury. My contempt for you has grown by

         21  leaps and bounds today.  I don't want to insult your

         22  mother or even your father, so I'll just ask what

         23  court house wall you were spawned on.  I'll be happy

         24  to see you outside.  You can decide for yourself

         25  whether that's a threat.
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN: My name is Scott Caplan.

          3  I am appearing entirely as a private individual.

          4  First of all I note that a number of Council

          5  Members, including the Speaker at the outset voice

          6  there, their almost unqualified support for the

          7  Police Commissioner and I would respectfully submit

          8  that if you are concerned about issues and the

          9  principle of accountability, then it is

         10  inappropriate to prejudge the Commissioner before

         11  you even concluded all of these Hearings.

         12                 I note that the Mollen Commission in

         13  1992 issued a report criticizing the police

         14  department for tolerating police brutality and

         15  unnecessary use of force.  What has changed since

         16  1992?  One thing that hasn't changed is the command

         17  of the NYPD.

         18                 One of the subjects that was the

         19  subject of extensive testimony today, was the

         20  question of promotions and the shooting of Amadou

         21  Diallo.  Diallo was also the subject of testimony

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That was the

         23  last witness, so you have more time.

         24                 MR. CAPLAN: Thank you.  But I point

         25  out that the Streets Crimes Unit was disbanded as a
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          2  result of that shooting. Nonetheless, what happened

          3  to the head of the Street Crimes Unit, he ended up

          4  in command of Manhattan South, where he ended up

          5  overseeing illegal arrests during the Republican

          6  National Convention, for which the police department

          7  is paying out settlements even today. But the Police

          8  Commissioner refuses to acknowledge any mistakes in

          9  that episode.

         10                 He also oversaw the operation of the

         11  police department during critical mass bicycle

         12  rides.  I also note that the Police Commissioner

         13  pledged and indicated that he cooperates with CCRB.

         14  But when CCRB issued a report criticizing the police

         15  department handling of the RNC arrests, what

         16  happened, the Police Commissioner immediately

         17  condemned the report and said the police CCRB was

         18  under the influence of first amendment activists.

         19                 The Commissioner also expressed his

         20  sympathy to the family of Sean Bell, but the

         21  Commissioner did not explain why the police

         22  department deemed it necessary to investigate Mr.

         23  Bell's family and friends, notwithstanding the fact

         24  that the District Attorney was conducting its own

         25  investigation.
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          2                 Finally, I note with respect to the

          3  question of undercovers, I respectfully ask your

          4  Committee to look at the use of undercovers at

          5  demonstrations. There were excessive undercovers

          6  during the RNC protests and I point out, that

          7  affected persons of all colors, not just African-

          8  Americans.

          9                 Also, I ask you to look into the use

         10  of unmarked cars to chase after critical mass

         11  bicycle rides.  There is a question of

         12  accountability and there is a question about the

         13  policies of this Commissioner.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 MR. WAREHAM:  Good afternoon.  My

         16  name is Roger Wareham.  I am a human rights

         17  attorney, a member of the December 12th Movement and

         18  the International Secretary General of the

         19  International Association Against Torture, a non-

         20  governmental organization in consultative status

         21  with the United Nations.

         22                 I am here today to address the

         23   "practices" of a police department, which is out of

         24  control. Off the hook, as they say in the street.  A

         25  police department which is operating as the largest
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          2  organized gang in the United States, wearing its own

          3  colors, having its own secret code of honor, packing

          4  lethal and legal weapons, and most importantly

          5  carrying impunity from both the criminal justice

          6  system and the political establishment in its back

          7  pocket.

          8                 It is a police department which is

          9  infected no matter what the Commissioner Kelly may

         10  say, from top to bottom by a racist culture and

         11  policy which condone behavior in Black and Latino

         12  communities, which you would not even think of doing

         13  in White communities.

         14                 It is bad enough that the police

         15  department is guilty of the litany of horrors, which

         16  the City Council is well aware of.  They now not

         17  only want to enforce the law, that which is on the

         18  books, as well as the unwritten ones they impose in

         19  the streets.  They also want to make the law.

         20                 The NYPD is now leading the attack on

         21  the First Amendment's guarantees of freedom of

         22  speech and assembly.  This past November, the NYPD

         23  proposed to change the law regarding parades in New

         24  York City.  Any gathering of 10 or more people who

         25  moves two blocks, even on the sidewalk, would need a
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          2  parade permit as would 30 or more bicyclists.  Their

          3  original proposal which was beat back earlier last

          4  year would have applied to two people.  The NYPD has

          5  no trepidation nor hesitation about encroaching on

          6  the province of this City Council.

          7                 But this is not a new offensive.  At

          8  the first Million Youth March in Harlem in 1998, the

          9  NYPD began the use of interlocking steel barriers to

         10  corral Black people who had assembled for a peaceful

         11  rally.  It was no accident that what is now standard

         12  NYPD crowd control was first used against the Black

         13  community.  Of course, the NYPD estimated correctly

         14  that the general public would not be outraged at the

         15  detention of Black people in de facto slave pens.

         16                 Nine- one- one and Homeland Security

         17  interests provide the newest rationale for the

         18  increasing infringement on our right to protest and

         19  the concomitant militarization of our communities.

         20  Minor incidents now give rise to major

         21  mobilizations.  Last June 10th, a police car ran a

         22  red light in Bedford- Stuyvesant and hit a car with

         23  two Black passengers in it so hard that the car was

         24  knocked onto the sidewalk against the side of a

         25  bodega.  The EMS came, ignored the bloodied
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          2  civilians trapped in their car, and immediately

          3  moved to treat the White police officers although

          4  they were not injured.  When the community voiced

          5  its anger with what was happening, the police

          6  effected a Level One deployment, canines, shotguns

          7  and helicopters.  Eight innocent civilians were

          8  beaten and arrested, one suffered a shattered

          9  clavicle.

         10                 This past September, while ostensibly

         11  investigating reports of shots fired, the police on

         12  President Street in Crown Heights arrested seven

         13  people, including five from one family, who were

         14  guilty of watching the police hold down at gunpoint

         15  three unarmed Black teenagers from their block and

         16  telling them that they knew the young men.  Two of

         17  those seven were arrested when they went to the

         18  Precinct to bring clothes to the mother who had been

         19  taken out of her house shoeless, in her bathrobe and

         20  underwear, and to file a complaint against the

         21  Sergeant who had provoked and effected their

         22  unwarranted arrests.  One of the witnesses said the

         23  degree of police over- response looked like a

         24  training exercise.

         25                 What are now acceptable police
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          2  tactics gradually and sometimes quickly (as in the

          3  NYPD Parade permit proposal), either way at what

          4  remains of the Bill of Rights.  This increasingly

          5  unchecked police power is fascist in form and

          6  essence.

          7                 Finally, the proposal to pay half a

          8  million dollars to the RAND Corporation to address

          9  training is a three card monte diversion. This is

         10  the same card the NYPD always plays following a

         11  horrific incident which outrages the community.

         12  After the police shot Luis Baez, a young,

         13  emotionally disturbed Brooklyn man 24 times in 1979.

         14                 The NYPD set up a special unit to

         15  deal with emotionally disturbed persons.  Five years

         16  later, this specially trained unit, equipped with

         17  riot gear, a six foot "Y" bar and mace, shot Eleanor

         18  Bumpers twice with a shotgun.  They said they felt

         19  threatened by a 62 year old overweight Black

         20  grandmother who waved a kitchen knife in their

         21  direction after they used a battering ram to break

         22  into her apartment because she was a month behind in

         23  her rent.

         24                 So the RAND proposal is just the same

         25  game with a different name at taxpayers expense.
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          2                 Finally, the conclusion.  The

          3  question today is what are you, the City Council,

          4  going to do? One, you must unequivocally tell the

          5  NYPD to mind its own business.  Law making is not

          6  its gig.

          7                 You must help make the NYPD

          8  accountable.  The Police Commissioner, the commander

          9  of this ship, must be brought back, by subpoena, if

         10  necessary, to testify under oath as to the policies

         11  underlying the terrorism inflicted on our community

         12  by those under his command.

         13                 Deputy Inspector Anthony Izzo, who is

         14  sitting up here also, must be brought to account,

         15  under oath.  Alberta Spruill (Harlem, 2003), Ousmane

         16  Zongo (Manhattan, 2003), Timothy Stansbury, Jr.

         17  (Bed- Stuy, 2004), Sean Bell (Queens, 2006), Timur

         18  Person (Bronx, 2006).  These are just a few of the

         19  reasons why Kelly must go.  This City Council, I

         20  know how much it would hurt you, must join in the

         21  demand of the communities it represents for the

         22  resignation of Police Commissioner Kelly.  Thank

         23  you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Just one

         25  question, Roger raised the issue in reference to
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          2  some of the accountability and the law that needs to

          3  be dealt with.  Perhaps you can provide us with some

          4  of the recommendations that we need to look at to

          5  deal with if possible.

          6                 MR. WAREHAM: Well, I will submit some

          7  other ones later in writing, but I will also join

          8  into the recommendations that the sister who worked

          9  with the police department, I thought   those were

         10  very concrete based upon her experience.  But I

         11  think its the responsibility of the Council to

         12  address the issue of the culture in policy, the

         13  police department, which they wanted to dance around

         14  this morning.  So to say that because a Black

         15  officer fired a shot, didn't make it racist, is just

         16  total fabrication. And they are in denial.  And as

         17  long as they are in denial they are not going to

         18  address the issues.  It's a racist policy, it's a

         19  racist culture and everyone who gets in it gets

         20  caught up, gets infected by it and carries it out.

         21  And those that don't get carried out get isolated.

         22                 You have the capacity to bring them

         23  in here and make them deal with it and to expose

         24  what it is and then we will get some really concrete

         25  results.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK:  Thank you very

          3  much and thanks for your testimony.  There will be

          4  three other Hearings that will be taking place and a

          5  number of speak- outs.  Thank you very much.

          6                 MR. WAREHAM: May I just say this.  I

          7  hope the Hearings would be scheduled after 4:00 or

          8  5:00 O'clock so that the majority of people who work

          9  in the City can attend them.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And there will

         11  be speak-outs that will be also in the evening as

         12  well.  We will make sure that we can accommodate as

         13  best we can in terms of in the evening. Thank you

         14  all for coming.

         15                 (Hearing concluded at 4:39 p.m.)

         16                 (The following written testimony was

         17  read into the record.)

         18

         19  ASSEMBLYMAN KEITH L.T. WRIGHT

         20  THE ASSEMBLY

         21  STATE OF NEW YORK, ALBANY

         22

         23       Thank you, Chairmen Seabrook and Vallone and

         24  honorable members of the New York City Council

         25  Public Safety and Civil Rights Committees for
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          2  allowing me to present my testimony regarding

          3  undercover and specialized operations training in

          4  the New York City Police Department.

          5                 Undercover officers serve a necessary

          6  function in the New York City Police Department,

          7  preserving the peace and enforcing the law where

          8  uniformed officers cannot.  Unfortunately for the

          9  communities in which they serve, they can become a

         10  dangerous population when they do not follow

         11  official NYPD procedures.  In the cases of Patrick

         12  Dorismond, Amadou Diallo, Timothy Stansbury and now,

         13  in all probability, Sean Bell, New York City police

         14  officers deviated from official protocol and their

         15  actions resulted in unwarranted death.

         16                 Official New York City Police

         17  Department protocol calls for an officer to not fire

         18  their service weapon into a car, unless there is

         19  another life- threatening weapon involved.  Official

         20  police protocol calls for all officers to identify

         21  themselves before attempting arrest.  Official

         22  police protocol calls for all officers, when

         23  employing deadly force, to fire then pause, then

         24  resume firing if the subject is not incapacitated.

         25  Official police protocol bans police officers from
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          2  brandishing a firearm if intoxicated.  In every

          3  single police shooting where the subject was

          4  unarmed, the officers did not follow police

          5  protocols and procedures, nor did they suffer

          6  consequences for failing to do so. This is

          7  unacceptable and raises the question, are these

          8  protocols even being taught to prospective

          9  undercover officers?

         10                 If the NYPD cannot prevent these

         11  occurrences from happening again and again, if the

         12  courts system allows officers to go unpunished, we

         13  should not delude ourselves with the notion that the

         14  situation will change in the future.  Even if the

         15  Mayor's commission of the RAND Corporation study

         16  does indeed find inherent problems and makes

         17  qualified recommendations as to the use of deadly

         18  force by the NYPD, all will be useless if individual

         19  officers continuously choose not to follow protocol.

         20    New York City and State must take definitive and

         21  substantive action against cases of police

         22  misconduct.

         23                 We must require training of police

         24  officers which corresponds with the aforementioned

         25  protocols, we must require drug and alcohol testing
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          2  for all officers subsequent to the use of deadly

          3  force and we must authorize the State Attorney

          4  General to investigate charges of police misconduct

          5  and break through the Blue Wall of Silence tolerated

          6  by some District Attorneys.  I have introduced

          7  legislation in the State Assembly which will

          8  effectuate the latter two of these three

          9  requirements  For the safety of our children and our

         10  communities, it is imperative that we create a fail-

         11  proof structure for the enforcement of existing

         12  rules before we add more to be dutifully followed by

         13  our honorable NYPD.

         14

         15  TESTIMONY READ INTO THE RECORD:

         16  RABBI DAVID NIEDERMAN

         17  PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED JEWISH

         18  ORGANIZATIONS OF WILLIAMSBURG.

         19

         20                 First, on behalf of the Jewish

         21  community in Williamsburg and its surrounding

         22  neighborhoods, please allow me to express our

         23  sympathies and condolence to the family of Shawn

         24  Bell. Hopefully we will all learn from this horrible

         25  tragedy and ensure that no other loved ones will
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          2  ever have to suffer like this.

          3                 Williamsburg and its immediate

          4  surrounding neighborhoods are home to more than

          5  70,000 Hasidic Jewish people and of course tens of

          6  thousands community members of different religions

          7  and ethnicities.  All residents have their special

          8  needs and aspirations.  Our particular religious

          9  needs are different from other residents within the

         10  same precinct and even within our own communities

         11  there are complex issues that at times involves the

         12  participation of the NYPD.

         13                 We are blessed with an exceptional

         14  Commissioner and very nice and able Precinct

         15  Commander and Community Affairs officers that are

         16  part and parcel of our greater community. They

         17  handle all issues with the appropriate sensitivity.

         18  They participate and contribute at our joyous events

         19  such as weddings, Torah precessions and religious

         20  festivals and also at sad events such as funerals.

         21                 From time to time when concerns are

         22  raised regarding the specific conduct of an officer

         23  or officers, there is always a listening ear trying

         24  to respond and to rectify the situations.

         25                 We feel safe with NYPD at our midst
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          2  and we fully support them.  We look forward to

          3  working with them, at the precinct level and at

          4  headquarters for many years to come.

          5                 Thank you.

          6

          7  READ INTO RECORD:

          8  ILANN MARGALIT MAAZEL

          9  PARTNER

         10  EMERY CELLI BRINCKERHOFF AND ABADY

         11

         12                 Chairman Seabrook, Chairman Vallone,

         13  Members of the Committees on Civil Rights and Public

         14  Safety.

         15                 Good morning.  My name is Ilann

         16  Margalit Maazel and I am a partner at Emery Celli

         17  Brinckerhoff and Abady, a law firm in midtown

         18  Manhattan that specializes in civil rights

         19  litigation.

         20                 We have been involved in literally

         21  hundreds of police misconduct cases, including cases

         22  for false arrest, excessive force and in some cases,

         23  wrongful death.  I would first like to applaud both

         24  committees for holding this Hearing. Police

         25  misconduct has long been and continues to be a
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          2  serious problem in this City.  Regular and

          3  substantial oversight by the City Council is

          4  absolutely necessary to ensure that the New York

          5  Police Department is not only the nation's finest in

          6  fighting crime, but the finest in upholding the law

          7  and the Constitution.

          8                 Sean Bell's death was in some ways

          9  inevitable.  Many of my firm's cases, a surprising

         10  number, have involved undercover or plainclothes

         11  police officers who do not properly identify

         12  themselves to the public, often with tragic results.

         13                 When a stranger on a New York City

         14  street grabs you, or throws you against a wall, or

         15  points a gun at you, the reaction will be panic, or

         16  resistance or some sudden action.  The individuals

         17  in Sean Bell's car apparently had no idea who was

         18  pointing a gun at them.  When attempted to escape,

         19  as many might have done, the officers opened fire

         20  and Sean Bell was killed.

         21                 The Bell case does not stand alone.

         22  Undercover and plainclothes NYPD officers routinely

         23  fail to identify themselves at the time of arrest.

         24  An example: I represented two individuals arrested

         25  near Union Square for marijuana possession.  A group

                                                            325

          1  COMMITTEES ON PUBLIC SAFETY AND CIVIL RIGHTS

          2  of men in street clothes jumped them and threw them

          3  against a building.  My clients, who were gay,

          4  thought they were victims of gay bashing.  One was

          5  so terrorized by the event that he committed

          6  suicide.  The other was acquitted at trial of the

          7  baseless charge. How much less traumatic would the

          8  incident have been had the  plainclothes officers

          9  simply identified themselves as police, ordered the

         10  suspects to put their hands behind their back and

         11  arrested them?

         12                 My firm also handled the Rowley case,

         13  another instance where the police failed to identify

         14  themselves with horrible consequences.  Bob Herbert

         15  wrote a piece about the case in the New York Times a

         16  few weeks ago.  On January 10, 2000, Jason Rowley,

         17  Sheldon Gilbert, Lauren Sudeall and Marie Claire

         18  Lim, four Ivy League graduates who worked together

         19  at an Internet company were in a car in Union

         20  Square.  As the two women were about to exit, a

         21  yellow cab suddenly pulled up in front of Mr.

         22  Rowley's car. A man jumped out of the cab with a gun

         23  pointed straight at Mr. Rowley.  Several other men

         24  came out of the taxi and threatened the four with

         25  guns.  These men were not wearing uniforms, did not
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          2  have any badges to identify themselves and did not

          3  identify themselves as police officers.  No sirens

          4  were blaring, no lights were flashing.  These four

          5  young, law- abiding individuals had no way of

          6  knowing that the assailants were officers of the

          7  NYPD.  Much like in the Bell case, Mr. Rowley and

          8  his friends thought they were being attacked by

          9  criminals.  In an attempt to escape, Mr. Rowley

         10  ducked his head below the windshield, then lurched

         11  the car forward and backward, hitting another

         12  vehicle.  Enraged, one of the officers smashed the

         13  car's driver side window and pulled Mr. Rowley out

         14  through the window.  Officers then beat Mr. Rowley

         15  and Mr. Gilbert.  All four people in the car were

         16  arrested.  Three were quickly released.  Criminal

         17  charges against the fourth were filed, then dropped.

         18                 Because the officers did not identify

         19  themselves prior to pointing a gun at the car, these

         20  four young people feared they were going to be car-

         21  jacked, robbed and/or killed.  Because the officers

         22  did not identify themselves, Mr. Rowley laked the

         23  car in an attempt to escape.  Mr. Rowley and his

         24  friends could easily have been shot and killed, just

         25  like Sean Bell.  But they were lucky.  Instead of

                                                            327

          1  COMMITTEES ON PUBLIC SAFETY AND CIVIL RIGHTS

          2  being killed, two were beaten and all were falsely

          3  arrested.  Since the incident, one of the four has

          4  gone on to clerk for a Justice of the United States

          5  Supreme Court.

          6                 What is to be done?  Plainclothes and

          7  undercover officers must identify themselves before

          8  arresting anyone.  This should be basic police

          9  practice, but it isn't.  Plainclothes officers must

         10  be trained in every case to identify themselves as

         11  police and to display their badges prominently.

         12                 At night, when badges are hard to

         13  see, they should be lit, so they can be seen.  The

         14  clear, immediate self identification of police

         15  benefits both civilians and officers. Civilians are

         16  less likely to be threatened.  They are less likely

         17  to attempt to escape or to fight back.  The stop and

         18  the arrest are much more likely to be controlled

         19  events, not violent confrontations that can so

         20  easily lead to tragedy.

         21                 The Sean Bell incident has many

         22  causes.  There are many ways in which the NYPD could

         23  have prevented his senseless death.  But one of them

         24  was so simple.  Before all else, before pointing a

         25  gun at a civilian, please identify yourself as an
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          2  officer of the New York City Police Department.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 4:39 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 24th day of January 2007.
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                                   ---------------------

         24                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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